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University of Wollongong’s Controlled entities

The Financial Statements of the University of Wollongong’s Controlled Entities are presented here to meet Section 7 (1) (a)(ia) of 
the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 (NSW).

The University of Wollongong 2012 Annual Report is contained in a separate edition and can be viewed on the University’s website 
at: www.uow.edu.au/about/annualreport/

For more comprehensive information on each of the Controlled Entities we encourage you to view their individual annual reports as 
prepared and presented to the University of Wollongong Council and New South Wales Parliament in June of each year.
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ITC LTd and ITs ConTroLLed enTITIes
ABN 77 002 882 064

ITC Ltd (ITC) is the largest subsidiary of UOW. ITC operates as a company limited by shares with an 
independent Board of Directors. 

During 2012, the ITC portfolio included: 

•	 UOW	in	Dubai	(UOWD)	
•	 UOW	College(UOWC)
•	 International	Film	School	Sydney	(IFSS)	
•	 International	Training	and	Careers	College	(ITCC)	
•	 Management	of	the	Divisions	of	External	Relations	and	UniAdvice,	providing	services	to	the	
University	of	Wollongong.





Year In reVIeW

A $4 million dividend was paid to the University of Wollongong 
in May 2012, resulting in a total of $19 million paid over the 
last 4 years. ITC’s underlying profit for the 2012 financial year 
was $3.1 million.  

This result was primarily underpinned by ITC’s two main 
operating units UOW Dubai (UOWD) and UOW College (UOWC). 
UOWD had a particularly successful year with revenue 
growth of 7% and record number of new enrolments (1,526), 
representing year-on-year growth of 11%.  UOWC’s contribution 
was impacted by the continued effects of the Global Financial 
Crisis. International student recruitment in Australia continued 
to fall in the first half of the year, with the College experiencing 
a 7.7% decline on 2011 international student numbers. 

In May 2012, the Vice-Chancellor commissioned an 
independent review of the activities of ITC and how it can best 
serve the future ambitions of the University. The Strategic 
Review identified opportunities to strengthen ITC’s alignment 
with the UOW strategic direction. The following initiatives will 
be implemented in 2013:

•	 The transition of UniAdvice, External Relations, and the 
Office of Community and Partnerships to become direct 
operations of the University 

•	 Changes to the governance structures of UOWD and UOWC 

•	 The exploration of external investment opportunities.  

University of Wollongong in dUBAi
•	 UOWD realised a record number of new student 

enrolments, with the figure reaching 1,526.

•	 UOWD applied for full re-accreditation for 14 programs, 
including the Master of Science in Logistics, Master 
of Engineering Management, Master of Information 
Technology Management, Bachelor of Commerce 
(Marketing, Management, HR, Finance and Accountancy), 
Bachelor of Business Administration and Bachelor of 
Computer Science. 

•	 UOWD successfully launched two new Postgraduate 
Programs (Master of Media and Communications and 
Master of International Studies) and one Undergraduate 
Program (Bachelor of Engineering).

UoW College
•	 Student numbers in the English programs at UOWC were 

2,295, whilst student numbers in the Academic programs 
were 1,118.

•	 UOWC English Language Intensive Courses for Overseas 
Students (ELICOS) programs underwent National English 
Language Teaching Accreditation Scheme (NEAS) 
reaccreditation, and were commended on the quality of the 
teaching. 

•	 A major review of Foundation Studies and Special Tertiary 
Entrance Program (STEP) programs was undertaken with 
initial Course Concept approval from the UOW Course 
Approval Management Group. 

•	 The College concluded the development of an Educational 
Philosophy.

•	 UOW granted approval for UOWC to deliver the UOW Maths 
Enabling course on behalf of UOW. 



 

internAtionAl filM sCHool sydney 
•	 The Certificate IV in Screen & Media, Diploma of Screen & 

Media, and the Advanced Diploma of Cinematography were 
launched. 

•	 The new IFSS website was launched.

•	 A four episode TV series ‘IFSS Uncut’, directed by a recent 
graduate of IFSS, was aired on FOXTEL. 

internAtionAl trAining And CAreers 
College 
•	 ITCC received a successful Australian Skills Quality 

Authority (ASQA) audit and a five year registration.

•	 Application for Diploma of Nursing (Enrolled-Division 2 
nursing) was finalised.

•	 Three new qualifications were added to ITCC’s scope of 
registration: Certificate IV in Project Management, Diploma 
of Human Resources Management and Advanced Diploma 
of Management (HR).

CorPorAte serviCes 
ITC’s Corporate Services has successfully and efficiently 
supported ITC’s operational business units. Some of the 
achievements during 2012 include: 

•	 Finalisation of Phase 2 of CRM development

•	 Achievement of the EOWA Employer of Choice for Women 
citation for a further 2 years (11th consecutive year)

•	 Successful maintenance of ISO9001 Certification with 
Lloyds Register Quality Assurance.

serviCes to UoW
ITC continued to deliver efficient and effective marketing, 
student recruitment, public affairs and community relations 
services to the University through its UniAdvice and External 
Relations teams.

UniAdvice
•	 UniAdvice established the new corporate UOW branding. 

•	 UniAdvice achieved recruitment costs to fee income that 
were 1.2% lower than the Australian university average.

external relations
•	 External Relations implemented dynamic domestic and 

international engagement programs.

•	 The UOW Alumni Network now reaches 109,556 individuals.

•	 In January 2012, UOW was rated ‘Five Stars’ by the same 
organisation that determines the annual World University 
Rankings. The University achieved a perfect score of 50/50 
in the area of ‘engagement’.

•	 UOW funded six new collaborative projects through the 
Community Engagement Grants Scheme.

•	 The University announced the $44 million Early Start 
initiative, spearheaded by a generous $7 million donation 
made by Mr Christopher Abbott AO.

•	 UOW received a further $1.2 million in donations, with an 
average increase of 13% per donor.

•	 The In2Uni program worked with over 5,000 students, 
parents and teachers.
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These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity consisting of ITC Ltd and its 
controlled entities. The financial statements are presented in Australian currency. 

ITC Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia. Its registered office and principle place of business is: 

 

ITC Ltd 

Building 39A 

2 Northfields Avenue 

University of Wollongong NSW 2522 

 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of 
operations and activities in the directors' report on page 1 which is not part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 12 April 2013. The directors have the power to amend 
and reissue the financial statements. 
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The directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of ITC Ltd and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during the year ended 31 December 2012. 

 General information 

 Directors 

The names of the directors of ITC Ltd (hereafter referred to as the Company) in office at any time during, or since the end 
of, the year are: 
Names Position Appointed/Resigned 
Mr P Robson Chairman; Non Executive director   
Mr G West Deputy Chairman; Non Executive Director   
Mr N Cornish Non Executive Director   
Prof P Wellings Executive Director Appointed 10 February 2012  
Mr V Lendrum CEO and Managing Director Resigned 16 August 2012  
Dr BS Hickman Non Executive Director Resigned 27 August 2012  
Ms R Sinclair Non Executive Director Resigned 27 August 2012  
Dr S Routledge Non Executive Director Resigned 27 August 2012  
Prof M O'Kane Non Executive Director Resigned 27 August 2012  

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

There are no directors who have an interest in the shares of the Company. 
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 Principal activities 

The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial year were the provision of education and support 
services which enable it to add value to the strategic goals and objectives of the University of Wollongong. 

These primary activity areas include delivery of university pathway education (UOW College), delivery of vocational 
training (International Film School Sydney and International Training and Careers College), the delivery of university 
education offshore (University of Wollongong in Dubai), marketing and recruitment (UniAdvice) and to manage all aspects 
of external relations for the University of Wollongong. 

On 9 July 2012 ITC Aviation Pty Ltd changed its company name to Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd. Agreement was reached by 
the Company to sell Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd on 31 October 2012. 

 Review of operations 

The consolidated profit of the Group after income tax amounted to $ 3,208,000 (2011: $ 2,933,000). 

The operating profit after income tax of the Company for the year was $5,057,000 (2011: $3,338,000) 

A review of the operations of the Group during the financial year and the results of those operations show student demand 
remained steady in the Australian operations, with a strong rebound in enrolments in Dubai. International student fee 
income of $85,895,000 (2011: $88,156,000) was generated for the University of Wollongong through the UniAdvice 
operations. 

The Australian international student market continues to be adversely impacted by a number of geopolitical and economic 
events. These include the high Australian dollar, the lingering effects of the Global Financial Crisis and the corresponding 
downturn in economic activity together with, the re-emergence of America and Europe as strong competitors for 
international students. These events will continue to impact on international student enrolments. 

Dividends 
In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011, a dividend of $2,800,000 (140,000,000 cents per share) fully 
franked at 30% corporate income tax was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 23 May 2012. 

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010, a dividend of $2,800,000 (140,000,000 cents per share) fully 
franked at 30% corporate income tax was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 12 May 2011. 

No dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 has been declared or paid. 

 State of affairs 

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group occurred during the financial year: 

i) In May 2012 the Vice Chancellor commissioned an independent review of the activities of ITC and how it can 
best serve the future ambitions of the University. The review identified opportunities to strengthen ITC's 
alignment to UOW's strategic direction and included UniAdvice, External Relations and Office of Community and 
Partnerships transitioning to being a d irect operation of UOW from January 2013. Changes to governance 
structures at UOWD and UOWC and exploration of external investment opportunities will occur during 2013. 

ii) Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd (Previously ITC Aviation Pty Ltd) was sold to an external party on 31 October 2012. The 
consolidated Financial Statements contain details of Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd up until the date of sale. Skywise 
Aviation Pty Ltd is disclosed as a discontinued entity in the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 
2012. 

Apart from the above, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
financial year. 
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 Environmental regulation 

The Group's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth 
or of a state or territory of Australia. However, the Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the 
management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as 
they apply to the Group. 

 Events subsequent to reporting date 

During 2012 the University of Wollongong undertook a review of the ITC Group. Resulting from this review a shared 
services model will be implemented between the University and ITC's corporate functions. A consequence of this will be 
redundancies in affected areas of the ITC Group. In addition the review identified opportunities to strengthen ITC's 
alignment to UOW's strategic direction and included UniAdvice, External Relations and Office of Community and 
Partnerships transitioning to being a direct operation of UOW from January 2013. 

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years.  

 Likely developments 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in future financial years 
have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Group. 

 Information on directors 

 
Mr P Robson Chairman; Non Executive director
Experience and expertise Director since 2003. Deputy chairman 2004-2009  
Other current directorships Chairman of Consolidated Manufacturing Enterprises Pty Ltd; Renewed Metal 

Technologies Pty Ltd. Director of CEA Technologies Pty Ltd; and Wallace Wine Co Pty 
Ltd  

Former directorships in last 3 
years

Director of ITC Emirates Limited from 2007 - 2010. Director ADY Resources Ltd  and 
Ivernia Inc (Canada)  

Special Responsibilities Chair of the Board 
Chair of Remuneration Committee  

  

Mr G West Deputy Chairman; Non Executive Director
Experience and expertise Director since 2003, Chartered Accountant  
Other current directorships Education Australia Ltd; and IDP Education Pty Ltd  
Former directorships in last 3 
years

Director of International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd until January 2011  

Special Responsibilities Deputy Chair, Chair Audit and Risk Committee, Member of Remuneration Committee 
(appointed 29 August 2012)  
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Mr N Cornish Non Executive Director
Experience and expertise Director since December 2011  
Other current directorships Member of the Council of the University of Wollongong; Member UOW Audit and Risk 

Committee. Director of IMB Limited; NorthStarBSL LLC; Snowy Hydro Limited and 
TataBSL Limited. President NSW Council and National Vice President of the Ai Group.
  

Former directorships in last 3 
years

None  

Special Responsibilities Member of the Audit and Risk Committee (appointed 29 August 2012)  
  

Prof P Wellings Executive Director
Experience and expertise Director appointed 10 February 2012 

Vice Chancellor of the University of Wollongong   from January 2012  
Other current directorships Vice Chancellor of Lancaster University 2002 to 2011.  
Former directorships in last 3 
years

Director of the Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO), the 
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) and the Cumbrian 
Rural Regeneration Company. Board Member of Universities United Kingdom (UUK) 
2006 to 2011; and Higher Education Council for England (HEFCE) 2006 to 2011. Chair 
of HEFCE's Research and Innovative Committee 2006 to 2011; 1994 Group 2009 to 
2011; and North West Universities Association 2009 to 2011. Member of North West 
England Science Council 2006 to 2011  

Special Responsibilities Member of the UOWD Board of Trustees  
  

Mr V Lendrum CEO and Managing Director (resigned 16 August 2012) 
Experience and expertise Managing Director from 2 January 2009 to 16 August 2012  
Other current directorships None  
Former directorships in last 3 
years

Director of ITC Education Ltd from 5 February 2009; ITC (New Zealand) Limited; 
International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd from 2 January 2009; and Skywise Aviation 
Pty Ltd from 20 August 2010; ITC (Middle East) Ltd from 2009 to 2010. 
Director of International School of European Aviation Pty Ltd from 2009 to 2011  

Special Responsibilities Executive Director (resigned 16 August 2012) 
Member of Remuneration Committee (resigned 16 August 2012) 
Member of UOWD Board of Trustees (resigned 16 August 2012) 
Chair of the UOWD Committee. (resigned 16 August 2012)  

  

Dr BS Hickman Non Executive Director (resigned 27 August 2012)
Experience and expertise Director from 1992. Chairman from 2004 until 31 December 2009  
Other current directorships None  
Former directorships in last 3 
years

Director of ITC Emirates Ltd from 2007 to 2010  

Special Responsibilities Member of the Audit & Risk Committee (Resigned 27 August 2012)  
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Ms R Sinclair Non Executive Director (resigned 27 August 2012)
Experience and expertise Director from 2003  
Other current directorships Director of External Relations at the Australian School of Business; and VASP Pty Ltd. 

Working Group of the Generic Names Council at the Internet Names organisation, 
ICANN. Member of the Federal Government’s Telecommunications Universal Service 
Management Agency  

Former directorships in last 3 
years

Member of the University of Wollongong Council from January 2008 to April 2011.Chair 
of the Federal Government’s 2011-2012 Regional Telecommunications Inquiry Review 
Committee  

Special Responsibilities Member of the Audit & Risk Committee (Resigned 27 August 2012) 
Member of the Remuneration Committee (Resigned 27 August 2012)  

  

Dr S Routledge Non Executive Director (Resigned 27 August 2012)
Qualifications   
Experience and expertise Director from 2008  
Other current directorships Chairman of KYEEMA Foundation Ltd. Director of KYEEMA Sweden; Stewart 

Routledge & Associates; and International Rural Poultry Centre. Adviser to the Office of 
H.H. The President of the UAE and Consultant to the Abu Dhabi Food Control Authority
  

Former directorships in last 3 
years

None  

Special Responsibilities Member of the UOWD Board of Trustees. 
Member of the UOWD Committee (Resigned 27 August 2012)  

  

Prof M O'Kane Non Executive Director (Resigned 27 August 2012)
Qualifications   
Experience and expertise Director from April 2011. Former Vice-Chancellor of the University of Adelaide & 

currently New South Wales Chief Scientist and Engineer  
Other current directorships Chair, Spatial Information Systems Ltd; Director National ICT Australia Ltd; Capital 

Markets CRC Ltd; PSMA Australia Ltd; and Business Events Sydney Ltd. Executive 
Chair, Mary O'Kane & Associates Pty Ltd from 2001. Member, NSW Innovation and 
Productivity Council; UNITAR international Board of Advisors, Fairview International 
School Council of Governors, Kuala Lumpur. Chair, Development Gateway, 
Washington; Development Gateway International, Brussels; Member, New Zealand 
Antarctic Research Institute Board  

Former directorships in last 3 
years

Australian Business Foundation Ltd  

Special Responsibilities None  
  

Company secretary 

Ms Marisa Mastroianni

Joint Company Secretary since 3 January 2009 and Chief Executive Officer. 

Ms Mastroianni is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, a Certified Practising Accountant and the 
Company's Chief Executive Officer since being appointed 16 August 2012. 
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Ms Vanessa Bourne

Joint Company Secretary since 30 September 2008. 

Ms Bourne is a chartered company secretary, a solicitor and the Company's in-house legal counsel. 

 

Meetings of Directors 

The number of directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by 
each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are: 

 

 
Meetings of 
the board Meetings of committees 

  
Audit and risk 

committee 
Remuneration 

committee 
UOWD 

committee 
UOWD Board 

of trustees 

 A B A B A B A B A B 
Mr P Robson (Chair)  8  8  -   -   4   4   -   -   -   -  
Mr G West (Deputy Chair)  8  7  4   4   1   1   -   -   -   -  
Mr V Lendrum  4  3  -   -   3   3   3   3   1   1  
Dr BS Hickman  4  4  2   2   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Prof P Wellings  8  8  -   -   -   -   -   -   2   2  
Ms R Sinclair  4  3  2   2   3   1   -   -   -   -  
Dr S Routledge  4  4  -   -   -   -   3   3   2   2  
Prof M O'Kane  4  4  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Mr N Cornish  8  7  1   1   -   -   -   -   -   -   

 

A = Number of meetings held which director was eligible to attend 
B = Number of meetings attended 
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 Proceedings on behalf of company 

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings to 
which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those 
proceedings. 

The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

 Indemnification and insurance of officers 

The company under its global insurance arrangements has in place a Management Liability Policy which includes 
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance, which is in accordance with the Constitution of the Company. 

The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect 
of the directors’ and officers’ liability as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 

 Auditor's independence declaration 

The auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 8 and forms part of the directors' report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012. 

Rounding off 
The company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/0100 as amended by Class order 04/667, issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the ''rounding off'' of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the 
financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, the nearest dollar.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

     

 

Director: Mr P Robson 
 

Director: Mr G West 
 

Wollongong 

Dated 12 April 2013 
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors, we declare that in our opinion: 
 
• The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position of ITC Ltd and its controlled 
entities as at 31 December 2012 and financial performance for the year then ended. 
• The financial statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. 
• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 
1983, and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010 
. 
 
Further we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be 
misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
    

    
 
 
 
Mr P Robson       Mr G West 
Director        Director 
 
Wollongong 
12 April 2013 
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In the directors' opinion: 

In accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors, we declare that in our opinion: 

• The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position of ITC Ltd and its controlled 
entities as at the 31 December 2012 and financial performance for the year then ended. 

• The financial statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board. 

• The financial statements are also in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010 and the Corporations Act 2001. 

• There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

• Further we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to 
be misleading or inaccurate. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

 

    

 

Director Mr P Robson 
 

Director Mr G West 
 

 
 
Dated 12 April 2013 
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In the directors' opinion: 

In accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors, we declare that in our opinion: 

• The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position of ITC Ltd and its controlled 
entities as at the 31 December 2012 and financial performance for the year then ended. 

• The financial statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board. 

• The financial statements are also in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010 and the Corporations Act 2001. 

• There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

• Further we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to 
be misleading or inaccurate. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

 

    

 

Director Mr P Robson 
 

Director Mr G West 
 

 
 
Dated 12 April 2013 
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  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Continuing operations        
Revenue 4   45,893   46,962    32,147   31,109  
Other income 5 

 

 200   -  
 

 200   -  

Employee benefits expense    (25,606)   (24,492)    (17,180)   (15,204)  
Depreciation and amortisation expense    (1,398)   (1,350)    (757)   (747)  
Administration and site expenses    (10,912)   (10,684)    (9,086)   (8,753)  
Marketing expenses    (3,591)   (3,682)    (1,949)   (1,752)  
Other expenses    (2,165)   (2,146)    (152)   (1,421)  
Finance costs 6   (56)   (69)    -   (4)  

Profit from continuing operations before 
income tax    2,365   4,539    3,223   3,228  

Income tax benefit / (expense) 7   807   (1,025)    1,834   110  

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 34   36   (581)    -   -  

Profit for the year    3,208   2,933    5,057   3,338  

Other comprehensive income: 
       

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets 24   90   (87)    90   (87)  
Foreign currency translation 24   103   175    101   166  
Income tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive income 7(d)   (27)   26    (27)   26  
Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax    166   114    164   105  

Total comprehensive income for the year    3,374   3,047    5,221   3,443  
Profit attributable to:        

Owners of ITC Ltd    3,208   2,931    5,057   3,338  
Non-controlling interests    -   2    -   -  

    3,208   2,933    5,057   3,338  
Total comprehensive income attributable to:        

Owners of ITC Ltd    3,374   3,045    5,221   3,443  
Non-controlling interest    -   2    -   -  

    3,374   3,047    5,221   3,443  
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  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

ASSETS        
CURRENT ASSETS        
Cash and cash equivalents 8   21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  
Trade and other receivables 9   4,407   4,606    2,969   1,775  
Inventories 10   85   149    85   149  
Current tax receivable 19   698   -    698   -  

    26,462   26,970    16,561   14,929  
Non-current assets held for sale 11   525   335    -   -  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS    26,987   27,305    16,561   14,929  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS        
Trade and other receivables 12   145   175    2,364   3,304  
Investment in subsidiaries    -   -    750   1,145  
Available-for-sale financial assets 13   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  
Property, plant and equipment 14   2,280   2,627    1,403   1,360  
Intangible assets and goodwill 15   1,899   1,881    470   536  
Deferred tax assets 16   2,508   1,540    1,834   1,121  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS    7,967   7,268    7,956   8,511  

TOTAL ASSETS    34,954   34,573    24,517   23,440  

LIABILITIES        
CURRENT LIABILITIES        
Trade and other payables 17   4,901   6,889    2,340   5,008  
Provisions 18   4,974   4,172    4,907   4,039  
Current tax liabilities 19   -   6    -   6  
Other liabilities 20   9,605   8,474    3,804   3,259  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES    19,480   19,541    11,051   12,312  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES        
Loans and borrowings 21   660   704    -   -  
Provisions 22   1,103   1,191    1,067   1,150  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    1,763   1,895    1,067   1,150  
TOTAL LIABILITIES    21,243   21,436    12,118   13,462  
NET ASSETS    13,711   13,137    12,399   9,978  
 

EQUITY        
Issued capital 23   -   -    -   -  
Reserves 24(a)   2,298   2,132    1,556   1,392  
Retained earnings 24(b)   11,413   11,005    10,843   8,586  
TOTAL EQUITY    13,711   13,137    12,399   9,978  
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  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

ASSETS        
CURRENT ASSETS        
Cash and cash equivalents 8   21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  
Trade and other receivables 9   4,407   4,606    2,969   1,775  
Inventories 10   85   149    85   149  
Current tax receivable 19   698   -    698   -  

    26,462   26,970    16,561   14,929  
Non-current assets held for sale 11   525   335    -   -  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS    26,987   27,305    16,561   14,929  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS        
Trade and other receivables 12   145   175    2,364   3,304  
Investment in subsidiaries    -   -    750   1,145  
Available-for-sale financial assets 13   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  
Property, plant and equipment 14   2,280   2,627    1,403   1,360  
Intangible assets and goodwill 15   1,899   1,881    470   536  
Deferred tax assets 16   2,508   1,540    1,834   1,121  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS    7,967   7,268    7,956   8,511  

TOTAL ASSETS    34,954   34,573    24,517   23,440  

LIABILITIES        
CURRENT LIABILITIES        
Trade and other payables 17   4,901   6,889    2,340   5,008  
Provisions 18   4,974   4,172    4,907   4,039  
Current tax liabilities 19   -   6    -   6  
Other liabilities 20   9,605   8,474    3,804   3,259  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES    19,480   19,541    11,051   12,312  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES        
Loans and borrowings 21   660   704    -   -  
Provisions 22   1,103   1,191    1,067   1,150  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    1,763   1,895    1,067   1,150  
TOTAL LIABILITIES    21,243   21,436    12,118   13,462  
NET ASSETS    13,711   13,137    12,399   9,978  
 

EQUITY        
Issued capital 23   -   -    -   -  
Reserves 24(a)   2,298   2,132    1,556   1,392  
Retained earnings 24(b)   11,413   11,005    10,843   8,586  
TOTAL EQUITY    13,711   13,137    12,399   9,978  
 

ITC Ltd 
ABN: 77 002 882 064 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 
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 Note          Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:       
Receipts from customers   59,404   58,690    30,875   31,925  
Payments to suppliers and employees   (55,971)   (52,746)    (28,662)   (26,414)  

   3,433   5,944    2,213   5,511  
Income taxes (paid)/received   (961)   (927)    390   (30)  
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 28(b)  2,472   5,017    2,603   5,481  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:       
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment   68   -    62   -  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (1,144)   (947)    (866)   (442)  
Purchase of intangible assets   (670)   (523)    (43)   (36)  
Proceeds from disposal of entities   200   -    200   -  
Interest received   1,026   1,091    638   659  
Dividends received   -   132    -   132  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (520)   (247)    (9)   313  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:       
Payment of finance lease liabilities   -   (80)    -   (80)  
Repayment of borrowings   (100)   (100)    -   -  
Dividends paid by parent entity   (2,800)   (2,800)    (2,800)   (2,800)  
Net cash (used in) financing activities   (2,900)   (2,980)    (2,800)   (2,880)  
 
Net increase (decrease) in cash  and cash equivalents 
held   (948)   1,790    (206)   2,914  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   22,215   20,255    13,005   9,921  
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of 
cash held in foreign currencies   5   170    10   170  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year   21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  
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2012  Company 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2012    -   803   589   8,586   9,978   -   9,978  
Profit for the year    -   -   -   5,057   5,057   -   5,057  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   63   101   -   164   -   164  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   63   101   5,057   5,221   -   5,221  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance as at 31 December 
2012 

 

  -   866   690   10,843   12,399   -   12,399  

 
 

2011  Company 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2011    -   864   423   8,048   9,335   -   9,335  

Comprehensive income          
Profit for the year    -   -   -   3,338   3,338   -   3,338  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   (61)   166   -   105   -   105  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   (61)   166   3,338   3,443   -   3,443  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance at 31 December 2011 
   -   803   589   8,586   9,978   -   9,978  
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2012  Company 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2012    -   803   589   8,586   9,978   -   9,978  
Profit for the year    -   -   -   5,057   5,057   -   5,057  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   63   101   -   164   -   164  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   63   101   5,057   5,221   -   5,221  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance as at 31 December 
2012 

 

  -   866   690   10,843   12,399   -   12,399  

 
 

2011  Company 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2011    -   864   423   8,048   9,335   -   9,335  

Comprehensive income          
Profit for the year    -   -   -   3,338   3,338   -   3,338  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   (61)   166   -   105   -   105  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   (61)   166   3,338   3,443   -   3,443  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance at 31 December 2011 
   -   803   589   8,586   9,978   -   9,978  
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2012  Consolidated 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2012    -   908   1,224   11,005   13,137   -   13,137  

Changes in equity 
         

Comprehensive income 
         

Profit for the year    -   -   -   3,208   3,208   -   3,208  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   63   103   -   166   -   166  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   63   103   3,208   3,374   -   3,374  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance at 31 December 2012 
 

  -   971   1,327   11,413   13,711   -   13,711  

 
 

2011  Consolidated 

   

Contributed 
equity 
000's 

$ 

Available for 
sale reserve 

000's 
$ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
000's 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

000's 
$ 

Parent 
interest 

000's 
$ 

Non-controlling 
Interests 

000's 
$ 

Total equity 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 1 January 2011    -   969   1,049   10,874   12,892   2   12,890  
Profit for the year    -   -   -   2,931   2,931   (2)   2,933  

Other comprehensive income 
 

  -   (61)   175   -   114   -   114  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

  -   61   (175)   (2,931)   (3,045)   (2)   (3,047)  

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
        

Dividends provided or paid    -   -   -   (2,800)   (2,800)   -   (2,800)  

Balance at 31 December 2011 
   -   908   1,224   11,005   13,137   -   13,137  
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The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of ITC Ltd and controlled entities (the Group) 
and the separate financial statements and notes of ITC Ltd as an individual  entity (Company). 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983, Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board ("AASB) 
and the Corporations Act 2001. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale financial assets, loans and 
borrowings and non-current assets classified as held for sale which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Group’s functional currency and the currency of 
the majority of the Group, unless otherwise noted.  All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000) unless 
otherwise noted. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the 
following notes: 

• note 13         available for sale financial assets 

• notes 18 and 22    provisions 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements. These accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods in these consolidated financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by the subsidiaries. 

In the current period, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to the operations of the Group and effective for the current 
reporting period.    

The financial statements was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 12 April 2013. 
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The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of ITC Ltd and controlled entities (the Group) 
and the separate financial statements and notes of ITC Ltd as an individual  entity (Company). 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983, Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board ("AASB) 
and the Corporations Act 2001. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale financial assets, loans and 
borrowings and non-current assets classified as held for sale which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Group’s functional currency and the currency of 
the majority of the Group, unless otherwise noted.  All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000) unless 
otherwise noted. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the 
following notes: 

• note 13         available for sale financial assets 

• notes 18 and 22    provisions 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements. These accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods in these consolidated financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by the subsidiaries. 

In the current period, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to the operations of the Group and effective for the current 
reporting period.    

The financial statements was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 12 April 2013. 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued 

(a) Basis of Preparation continued 
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 Rounding of amounts 

The Group is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the financial statements 
and Directors' Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. 

(b) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by ITC Ltd at the 
end of the reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which ITC Ltd has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control will generally exist when the Group owns, directly or 
indirectly through subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power of an entity. In assessing the power to govern, the 
existence and effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are also considered. 

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those entities is 
included only for the period that they were controlled. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 3 to the financial 
statements. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the 
Group have been eliminated on consolidation.  

Non-controlling interest not held by the Group are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of 
comprehensive income and are presented within equity in the statement of financial position, separately from the equity of 
the owners of the parent. 

The Group treats transactions with non controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the 
controlling and non controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount of the adjustment to non controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within equity 
attributable to owners of ITC Ltd. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less which are convertible to a known amount of cash and subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
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receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
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(e) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Work in process inventory represents costs 
incurred in project deliverables, which will be recognised to cost of sales when revenue becomes invoiceable or earned. 

(f) Other financial assets 

 Available-for-sale financial assets 

Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available for sale and after initial recognition are stated at fair 
value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly as a separate component of equity until those shares are 
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

Dividends on available for sale investments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established. 

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. 

Items of plant and equipment less than $300 are expensed in the period of acquisition. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within the statement of 
comprehensive income.  

 Subsequent additional costs 

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such 
an item when that cost is incurred if it probable that future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as an expense as incurred. 

 Depreciation and amortisation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful life to the Group 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of 
either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

Assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end. 

(i) Depreciation rates 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 
Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate % 
Plant and Equipment  10 to 33 1/3  
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings  10 to 25  
Motor Vehicles  20  
Computer Equipment  331/3  
Leasehold improvements 2.5 or duration of lease  
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An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses 
are recognised net in the statement of comprehensive income. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

(h) Goodwill and Intangibles 

(i) Goodwill 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities.  G oodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.   

Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and 
losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 
to each of the Group’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or 
groups of units. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (group of cash generating 
units) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. 

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.  

(ii) Leased software and purchased software 

Leased or purchased software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life. It has an estimated useful life of 
between three and five years.  It is assessed annually for impairment.  

(iii) Accreditation costs 

Accreditation costs are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight basis over the period that accreditation approval is given for.  

Accreditation costs have a finite useful life.  The period of accreditation approval is three to five years.  

(iv) Intellectual property  

Intellectual property is attributable to the purchase of procedures and manuals required to obtain licences to operate.  
Intellectual property is not amortised.  Instead, intellectual property is tested for impairment annually. 

(v) Other intangible costs 

Other intangible costs are attributable to the purchase of web-sites, trademarks and customer/supplier lists required to 
operate a business.  Other intangible costs have a finite useful life.  The period of estimated life is five years 
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(i) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are carried at fair value, which is usually the transaction cost, and due to their short term nature 
they are not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obligated to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services.  Agents fees are recognised when a student accepts an offer to commence 
studying.  They are carried at fair value, and due to their short term nature they are not discounted. Trade accounts 
payable are generally settled within 30 days. The account with University of Wollongong is operated under agreed 
payment terms of 120 days. The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other accounts payable to 
approximate their net fair values. 

(j) Loans and Borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, less any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans are recognised at their amortised cost, using the effective interest method, subject 
to set off arrangements. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

(k) Employee benefits 

(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to the reporting date. The 
calculations are based on undiscounted amounts which include remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group 
expects to pay as at reporting date including related on costs, such as, superannuation, workers compensation insurance 
and payroll tax. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long term service benefits, other than defined contribution superannuation funds, 
is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  
Provision for long service leave includes amounts payable upon completion of service in the Middle East in accordance 
with UAE legislation. 

The obligation is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and 
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attaching to Commonwealth 
Government bonds at reporting date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities. The 
unwinding of the discount is treated as long service leave expense. 

(iii)   Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contributions plans are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

(l) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the outflow required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used is a pr e-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
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(i) Site restoration 

The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation at the 
reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology. 

Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration 
provision at the end of the reporting period. 

The amount of the provision for future restoration costs is capitalised and is depreciated in accordance with the Group’s 
depreciation and amortisation policy. The unwinding of the effect of discounting on provision is recognised as a finance 
cost.  

(ii) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract is 
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present 
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the 
contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with the 
contract. 

(iii) Restructure and redundancies 

The Group recognises redundancy provisions when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of 
employees, according to a detailed formal plan, without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

(m) Revenue and other income 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as discussed below. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account any trade 
discounts and volume rebates allowed. Any consideration deferred is treated as the provision of finance and is discounted 
at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar arrangements. The difference between the amount 
initially recognised and the amount ultimately received is interest revenue. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

 Provision of services 

Student income is recognised over the period of the course or program once the student has accepted an offer and 
enrolled in the course or program. Fees for students who have enrolled prior to year end for a course in the following year, 
are recognised as income received in advance once an invoice has been issued.  

       Sale of non-current assets 

The proceeds on non current asset sales are recognised as revenue at the date control of the asset passes to the buyer, 
usually when an unconditional contract of sale is signed. 

The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of 
disposal and the net proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs). 

 Dividend revenue 

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 
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 Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods. 

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or current liability in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

(o) Foreign currency 

 Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which 
is the Group's functional and presentation currency. 

 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate at that date. 

 Translation of controlled foreign operations 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period unless 
exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on disposal of the foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment 
in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

(p) Income Tax 

Income tax arising on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in equity, in which case it is 
disclosed in other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the tax relates to 
items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where 
amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting 
or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting year. 
Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the 
related asset or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 

Current assets and l iabilities are offset where a l egally enforceable right of set-off exists and i t is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

(i) Tax Consolidation legislation 

ITC Ltd and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. 

The head ent ity, ITC Ltd, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a 
stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, ITC Ltd also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group. 

Charges or benefits arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 

(q) Leases 

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership that are transferred to entities in the Group, are classified as finance leases.  Other leases are classified 
as operating leases and are not recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position. 

Finance Leases 

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. 
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 
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Operating Leases 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived 
from the leased property. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease term. 

 Group as Lessor 

Leases in which the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased asset are classified as 
operating leases. Income received is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over 
the term of the lease. 

(r) Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
The assessment will include considering external sources of information and internal sources of information and 
dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities deemed to be out of pre-acquisition profits. If 
such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use to the asset's carrying value. Value in 
use is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows of the asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) at a pre-tax 
discount rate reflecting the specific risks in the asset / CGU. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGU's are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill to nil and 
then to the remaining assets in the unit in proportion to their carrying amount. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

Assets, other than goodwill that have an allocated impairment loss are reviewed for reversal indicators at the end of each 
reporting period. After recognition of an impairment loss, the amortisation charge for the asset is adjusted in future periods 
to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is property, plant and equipment 
held at fair value (other than investment property carried at a revalued amount) in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease as described in the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment. 

(s) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge 
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 
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then to the remaining assets in the unit in proportion to their carrying amount. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

Assets, other than goodwill that have an allocated impairment loss are reviewed for reversal indicators at the end of each 
reporting period. After recognition of an impairment loss, the amortisation charge for the asset is adjusted in future periods 
to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is property, plant and equipment 
held at fair value (other than investment property carried at a revalued amount) in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease as described in the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment. 

(s) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge 
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 
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(t) New Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations 

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory application 
dates for future reporting periods. The Group has decided against early adoption of these standards. The following table 
summarises those future requirements, and their impact on the Group:  

 

Standard Name  Effective 
date for 
entity  

Requirements  Impact  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
and amending standards AASB 
2009-11 / AASB 2010-7  

1 January 
2015  

 - Changes to the classification 
and measurement 
requirements for financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

 - New rules relating to 
derecognition of financial 
instruments. 

The impact of AASB 
9 has not yet been 
determined as the 
entire standard has 
not been released  

AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements / AASB 
12 Disclosures of Interests in 
Other Entities, and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates.  

1 January 
2013  

AASB 10 includes a new 
definition of control, which is used 
to determine which entities are 
consolidated, and describes 
consolidation procedures. 
The Standard provides additional 
guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where 
this is difficult to assess.  
AASB12 requires enhanced 
disclosures of both consolidated 
and non-consolidated entities 
where an investor has a 
significant involvement. 
AASB 128 prescribes the 
accounting for investments in 
associates and sets out the 
requirements for the application 
of the equity method when 
accounting for investments in 
associates.  

The impact of these 
standards is 
expected to be 
minimal. 
Some additional 
disclosures may be 
needed.  

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement.  
 
AASB 2011-8 - Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 
13 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 
2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 
108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 
120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 
134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 
17, 19, 131 & 132]  

1 January 
2013  

AASB 13 provides a precise 
definition of fair value and a single 
source of fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for 
use across Accounting Standards 
but does not change when fair 
value is required or permitted. 
 
There are a number of additional 
disclosure requirements.  

Fair value estimates 
currently made by 
the entity will be 
revised and potential 
changes to reported 
values may be 
required.   
 
The entity has not 
yet determined the 
magnitude of any 
changes which may 
be needed. 
 
Some additional 
disclosures will be 
needed.  

AASB 2011 – 
4 -  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards to 
Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements  
[AASB 124]  

1 January 
2013  

Remove individual key 
management personnel 
disclosure requirements (i.e. 
components of remuneration) for 
disclosing entities.  

The entity is not a 
disclosing entity and 
therefore this will 
have no impact.  
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AASB 2011-7 –  
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from the Consolidation and 
Joint Arrangements Standards 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 
101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 
132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Interpretations 5, 9, 
16 & 17]  

1 January 
2013  

This standard provides many 
consequential changes due to the 
release of the new consolidation 
and joint venture standards.  

The impact of this 
standard is expected 
to be minimal.  

AASB 2011-9 - Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards - Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income.    

1 January 
2013  

Entities will be required to group 
items presented in other 
comprehensive income on the 
basis of whether they are 
potentially reclassifiable to profit 
or loss subsequently 
(reclassification adjustments).   

The items shown in 
other 
comprehensive 
income will be 
separated into two 
categories.  

AASB 2012 5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009–2011 
Cycle[AASB 1, AASB 101, 
AASB 116, AASB 132 & AASB 
134 and Interpretation 2]  

1 January 
2013  

Various amendments arising from 
the annual improvements 
process.  

The impact of these 
amendments are 
expected to be 
minimal.  

AASB 2012 10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Transition 
Guidance and Other 
Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 
10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 
1039, 1049 & 2011 7 and 
Interpretation 12]  

1 January 
2013  

Various amendments arising from 
recent issuances and corrections 
from IASB and AASB.  

The impact of these 
amendments are 
expected to be 
minimal.  

(u) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of their carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell, if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except 
for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and investment property 
that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from this 
requirement. 

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal 
group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously 
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are 
classified as held for sale.  Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale continue to be recognised.  

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets in the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation 
occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. The results of the 
discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the statement of comprehensive income. When an 
operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is restated as if 
the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period. 
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An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal 
group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously 
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are 
classified as held for sale.  Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale continue to be recognised.  

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets in the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation 
occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. The results of the 
discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the statement of comprehensive income. When an 
operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is restated as if 
the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period. 
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(v) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(w) Finance income and expense 

Finance income consists of interest income. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective 
yield on the financial asset. 

Finance expenses comprise interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, amortisation of 
ancillary costs incurred in connection with arrangement of borrowings, and finance charges in respect of finance leases.  

All borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. 
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2 Financial Risk Management 

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, available 
for sale financial assets, trade and other payables and loans and borrowings. 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from the use of the above financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk (which includes both interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment of the Group’s financial risk management 
framework. The Board has established the Audit & Risk Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring 
risk management policies.  The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

The Audit & Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies 
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. 

Risk exposures and responses 

(a) Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract 
obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group and arises principally from the Group's receivables. 

The Group trades with students and other educational organisations and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the 
Group’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. 

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical region was: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Australia   3,146   3,432    2,384   1,205  
Dubai   212   162    212   162  

   3,358   3,594    2,596   1,367  
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Education   2,895   2,758    2,568   1,358  
Marketing   429   836    -   9  
Other   34   -    28   -  

Total   3,358   3,594    2,596   1,367  

Financial instruments are spread amongst a number of financial institutions to minimise the risk of default of 
counterparties. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions: 

The Group manages liquidity risk by regularly reviewing forecasts of liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash flow, 
as well as by maintaining adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities.  Details of these facilities are 
outlined in note 21. 

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed payments resulting from recognised financial liabilities 
as at reporting date.  The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract.  
Financial assets are considered and disclosed in the Group’s overall liquidity risk.  The Group ensures that sufficient 
liquid assets are available to meet all short term cash outflows. 

The risk implied from the values shown in the tables following reflect and balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of 
financial assets and liabilities.  Trade and other payables mainly originate from the financing of assets used in ongoing 
operations. 
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Financial liability m
aturity analysis -N

on-derivative
 

 
 

 
 

C
onsolidated 

W
ithin 1 Year 

1 to 5 Years 
O

ver 5 Years 
Total 

 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Financial assets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

ash and cash equivalents 
21,272 

22,215 
- 

- 
- 

- 
21,272 

22,215 
Trade and other receivables 

3,412 
3,873 

- 
- 

- 
- 

3,412 
3,873 

A
vailable-for-sale financial assets 

- 
- 

1,135 
1,045 

- 
- 

1,135 
1,045 

 
24,684 

26,088 
1,135 

1,045 
- 

- 
25,819 

27,133 

Financial liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Trade and other payables  

(4,901) 
(6,888) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

(4,901) 
(6,888) 

B
orrow

ings (excluding finance lease) 
- 

- 
(400) 

(300) 
(600) 

(800) 
(1,000) 

(1,100) 

N
et exposure 

19,783 
19,200 

735 
745 

(600) 
(800) 

19,918 
19,145 

  
C

om
pany 

W
ithin 1 Year 

1 to 5 Years 
O

ver 5 Years 
Total 

 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Financial A
ssets 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
ash and cash equivalents 

12,809 
13,005 

- 
- 

- 
- 

12,809 
13,005 

Trade and other receivables 
2,654 

1,529 
- 

- 
- 

- 
2,654 

1,529 
A

vailable-for-sale financial assets 
- 

- 
1,135 

1,045 
- 

- 
1,135 

1,045 

 
15,463 

14,534 
1,135 

1,045 
- 

- 
16,598 

15,579 

Financial liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Trade and other payables 

(2,340) 
(5,008) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

(2,340) 
(5,008) 

N
et exposure 

13,123 
9,526 

1,135 
1,045 

- 
- 

14,258 
10,571 
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The amounts presented in the above tables comprise the contractual undiscounted cash flows, and therefore will not 
always agree with the amounts presented in the statement of financial position.  For estimated interest rate cash flows, 
interest rates applicable as at the reporting date have been used. 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, specifically foreign currency risk and interest rate risk will affect the 
Group’s income or value of its holding of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risks on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other than the 
respective functional currencies of the Group entities. The functional currencies of Group entities are the Australian Dollar 
(AUD), New Zealand Dollar (NZD) and t he United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED). Whilst the volume of sales and 
purchases denominated in foreign currencies other than the respective functional currencies is not significant, the main 
foreign currency in which these other transactions primarily are denominated in is the US Dollar (USD).  

The Group can be exposed to foreign currency risk when transferring funds between countries. The Group does not 
currently use any hedging instruments when dealing with foreign currency.  

In respect of financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary. 

 At 31 December 2012, there was no exposure to US denominated trade and other receivables (2011: nil).  

(ii) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.  The Group’s 
trade and related party receivables are non interest bearing.  All non related party loans and borrowings of the Group 
have a fixed interest rate for the term of the borrowing.  Related party loans and borrowings are recognised at their 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method (refer to note 1 (j).)  The level of debt is disclosed in note 21. 

The Group does not currently use any hedging instruments when dealing with interest rates.  

The Group operates a treasury policy which encourages excess cash reserves be placed in short term fixed interest rate 
term deposits.  At the reporting date, the Group had $13,027,000 (2011: $14,000,000) and the Company had $8,000,000 
(2011 $8,000,000) in short term deposits with interest rates ranging from 4.2% - 4.62% (2011: 5.45% - 6.39%) for the 
Group and 4.5% - 4.62% (2011: 5.60% - 6.20%) for the Company.  

At the reporting date, the only financial asset the Group had that is exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk is cash 
and cash equivalents.  The value at the reporting date for the Group is $6,036,000 (2011: $4,912,000) and for the 
Company $2,601,000, (2011 $1,705,000).  

(iii) Summarised sensitivity analysis 

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk, 
foreign exchange risk and other price risk. 

Significant assumption's used in the interest rate sensitivity analysis include: 

- Acknowledging the Group has significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents in short term fixed interest rate term 
deposits. 

 - At the beginning of 2012, the Reserve Bank of Australia cash rate was 4.25%.  At the end of 2012 the cash rate was 
3%.  The simple average between these year end rates is 3.62%.  Bank accounts with variable interest rates provide 
rates at 25 basis points below the cash rate. 
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  -Interest rates are forecast to marginally decrease during 2013.  

Significant assumptions used in the exchange rate sensitivity analysis include: 

 - Although recent years has seen significant upward movement in the A$, the forecast for the future is less volatile and 
forecasts the A$ gradually returning to parity with the USD. 

  -Exchange rates are forecast to marginally decrease during 2013 from AUD to USD of 1.05 to 1.02.  

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

Profit 
000's 

$ 

Equity 
000's 

$  

Profit 
000's 

$ 

Equity 
000's 

$ 

Year ended 31 December 2012 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - at bank       
Increase in 50bps   41   -    24   -  
Decrease in 50bps   (41)   -    (24)   -  
   

 Consolidated Company 

  

Profit 
000's 

$ 

Equity 
000's 

$  

Profit 
000's 

$ 

Equity 
000's 

$ 

Year ended 31 December 2011 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - at bank       
Increase 50bps   41   -    25   -  
Decrease in 50bps   (41)   -    (25)   -  

(d) Fair value measurements 

 The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 

The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position have been analysed 
and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements between those whose fair value is based on. The fair value hierarchy consists of the 
following levels: 

− quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 

− inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and 

− inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3). 

The following table presents the company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 
31 December 2012.  
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The following table presents the company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 
31 December 2012.  
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Consolidated 
2012 

Level 1 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 2 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 3 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Total 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Financial assets:     
Available-for-sale financial assets:     
- Equity securities  -   -   1,135   1,135  

 

2011 

Level 1 
000's 

$ 

Level 2 
000's 

$ 

Level 3 
000's 

$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 

Financial assets:     
Available-for-sale financial assets:     
- Equity securities  -   -   1,045   1,045  

 

Company 
2012 

Level 1 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 2 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 3 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Total 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Financial assets:     
Available-for-sale financial assets:     
 - Equity securities  -   -   1,135   1,135  

 

2011 

Level 1 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 2 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Level 3 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Total 
$'000 
000's 

$ 

Financial assets:     
Available-for-sale financial assets:     
 - Equity securities  -   -   1,045   1,045  

Management has assessed the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities and have identified that 
their fair value measurements do not fall in the Level 1 and Level 2 hierarchy requirements. Therefore, they 
have determined that all their fair value measurements fall under Level 3 hierarchy requirements 

Reconciliation of level 3 investments

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Opening balance   1,045   1,132    1,045   1,132  
Gains/ (losses) recognised in other 
comprehensive income   90   (87)    90   (87)  

Closing balance   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  
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The Group and company estimates the value of Education Australia Ltd taking into account projected earnings times an 
appropriate earnings multiple discounted by a factor to reflect the lack of marketability of these shares. The potential effect 
of using an alternative discount rate (up or down 5%) would have the effect of reducing fair value by $113,000 (2011: 
$104,000) or increasing fair value by $113,000 (2011: $104,000). 

3 Controlled Entities 

(a) Controlled entities 

 
 

Country of Incorporation 
 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

2012 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

2011 

Subsidiaries:    
ITC (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand  100   100  
ITC Education Ltd Australia  100   100  
International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd Australia  100   100  
Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd (previously ITC 
Aviation Pty Ltd) Australia  -   100  

On 31 October 2012 ITC sold its 100% shareholding in ITC Aviation Pty Ltd (renamed Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd before 
sale). 

On 28 S eptember 2012 the directors of ITC resolved to deregister ITC (New Zealand) Limited. The Company was 
deregistered on12 February 2013. 

(b) Disposal of controlled entities 

On 31 October 2012, the Group disposed of its 100% interest in Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd. An operating profit of nil after 
income tax was attributable to members of the Group from the disposal and a loss of $195,000 for the Company. No 
remaining interest in the entity was held by any member of the Group. 

4 Revenue 

 Revenue from continuing operations 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Sales revenue
 

      
- sale of goods    299   391    299   391  
- provision of services    44,678   45,348    28,410   27,127  

 
 

  44,977   45,739    28,709   27,518  

Other revenue 
 

      
- interest received    916   1,091    638   659  
- dividend received    -   132    2,800   2,932  

 
 

  916   1,223    3,438   3,591  

Total Revenue 
 

  45,893   46,962    32,147   31,109  
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4 Revenue 

 Revenue from continuing operations 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Sales revenue
 

      
- sale of goods    299   391    299   391  
- provision of services    44,678   45,348    28,410   27,127  

 
 

  44,977   45,739    28,709   27,518  

Other revenue 
 

      
- interest received    916   1,091    638   659  
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From discontinued operations (note 34) 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

- Revenue from services     10,914   11,299    -   -  

- Other course fees    65   64    -   -  

- Other revenue    38   19    -   -  

    11,017   11,382    -   -  

 

5 Other income 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Sale of investment- Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd 
(previously ITC Aviation Pty Ltd)   200   -    200   -  

6 Expenses 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Depreciation       

-plant and equipment   839   947    296   375  
-computer equipment   398   327    358   305  

Total Depreciation   1,237   1,274    654   680  

Amortisation       
Other intangibles   161   76    103   67  

Total amortisation   161   76    103   67  

Total depreciation and amortisation   1,398   1,350    757   747  

Finance expenses       
-other persons/corporations   56   65    -   -  
-finance leases      -   4    -   4  

Finance costs expensed   56   69    -   4  
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 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss   -   2    -   -  
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment   (15)   58    (15)   (7)  
Rental expenses relating to operating leases 
     -minimum lease payments   5,717   5,966    4,839   4,803  
Net bad and doubtful debts expense/(income)   44   27    -   22  
Cost of sales   226   297    225   283  

7 Income Tax (Benefit)/Expense 

(a) The components of tax (benefit) expense comprise: 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Income tax (benefit)/expense 
 

      
Current tax    472   757    (880)   37  
Deferred tax    (1,107)   29    (836)   (149)  
Adjustments for current tax 
of prior periods 

 
  (214)   -    (214)   -  

Adjustments for deferred tax 
of prior periods 

 
  112   -    96   2         

 
 

  (737)   786    (1,834)   (110)  

Income tax (benefit)/expense is 
attributable to: 

 

      
Income tax from continuing 
operations 

 
  (807)   1,025    (1,834)   (110)  

Income tax from discontinued 
operations 

 
  70   (239)    -   -  

Aggregate income tax 
(benefit)/expense 

 

  (737)   786    (1,834)   (110)  
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 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss   -   2    -   -  
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment   (15)   58    (15)   (7)  
Rental expenses relating to operating leases 
     -minimum lease payments   5,717   5,966    4,839   4,803  
Net bad and doubtful debts expense/(income)   44   27    -   22  
Cost of sales   226   297    225   283  

7 Income Tax (Benefit)/Expense 

(a) The components of tax (benefit) expense comprise: 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Income tax (benefit)/expense 
 

      
Current tax    472   757    (880)   37  
Deferred tax    (1,107)   29    (836)   (149)  
Adjustments for current tax 
of prior periods 

 
  (214)   -    (214)   -  

Adjustments for deferred tax 
of prior periods 

 
  112   -    96   2         

 
 

  (737)   786    (1,834)   (110)  

Income tax (benefit)/expense is 
attributable to: 

 

      
Income tax from continuing 
operations 

 
  (807)   1,025    (1,834)   (110)  

Income tax from discontinued 
operations 

 
  70   (239)    -   -  

Aggregate income tax 
(benefit)/expense 

 

  (737)   786    (1,834)   (110)  

7 Income Tax (Benefit)/Expense continued 

39 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax (benefit) expense to prima facie tax payable  
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Profit from continuing operations before 
income tax expense   2,365   4,539    3,223   3,228  
Operating result from discontinuing 
operations before income tax expense   106   (820)    -   -  
   2,471   3,719    3,223   3,228  
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% 
(2011: 30%)   741   1,116    967   968  

Increase in income tax expense due 
to:       
Imputation gross up on dividends 
received   -   17    -   17  
Non-deductible expenses   189   145    171   87  

Decrease in income tax due to:       
Intra-group transactions   (27)   -    (1,316)   -  
Tax exempt income   (826)   (750)    (826)   (516)  
Non-assessable income   (25)   (5)    (22)   (840)  
Other deductible expenses   (7)   (9)    -   (2)  
Recognition of previously unrecognised 
tax losses   (714)   -    (714)   -  
Recognition of previously unrecognised 
capital losses   -   (124)    -   (124)  
Impact of tax consolidation   -   452    -   354  
Other   34   -    24   -  
Franking credits   -   (56)    -   (56)  

Income tax expense   (635)   786    (1,716)   (112)  

       
(Under)/over provided in prior period   (102)   -    (118)   2  

Total income tax (benefit)/expense   (737)   786    (1,834)   (110)  

(c) Unrecognised temporary differences 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of the following 
items:       
Temporary differences   717   716    -   -  
Tax losses   -   682    -   682  
Capital losses   529   368    529   368  

   1,246   1,766    529   1,050  
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(d) Tax expense (income) relating to items of other comprehensive income 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

\$ 
Changes in the fair value of 
available-for-sale financial assets 

24(a) 
  (27)   26    (27)   26  

 
 

  (27)   26    (27)   26  

8 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Cash at bank and on hand  
  21,264   22,206    12,803   12,999  

Petty Cash    8   9    6   6  

 
 

  21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents.  The Group’s exposure to 
interest rate risk is disclosed in note 2. 

9 Current assets- Trade and other receivables 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT 
 

      

Net receivables from related parties 
 

      
  -Subsidiaries 32   -   -    2,272   1,196  
  -University of Wollongong (c) 32   1,032   836    84   9  
External trade receivables    2,326   2,758    240   162  
Less: allowance for impairment loss (a)    (53)   (103)    (9)   (22)  

 
 

  3,305   3,491    2,587   1,345  
Other debtors    88   319    39   130  
Prepayments    995   733    315   246  
GST receivable    19   63    28   54  

Total current trade and other 
receivables 

 

  4,407   4,606    2,969   1,775  



7 Income Tax (Benefit)/Expense continued 

40 

(d) Tax expense (income) relating to items of other comprehensive income 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

\$ 
Changes in the fair value of 
available-for-sale financial assets 
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9 Current assets- Trade and other receivables 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT 
 

      

Net receivables from related parties 
 

      
  -Subsidiaries 32   -   -    2,272   1,196  
  -University of Wollongong (c) 32   1,032   836    84   9  
External trade receivables    2,326   2,758    240   162  
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  3,305   3,491    2,587   1,345  
Other debtors    88   319    39   130  
Prepayments    995   733    315   246  
GST receivable    19   63    28   54  

Total current trade and other 
receivables 
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(a)   I mpaired trade receivables 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on a 30 day term. An allowance for impairment loss is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that and individual trade receivable is impaired. 

 The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows: 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
0-30 days    -   -    -   -  
31-60 days    -   -    -   -  
61-90 days    -   -    -   -  
91+ days    53   103    9   22  

    53   103    9   22  

Allowance for impairment loss

An impairment loss of $44,000 (2011: $103,000) has been recognised by the Group and an impairment loss of nil 
(2011 $22,000) has been recognised by the Company for the current year.  These amounts have been included in 
the ‘other expenses’ line item on the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Balance at 1 January   103   79    22   23  
Impairment charge for the year   44   103    -   22  
Amounts recouped   (18)   (79)    -   (23)  
Amounts written off   (76)   -    (13)   -  

   53   103    9   22  

(b) Past due but not impaired 

Receivables past due but not considered impaired are $1,129,000 (2011: $1,560,000) for the Group and $228,000 (2011: 
$108,000) for the Company.  Management have undertaken a review of the current trade receivables listings and in their 
opinion they expect these receivables will be received 

The majority of the receivables in the 91+ days is from the Libyan government for sponsored students. These are not 
considered impaired as the Libyan government has issued formal advice that payment will be made. 

Other balances within current trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is 
expected these other balances will be received when due. 
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At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
0-30 days   2,176   1,931    2,359   1,237  
31- 60 days   105   400    53   13  
61 - 90 days   132   134    21   50  
91+ days   892   1,026    154   45  

   3,305   3,491    2,587   1,345  

(c) Related party receivables 

Receivables from University of Wollongong are non interest bearing and are on 30 day terms. 

(d) Fair value and credit risk. 

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the receivables. No collateral is held as security. 

10 Current assets - Inventories 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT       

At cost:       
Finished goods   85   152    85   152  
Less: write-down of net realisable value   -   (3)    -   (3)  

   85   149    85   149  

Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 31 December 2012 totalled $226,000 (2011: $297,000) for the 
Group and the Company $225,000 (2011 $283,000).  During the year ended 31 December 2012 the write down of 
inventories to net realisable value for the Group and the Company  amounted to nil (2011: nil).  These expenses have 
been included in the ‘other expenses’ line on the statement of comprehensive income. 

11 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Non-current assets held for sale       
Property, plant and equipment   127   332    -   -  
Intangible assets   398   -    -   -  
Other property plant and equipment   -   3    -   -  
Total non-current assets held for sale   525   335    -   -  
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At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
0-30 days   2,176   1,931    2,359   1,237  
31- 60 days   105   400    53   13  
61 - 90 days   132   134    21   50  
91+ days   892   1,026    154   45  

   3,305   3,491    2,587   1,345  

(c) Related party receivables 

Receivables from University of Wollongong are non interest bearing and are on 30 day terms. 

(d) Fair value and credit risk. 

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the receivables. No collateral is held as security. 

10 Current assets - Inventories 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT       

At cost:       
Finished goods   85   152    85   152  
Less: write-down of net realisable value   -   (3)    -   (3)  

   85   149    85   149  

Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 31 December 2012 totalled $226,000 (2011: $297,000) for the 
Group and the Company $225,000 (2011 $283,000).  During the year ended 31 December 2012 the write down of 
inventories to net realisable value for the Group and the Company  amounted to nil (2011: nil).  These expenses have 
been included in the ‘other expenses’ line on the statement of comprehensive income. 

11 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Non-current assets held for sale       
Property, plant and equipment   127   332    -   -  
Intangible assets   398   -    -   -  
Other property plant and equipment   -   3    -   -  
Total non-current assets held for sale   525   335    -   -  
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12 Non-current assets - Trade and other receivables 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Prepayments    145   175    145   175  
Loans to subsidiaries 32   -   -    2,219   3,129  

    145   175    2,364   3,304  

13 Non-current assets - Available for sale financial assets 

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets comprise: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
At fair value       

Shares- Australian unlisted       
- Education Australia Ltd*   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  

   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  

*Share holding ownership in Education Australia Ltd is 2.7% (2011: 2.7%) 

Education Australia Ltd owns 50% of IDP Education Pty Ltd, a company offering student recruitment and marketing 
activities to a number of universities.  

During the year there was no di vidend received from Education Australia Ltd (2011: $132,000) for the Group and 
Company. 

Available for sale investments consist of investments in ordinary shares and therefore have no f ixed maturity date or 
coupon rate. 

Shares - Australian unlisted 

Valuation assumptions 

The fair value of the unlisted available for sale investments has been estimated using valuation techniques based on the 
assumptions listed below, that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.  Management believes the 
estimated fair value resulting from the valuation techniques and recorded in the statement of financial position and the 
related changes in fair value recorded in equity are reasonable and the most appropriate at the reporting date. 

Education Australia Ltd – an estimate of the value of Education Australia Ltd taking into account projected earnings times 
an appropriate earnings multiple discounted by a factor to reflect the lack of marketability of these shares.  This earnings 
multiple was estimated based on a recent acquisition within the education sector. 

A reconciliation of the movement during the year is as follows: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Opening balance at 1 January   1,045   1,132    1,045   1,132  
Net valuation gains (losses)   90   (87)    90   (87)  

   1,135   1,045    1,135   1,045  
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(a) Available-for-sale financial assets comprise: continued 
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Valuation sensitivity 

Management has estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation 
models and has quantified this to be a fair value of approximately $1,047,000 (2011: $976,000) using less favourable 
assumptions and a fair value of approximately $1,222,000 (2011: $1,114,000) using more favourable assumptions. 

Liquidity risk 

Information regarding liquidity risk exposure is set out in note 2. 



13 Non-current assets - Available for sale financial assets continued 

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets comprise: continued 

44 

Valuation sensitivity 

Management has estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation 
models and has quantified this to be a fair value of approximately $1,047,000 (2011: $976,000) using less favourable 
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14 Non-current assets - Property, plant and equipment 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of 
the current financial year: 
Company  

  

Plant and 
Equipment 

000's 
$ 

Computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Leased plant 
and 

equipment 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Capital work 
in progress 

000's 
$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 31 December 2012        
Opening net book amount   657   650   45   8   -   1,360  
Exchange differences   (11)   (18)   -   -   -   (29)  
Additions   455   411   -   -   -   866  
Disposals   (138)   (2)   -   -   -   (140)  
Depreciation charge   (251)   (350)   (45)   (8)   -   (654)  

   712   691   -   -   -   1,403  

At 31 December 2012        

Cost   3,667   1,573   -   1   -   5,241  
Accumulated depreciation   (2,955)   (882)   -   (1)   -   (3,838)  

Net book amount   712   691   -   -   -   1,403  

 
Balance at 31 December 2011 

 

      
Opening net book amount   831   677   90   17   -   1,615  
Exchange differences   (5)   (4)   -   -   -   (9)  
Additions   168   273   1   -   -   442  
Disposals   (7)   -   (1)   -   -   (8)  
Depreciation charge   (330)   (296)   (45)   (9)   -   (680)  

Closing net book amount  
 657   650   45   8   -   1,360  

At 31 December 2011        

Cost or fair value   3,657   2,613   319   116   -   6,705  
Accumulated depreciation   (3,000)   (1,963)   (274)   (108)   -   (5,345)  

Net book amount  
 657   650   45   8   -   1,360  
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Consolidated  

  

Plant and 
Equipment 

000's 
$ 

Computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Leased plant 
and 

equipment 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Capital work 
in progress 

000's 
$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 31 December 2012        
Open net book amount   1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  
Exchange differences   (9)   (12)   -   -   -   (21)  
Amounts commissioned for use   9   -   -   -   (9)   -  
Additions   618   482   -   -   44   1,144  
Disposals   (69)   (6)   -   -   -   (75)  
Transfers to assets held-for-sale   (105)   (3)   -   -   (20)   (128)  
Depreciation charge   (824)   (390)   (45)   (8)   -   (1,267)  

Closing net book amount   1,516   740   -   -   24   2,280  

At 31 December 2012        

Cost or fair value   6,732   1,766   316   116   24   8,954  
Accumulated depreciation   (5,219)   (1,023)   (316)   (116)   -   (6,674)  

Net book amount   1,513   743   -   -   24   2,280  

 
Balance at 31 December 2011 

 

      
Open net book amount   2,450   702   90   17   223   3,482  
Exchange differences   (5)   (5)   -   -   -   (10)  
Amounts commissioned for use   223   -   -   -   (223)   -  
Additions   614   293   1   -   39   947  
Disposals   (57)   -   (1)   -   -   (58)  
Transfers to assets held-for-sale   (302)   (3)   -   -   (30)   (335)  
Depreciation charge   (1,027)   (318)   (45)   (9)   -   (1,399)  

Closing net book amount  
 1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  

At 31 December 2011        

Cost or fair value   7,051   3,157   316   116   9   10,649  
Accumulated depreciation   (5,155)   (2,488)   (271)   (108)   -   (8,022)  

Net book amount  
 1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  
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Consolidated  

  

Plant and 
Equipment 

000's 
$ 

Computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Leased plant 
and 

equipment 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
computer 
equipment 

000's 
$ 

Capital work 
in progress 

000's 
$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 

Balance at 31 December 2012        
Open net book amount   1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  
Exchange differences   (9)   (12)   -   -   -   (21)  
Amounts commissioned for use   9   -   -   -   (9)   -  
Additions   618   482   -   -   44   1,144  
Disposals   (69)   (6)   -   -   -   (75)  
Transfers to assets held-for-sale   (105)   (3)   -   -   (20)   (128)  
Depreciation charge   (824)   (390)   (45)   (8)   -   (1,267)  

Closing net book amount   1,516   740   -   -   24   2,280  

At 31 December 2012        

Cost or fair value   6,732   1,766   316   116   24   8,954  
Accumulated depreciation   (5,219)   (1,023)   (316)   (116)   -   (6,674)  

Net book amount   1,513   743   -   -   24   2,280  

 
Balance at 31 December 2011 

 

      
Open net book amount   2,450   702   90   17   223   3,482  
Exchange differences   (5)   (5)   -   -   -   (10)  
Amounts commissioned for use   223   -   -   -   (223)   -  
Additions   614   293   1   -   39   947  
Disposals   (57)   -   (1)   -   -   (58)  
Transfers to assets held-for-sale   (302)   (3)   -   -   (30)   (335)  
Depreciation charge   (1,027)   (318)   (45)   (9)   -   (1,399)  

Closing net book amount  
 1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  

At 31 December 2011        

Cost or fair value   7,051   3,157   316   116   9   10,649  
Accumulated depreciation   (5,155)   (2,488)   (271)   (108)   -   (8,022)  

Net book amount  
 1,896   669   45   8   9   2,627  
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15 Non-current assets - Intangible assets and goodwill 
 Company 

  

Goodwill 
000's 

$ 

Intellectual 
property 

000's 
$ 

Other 
Intangible 

Assets 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
Software 

000's 
$ 

Software 
000's 

$ 

Accreditation 
costs 
000's 

$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 

Year ended 31 
December 2012 

 

       
Opening net book 
amount 

  -   -   -   -   369   167   536  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   (2)   (4)   (6)  
Additions   -   -   -   -   (115)   158   43  
Amortisation charge   -   -   -   -   (37)   (66)   (103)  

Closing net book 
amount 

 
 -   -   -   -   215   255   470  

At 31 December 2012         

Cost   -   -   -   -   276   508   784  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   -   -   (61)   (253)   (314)  

Net book amount  
 -   -   -   -   215   255   470  

Year 31 December 
2011 

        

Opening net book 
amount 

  -   -   -   -   487   81   568  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   -   (1)   (1)  
Additions   -   -   -   -   (96)   132   36  
Amortisation charge   -   -   -   -   (22)   (45)   (67)  

Closing net book 
amount 

 
 -   -   -   -   369   167   536  

At 31 December 2011         

Cost   -   -   -   800   391   358   1,549  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   -   (800)   (22)   (191)   (1,013)  

Net book amount  
 -   -   -   -   369   167   536  
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 Consolidated 

  

Goodwill 
000's 

$ 

Intellectual 
property 

000's 
$ 

Other 
Intangible 

Assets 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
Software 

000's 
$ 

Software 
000's 

$ 

Accreditation 
costs 
000's 

$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 

  920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   (2)   (5)   (7)  
Additions - acquisition   -   -   -   -   293   291   584  
Acquisition of business   -   -   86   -   -   -   86  
Transfers to assets 
held for sale 

  -   -   -   -   (397)   -   (397)  

Amortisation charge   -   -   (10)   -   (151)   (87)   (248)  

Closing net book 
amount 

  920   -   76   -   498   405   1,899  

At 31 December 2012         

Cost   920   -   86   -   574   683   2,263  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   (10)   -   (76)   (278)   (364)  

Net book amount   920   -   76   -   498   405   1,899  

Year ended 31 
December 2011 

 

       
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 

  920   105   -   -   487   90   1,602  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Additions - acquisition   -   -   -   -   349   174   523  
Write off intellectual 
property 

  -   (105)   -   -   -   -   (105)  

Amortisation charge   -   -   -   -   (81)   (58)   (139)  

Closing net book 
amount 

 
 920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

At 31 December 2011         

Cost   920   -   -   800   836   409   2,965  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   -   (800)   (81)   (203)   (1,084)  

Net book amount  
 920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

 Amortisation charge 

Amortisation expense of $248,000 (2011: $139,000) for the Group and $103,000 (2011: $67,000) for the Company is 
included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation’ in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated to and are tested at the level of their respective 
cash generating unit, being International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd. 

International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd – the recoverable amount has been determined based on a v alue in use 
calculation using cash flow projections as at year end based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management 
covering a five year period. 

The pre tax, risk adjusted discount rate applied to this cash flow projection is 15% (2011: 15%). 
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 Consolidated 

  

Goodwill 
000's 

$ 

Intellectual 
property 

000's 
$ 

Other 
Intangible 

Assets 
000's 

$ 

Leased 
Software 

000's 
$ 

Software 
000's 

$ 

Accreditation 
costs 
000's 

$ 

Total 
000's 

$ 
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 

  920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   (2)   (5)   (7)  
Additions - acquisition   -   -   -   -   293   291   584  
Acquisition of business   -   -   86   -   -   -   86  
Transfers to assets 
held for sale 

  -   -   -   -   (397)   -   (397)  

Amortisation charge   -   -   (10)   -   (151)   (87)   (248)  

Closing net book 
amount 

  920   -   76   -   498   405   1,899  

At 31 December 2012         

Cost   920   -   86   -   574   683   2,263  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   (10)   -   (76)   (278)   (364)  

Net book amount   920   -   76   -   498   405   1,899  

Year ended 31 
December 2011 

 

       
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 

  920   105   -   -   487   90   1,602  

Exchange differences   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Additions - acquisition   -   -   -   -   349   174   523  
Write off intellectual 
property 

  -   (105)   -   -   -   -   (105)  

Amortisation charge   -   -   -   -   (81)   (58)   (139)  

Closing net book 
amount 

 
 920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

At 31 December 2011         

Cost   920   -   -   800   836   409   2,965  
Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment 

  -   -   -   (800)   (81)   (203)   (1,084)  

Net book amount  
 920   -   -   -   755   206   1,881  

 Amortisation charge 

Amortisation expense of $248,000 (2011: $139,000) for the Group and $103,000 (2011: $67,000) for the Company is 
included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation’ in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated to and are tested at the level of their respective 
cash generating unit, being International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd. 

International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd – the recoverable amount has been determined based on a v alue in use 
calculation using cash flow projections as at year end based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management 
covering a five year period. 

The pre tax, risk adjusted discount rate applied to this cash flow projection is 15% (2011: 15%). 
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16 Non-current assets - Tax 

(a) Balance of deferred tax assets comprise temporary differences to: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Unearned income   734   620    -   -  
Property plant and equipment   (65)   (174)    -   -  
Available-for-sale financial assets   (155)   (128)    (155)   (128)  
Leased assets   -   2    -   2  
Accruals   214   168    207   134  
Provisions   852   813    822   761  
Trade and other receivables   2   (39)    (11)   (37)  
Tax loss carry forwards   935   370    935   370  
Other   (9)   (92)    36   19  

   2,508   1,540    1,834   1,121  

(b) Movements 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Opening balance at 1 January   1,540   1,543    1,121   948  
Credited/(charged) to the 
statement of comprehensive 
income   995   (29)    740   147  
Credited/ (charged) to equity   (27)   26    (27)   26  

Closing balance at 31 December   2,508   1,540    1,834   1,121  

       

17 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables 
  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT 
 

      
Unsecured liabilities        
Trade payables    389   344    340   366  
Trade payables due to University of 
Wollongong 

32 
  1,538   1,699    788   1,056  

Payables owing to subsidiaries 32   -   -    25   501  
Non-trade payables and accruals    2,974   4,846    1,187   3,085  

 
 

  4,901   6,889    2,340   5,008  

 Fair Value 

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

 Interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk 

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in note 2. 
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18 Current liabilities - Provisions 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT       
Restructuring   5    -    500   -  
Liability for annual leave   1,8    1,964    1,827   1,896  
Liability for long service leave   2,5    2,143    2,580   2,143  
Onerous contract      65    -   -  

   4,9    4,172    4,907   4,039  

 Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Restructuring       
Beginning of year  - -  - - 
Addition  500 -  500 - 

Closing balance at 31 December  500 -  500 - 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Onerous contract       
Beginning of year  65 -  - - 
Addition  - 65  - - 
Write back  (65) -  - - 

Closing balance at 31 December  - 65  - - 

 

The current provision for the Group and the Company includes $2,297,000 of annual leave and vested long service leave 
entitlements accrued but not expected to be taken within 12 months (2011: $1,842,000) for the Group and Company. 

 Onerous Contract 

During the year ended 31 December 2011 the Group entered into a non cancellable lease for rental of aircraft hangar 
space in Cessnock. The lease was originally due to expire in September 2013. Due to the decision to cease operations of 
ITC Aviation Pty Ltd this was considered surplus lease space as at 31 December 2011. The lease was subsequently 
terminated in October 2012. 

 Provision for restructure 

During 2012, ITC and the University of Wollongong undertook a review of the structure and reporting lines of the ITC 
Group. Resulting from this review there has been a decision to restructure certain positions within ITC. A provision has 
been raised for known costs associated with this restructure. 
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18 Current liabilities - Provisions 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

CURRENT       
Restructuring   5    -    500   -  
Liability for annual leave   1,8    1,964    1,827   1,896  
Liability for long service leave   2,5    2,143    2,580   2,143  
Onerous contract      65    -   -  

   4,9    4,172    4,907   4,039  

 Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Restructuring       
Beginning of year  - -  - - 
Addition  500 -  500 - 

Closing balance at 31 December  500 -  500 - 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Onerous contract       
Beginning of year  65 -  - - 
Addition  - 65  - - 
Write back  (65) -  - - 

Closing balance at 31 December  - 65  - - 

 

The current provision for the Group and the Company includes $2,297,000 of annual leave and vested long service leave 
entitlements accrued but not expected to be taken within 12 months (2011: $1,842,000) for the Group and Company. 

 Onerous Contract 

During the year ended 31 December 2011 the Group entered into a non cancellable lease for rental of aircraft hangar 
space in Cessnock. The lease was originally due to expire in September 2013. Due to the decision to cease operations of 
ITC Aviation Pty Ltd this was considered surplus lease space as at 31 December 2011. The lease was subsequently 
terminated in October 2012. 

 Provision for restructure 

During 2012, ITC and the University of Wollongong undertook a review of the structure and reporting lines of the ITC 
Group. Resulting from this review there has been a decision to restructure certain positions within ITC. A provision has 
been raised for known costs associated with this restructure. 

19 Non-current (assets) / liabilities - Current tax (assets) / liabilities 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Income tax (refundable)/payable  - 6  - 6 

Total current tax liabilities  - 6  - 6 

 Income tax 

The current tax refund for the Group and Company of $698,000  (2011: $6,000 liability) represents the amount of income 
tax (refundable)/payable in respect of current and prior periods and that arise from the payment of tax in surplus of the 
amounts due to the relevant tax authority.  

20  Current liabilities - Other current liabilities 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Income received in advance   9,605   8,474    3,804   3,259  

21 Non-current liabilities - Borrowings 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Unsecured - at amortised cost (a)   660   704    -   -  

(a)   The unsecured loan with R. Vandersluis is to be paid over an agreed period and will accrue no interest. At 31 
December 2012 balance date the balance of the loan in the statement of financial position was $660,000 (2011 
$704,000). 
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 Financing arrangements 

The Group has access to the following lines of credit with the National Australia Bank and the Standard Chartered Bank in 
Dubai as at 31 December: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Floating rate       
Bank overdraft   750   750    750   750  
Lease facility   500   500    500   500  
Bank guarantee   250   250    250   250  
Credit card facility   300   300    300   300  
Margin on guarantee   75   -    75   -  

   1,875   1,800    1,875   1,800  

Used at balance date       
Bank overdraft   -   -    -   -  
Lease facility   -   -    -   -  
Bank guarantee   -   -    -   -  
Credit card facility   55   50    55   50  
Margin on guarantee   75   -    75   -  

   130   50    130   50  

Unused at balance date       
Bank overdrafts   750   750    750   750  
Lease facility   500   500    500   500  
Bank guarantee   250   250    250   250  
Credit card facility   245   250    245   250  
Margin on guarantee   -   -    -   -  

   1,745   1,750    1,745   1,750  

The lines of credit are secured by way of a Registered Mortgage Debenture over the assets and undertakings of the 
Group, including goodwill and uncalled capital and called but unpaid capital. 
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 Financing arrangements 

The Group has access to the following lines of credit with the National Australia Bank and the Standard Chartered Bank in 
Dubai as at 31 December: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Floating rate       
Bank overdraft   750   750    750   750  
Lease facility   500   500    500   500  
Bank guarantee   250   250    250   250  
Credit card facility   300   300    300   300  
Margin on guarantee   75   -    75   -  

   1,875   1,800    1,875   1,800  

Used at balance date       
Bank overdraft   -   -    -   -  
Lease facility   -   -    -   -  
Bank guarantee   -   -    -   -  
Credit card facility   55   50    55   50  
Margin on guarantee   75   -    75   -  

   130   50    130   50  

Unused at balance date       
Bank overdrafts   750   750    750   750  
Lease facility   500   500    500   500  
Bank guarantee   250   250    250   250  
Credit card facility   245   250    245   250  
Margin on guarantee   -   -    -   -  

   1,745   1,750    1,745   1,750  

The lines of credit are secured by way of a Registered Mortgage Debenture over the assets and undertakings of the 
Group, including goodwill and uncalled capital and called but unpaid capital. 
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22 Non-current liabilities - Provisions 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Liability for long service leave   968   1,054    932   1,013  
Restoration costs   135   137    135   137  

   1,103   1,191    1,067   1,150  

 Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Beginning of the year   137   138    137   138  
Effect of movement in foreign exchange   (2)   (1)    (2)   (1)  

Closing balance at 31 December   135   137    135   137  

 Site restoration 

In accordance with the lease conditions in Dubai, the Group must restore the leased premises to its original condition at 
the end of its occupancy.  Leased premises are renewed on an annual basis. 

A provision of $154,000 was raised on 1 January 2004 in respect of the Group’s obligation to remove leasehold 
improvements from these leased premises and is included in the carrying amount of leasehold improvements. This 
provision had a balance of $135,000 as at 31 December 2012 (2011: $137,000). During the year ended 31 December 
2012 the Group did not provide any further (2011: nil) for this purpose. 

Because of the long term nature of the liability, the greatest uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will 
ultimately be incurred. The provision has been calculated using a pre tax discount rate of 4.50 per cent (2011: 4.50 per 
cent). 

23 Issued Capital 

(a) Ordinary shares 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
No. 

2011 
No.  

2012 
No. 

2011 
No. 

At the beginning of the reporting period   2   2    2   2  

At the end of the reporting period   2   2    2   2  

Effective 1 July 1998, the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of par value shares and the concept of 
authorised capital.  Accordingly, the Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued 
shares. 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share, the right to dividends and are held by the University of Wollongong.  
There are no shares reserved for issue under option nor are any contracts issued for the sale of shares. 
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Capital management 

When managing capital, management’s objectives is to ensure the Group continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to its shareholder.  Management has no current plans to issue further shares to its shareholder.  
The Group currently manages issued capital of $2. 

Refer note 25 for dividends declared. 

24 Reserves and retained earnings 

(a) Reserves 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Reserves       
Available-for-sale reserve   971   908    866   803  
Foreign currency translation 
reserve   1,327   1,224    690   589  

Total Reserves   2,298   2,132    1,556   1,392  
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Available-for-sale reserve       
Balance at 1 January   908   969    803   864  
Revaluation 
increments/(decrements)   90   (87)    90   (87)  
Deferred tax liability arising on 
revaluation   (27)   26    (27)   26  
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(b) Retained earnings 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Balance at 1 January   11,005   10,874    8,586   8,048  
Net profit attributable to the Owners 
of ITC Ltd   3,208   2,931    5,057   3,338  
Ordinary dividends   (2,800)   (2,800)    (2,800)   (2,800)  

Retained earnings at end of the 
financial year   11,413   11,005    10,843   8,586  
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Capital management 

When managing capital, management’s objectives is to ensure the Group continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to its shareholder.  Management has no current plans to issue further shares to its shareholder.  
The Group currently manages issued capital of $2. 

Refer note 25 for dividends declared. 
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 Available for sale reserve 

The available for sale reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial assets.  Where a revalued financial 
asset is sold that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset, and is effectively realised, is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the 
reporting entity.  

25 Dividends 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Ordinary shares       
Final dividend   2,800   2,800    2,800   2,800  

The final dividend of $2,800,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011 was declared and paid on 23 May 2012.  The 
dividend was fully franked. 

The final dividend of $2,800,000 for the year ended 31 December 2010 was declared and paid on 12 May 2011.  The 
dividend was fully franked. 

No dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 has been declared or paid. 

 Dividend franking account   
 Company  

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$    

The amount of franking credits available for the 
subsequent financial year are:       
-franking account balances as at the end of the financial 
year at 30% (2011: 30%)   1,426   241     

26 Auditors remuneration 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Auditors of the company       

- The Audit Office of New South Wales       
- Audit of the financial statements   166,850   160,350    109,400   101,600  
Other auditors:       
- auditing or reviewing the financial report of 
subsidiaries   -   5,708    -   -  

- Total remuneration for audit and other 
assurance services   166,850   166,058    109,400   101,600  
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27 Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

 Names of responsible persons and executive officers 

The following persons were responsible persons and executive officers of ITC Ltd during the financial year:  
 

(i) Chairman- Non-executive director
Mr P Robson 

(ii) Executive directors
Mr V Lendrum- resigned 16 August 2012 

(iii) Non-executive directors
Mr G West 
Mr N Cornish 
Prof P Wellings- appointed 10 February 2012 
Dr BS Hickman- resigned 27 August 2012 
Ms R Sinclair- resigned 27 August 2012 
Dr S Routledge- resigned 27 August 2012 
Prof M O'Kane- resigned 27 August 2012 
 

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:  

 

 

   
Ms M Mastroianni Chief Executive Officer  ITC Ltd  
Mr I Tobin Director of Colleges  ITC Ltd  
Mr C Fierravanti Director External Affairs UOW  ITC Ltd  
Prof. Ghassan Aouad President of UOW in Dubai  ITC Ltd  
Ms Pamela Murray-Jones General Manager Marketing ITC and Director Marketing and 

Recruitment UOW- up to 16 March 2012  
ITC Ltd  

Ms V Bourne Legal Counsel/ Company Secretary- appointed 17 August 2012  ITC Ltd  
Ms J. Renwick Manager Academic Governance and Compliance- appointed 17 

August 2012  
ITC Ltd  

Mr A Slevin Acting Chief Financial Officer- appointed 30 August 2012  ITC Ltd  

 Transactions with key management personnel 

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non cash benefits to directors and executive officers, and contributes 
to a post employment defined contributions plan on their behalf. 
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 Transactions with key management personnel continued 
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(a)     Key management personnel compensation 

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Company and the Group is set out below: 

 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits   2,061,395   1,884,946    2,023,370   1,767,724  
Post-employment benefits   180,804   390,289    177,348   369,185  
Termination benefits   491,739   -    491,739   -  

   2,733,938   2,275,235    2,692,457   2,136,909  

(a) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 

The Group engaged the services of Dr. S Routledge in relation to various consultancy services in 2012 and 2011.   
Amounts were billed at normal market rates for services and were due and payable under normal payment terms. The 
aggregate amount paid in 2012 was $7,195 (2011: $11,600). 

A loan of $1,000,000 (2011: $1,100,000) exists at 31 December 2012 which is payable by the International Film School 
Sydney Pty Ltd (IFSS) to Mr R Vandersluis a former director and shareholder of IFSS. The loan was renegotiated during 
2010 and is now repayable according to an agreed repayment schedule. Because of the renegotiation, the loan was 
restated to fair value during 2010 and at reporting date the balance of the loan in the statement of financial position is 
$659,974 (2011: $704,098). During 2012 $55,876 (2011: $69,846) of interest was capitalised on the loan to reflect the 
restatement to fair value. 

28 Statement of cash flow reconciliation 

(a) Reconciliation to cash at end of year 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank and short 
term deposits at call, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents  at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows: 

  Consolidated Company 

 Note  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Balances  8   21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  

Balances per statement of cash flows 
 

  21,272   22,215    12,809   13,005  



28 Statement of cash flow reconciliation continued 
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(b) Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to profit. 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Profit for the year after income tax   3,208   2,933    5,057   3,338  

Depreciation and amortisation   1,568   1,538    756   747  
Net (gain) / loss on sale of non-current assets   (15)   58    9   4  
(Gain)/ Loss on sale of ITC Aviation   -   -    195   -  
Impairment write down   -   105    -   -  
Interest received   (1,026)   (1,091)    (638)   (659)  
Dividend received   -   (132)    -   (132)  
Interest paid - non cash   56   70    -   -  

Operating profit before change in assets 
and liabilities   3,791   3,481    5,379   3,298  
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other 
receivables   229   2,413    (255)   343  
Decrease in inventories   64   12    64   12  
(Decrease) / increase in trade creditors   (1,987)   397    (2,668)   1,423  
Increase in other provisions   714   307    786   298  
Increase (decrease) in other operating 
liabilities   1,131   (1,469)    545   241  
(Decrease) / increase in provision for income 
taxes payable   (704)   (170)    (704)   7  
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset   (967)   2    (713)   (173)  
Net foreign exchange movement in assets 
and liabilities   201   44    169   32  

Net cash inflow from operating activities   2,472   5,017    2,603   5,481  
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(b) Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to profit. 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
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Impairment write down   -   105    -   -  
Interest received   (1,026)   (1,091)    (638)   (659)  
Dividend received   -   (132)    -   (132)  
Interest paid - non cash   56   70    -   -  

Operating profit before change in assets 
and liabilities   3,791   3,481    5,379   3,298  
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other 
receivables   229   2,413    (255)   343  
Decrease in inventories   64   12    64   12  
(Decrease) / increase in trade creditors   (1,987)   397    (2,668)   1,423  
Increase in other provisions   714   307    786   298  
Increase (decrease) in other operating 
liabilities   1,131   (1,469)    545   241  
(Decrease) / increase in provision for income 
taxes payable   (704)   (170)    (704)   7  
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset   (967)   2    (713)   (173)  
Net foreign exchange movement in assets 
and liabilities   201   44    169   32  

Net cash inflow from operating activities   2,472   5,017    2,603   5,481  
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29 Capital and Leasing Commitments 

 Capital expenditure commitments 

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities: 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Intangible assets - software       

Payable:       
Within 1 year   125   -    -   -  

   125   -    -   -  

 

 Operating lease commitments 

Leases as lessee 

The Group leases buildings, motor vehicles and plant and equipment under non cancellable operating leases expiring 
from one to five years.  The leases generally provide the Group with a right of renewal at which time all terms are 
renegotiated. 

For buildings, lease payments comprise a base rent, which is subject to market review on a periodic basis.  For motor 
vehicles, lease payments comprise a base monthly amount. For plant and equipment leases, lease payments comprise a 
base amount plus an incremental contingent rental.  Contingent rentals are based upon changes in operating criteria. 

During the year ended 31 D ecember 2012 $5,883,000 was recognised as an expense in the Group’s statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of operating leases (2011: $6,208,000). 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows: 

 
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Commitments in relation to leases 
contracted for at the reporting date 
but not recognised as liabilities, 
payable:        
Less than 1 year    4,692   3,502    4,571   3,427  
Between 1 year and 5 years    2,813   756    2,813   756  

    7,505   4,258    7,384   4,183  

 Leases as lessor 

The Group has currently no lease agreements in place. 
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30 Assistance provided by Government entities 

During the year the University of Wollongong provided rent free accommodation to the Group and the Company in relation 
to space occupied in Buildings 36 and 39 on the campus. The Group and Company did meet all outgoings on the building 
during the year, including development and renovation costs. This contribution has not been recognised in the financial 
statements. All other property related transactions were on an arms length basis with the University of Wollongong. There 
were no other material assets or expenditure provided by or incurred by another government department or statutory 
authority to the Group or Company other than as disclosed in Note 32 (related party transactions). 

31 Economic Dependency 

The University of Wollongong in Dubai is dependent upon the University of Wollongong for use of the University’s name 
and the University’s course materials in providing education services, for which the Company pays fees totalling $456,000 
(2011: $428,000). In addition the Group engaged the ultimate parent entity to deliver course material for the Group's UOW 
College operations. Faculty fees of $98,000 (2011: nil) was paid to the ultimate parent entity for these services. 

UOW College is dependent upon student demand for the University of Wollongong, in order to attract students to its fee 
paying courses, and is a key source of qualified international students for the University of Wollongong, once students 
have completed their College preparation courses. 

External Relations and UniAdvice operate under a service level agreement, exclusively with the University of Wollongong. 
These operations were transferred back to the University of Wollongong, effective from January 2013. Refer also note 34. 

The Group is dependent on the University of Wollongong, as its sole shareholder, to provide financial support should the 
need arise.  The subsidiaries of the Company, being ITC Education Ltd, ITC (New Zealand) Limited and International 
Film School Sydney Pty Ltd are dependent on the Company as their sole shareholder or member to provide financial 
support should the need arise. The Company is committed to continuing to ensure each of the subsidiary entities has 
adequate cash reserves to meet all commitments as and when they fall due. 

32 Related Parties 

 Related Parties 

(a) Transactions with key management personnel 

The names of each person holding the position of director of the Company during the financial year are Messrs Mr N 
Cornish, P Robson, Prof P Wellings, G West, S Routledge, Mr V Lendrum, Ms R Sinclair, Prof M O'Kane and B Hickman. 

Details of key management personnel compensation are set out in note 27 to the financial statements. 

Apart from the details disclosed in note 27, no director has entered into a contract with the Company since the end of the 
previous financial year and there were no contracts involving directors’ interests at year end. 

(b) Transactions with related parties 

Parent entity and ultimate parent Company  

The parent entity of the Group is ITC Ltd and the ultimate controlling entity of the Group is the University of Wollongong. 

Subsidiaries 

ITC Education Ltd, ITC (New Zealand) Limited and International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd. 
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32 Related Parties continued 

(b) Transactions with related parties continued 
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Transactions with the parent entity 

The Company engages the ultimate parent entity to provide course materials, academic registrar services and other 
student services related to providing degree courses at the Company’s Dubai operations.  Faculty fees are paid by the 
Company to the ultimate parent entity for these services in relation to the Dubai operations, which amounted to $456,000 
(2011: $428,000).  

The Group also rents premises and uses services and facilities of the ultimate parent entity for its UOW College 
operations located in Buildings 30 and 38. These charges all are in the normal course of business and on normal terms 
and conditions.  

The Group enters into transactions with other entities controlled by the University of Wollongong. These include University 
of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited (URAC) and Wollongong UniCentre Ltd  

Transactions with subsidiaries 

The Company pays operating costs of ITC Education Ltd, including salaries and other labour related costs. ITC Education 
Ltd pays service fees at cost to the Company for salaries and other labour related costs provided by the Company. 

The Company incurs depreciation costs in relation to assets solely used by International Film School Sydney Pty Ltd, who 
incurs a service fee at cost to the Company for the depreciation. 

Receivables for and payables to subsidiaries are interest free and payable on demand.  

During 2011 the net receivable by the Company from ITC Aviation Pty Ltd was impaired by $779,009. Following the sale 
of ITC Aviation on 31 October 2012 the net receivable of $705,249 was forgiven. This resulted in a net add back of 
$73,760 for the Company.  

Transactions 

All transactions with other related parties are on normal terms and conditions. 

Transactions with other related parties  

The aggregate amounts included in the profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense that resulted from 
transactions with non director related parties are: 
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(i) Purchase of goods and services
  Consolidated Company 

   

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Sales of goods and services 
 

      
 Controlling entity    -   6,500    -   -  

Purchases of goods and   
services 

 

      

Department and faculty fees 
 

      
 Controlling entity    554,291   427,752    455,660   427,752  

Rent 
 

      
 Controlling entity    549,706   533,895    -   -  

Scholarships 
 

      
 Controlling entity    10,000   10,000    10,000   -  

Total expenditure (University of 
Wollongong)

 

  1,113,997   971,647    465,660   427,752  

Reimbursable utilities and 
services 

 

      
 Controlling entity    438,312   444,913    269,644   259,705  

Fees and charges 
 

      
 Entities controlled by the 
Controlling entity 

 
  20,714   59,397    4,174   50,063  

  
 

  1,573,023   1,475,957    739,478   737,520  

 The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties: 

(ii) Trade and other payables
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

        

Current receivables (sales of 
goods and services)       

 Controlling entity   1,031,856   835,869    83,630   8,649  
 Subsidiaries   -   -    2,271,614   1,195,435  

Non-current receivables (loans)       
 Subsidiaries   -   -    2,218,671   3,128,872  

Current Payables (purchases of 
goods and services)       

 Trade creditors       
 Controlling entity   1,537,741   1,698,504    788,384   1,056,021  
 Subsidiaries   -   -    24,662   501,175  
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33 Business combinations 

(a) Summary of acquisition 

On 11 May 2012, the Group acquired the assets of the Australian Family Homestay business, an operation which 
arranges accommodation for international students whilst studying in the Illawarra region. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Australian Family Homestay business as at the date of 
acquisition were: 

 

 

Consolidated 
2012 
000's 

$ 
Purchase consideration   
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired  86  
Assets acquired  86  
Cash Paid  (86)  
Good will   -  

 

 

Recognition 
on acquisition 

000's 
$ 

Carrying 
value 
000's 

$ 
Other intangibles  86   86  

Net identifiable assets acquired  86   86  

The acquired business contributed revenues of $74,000 and net loss of $61,000 to the Company for the period from 11 
May 2012 to 31 December 2012. 

No provisional accounting amount have been adopted 

34 Discontinued Operations 

ITC (New Zealand) Limited 

In November 2007, the Group decided to cease its Wollongong College operations in Auckland.  The College continued 
to teach out existing students until the end of June 2008. 

Expenses relating to the administration of the ITC (New Zealand) Limited entity have been excluded from the 
discontinued operations results. 

The company was de-registered on 12 February, 2013. 

ITC Aviation Pty Ltd. 

On 23 December 2011, ITC Ltd ceased the operations of ITC Aviation Pty Ltd 

ITC Aviation Pty Ltd was renamed Skywise Aviation Pty Ltd on 9 July 2012. 

The Company was sold on 31 October 2012 and the operations disposed of are reported in these financial statements as 
a discontinued operation. 
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UniAdvice and External Relations 

In October 2012, ITC and the University of Wollongong agreed that the UniAdvice and External Relations operations 
would transition across to the University in January 2013. As a result, these operations have been classified as 
discontinued operations for the company. 

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income are as follows. The comparative profit and cash flows from discontinued operations have been 
re-presented to include those operations classified as discontinued in the current period: 

(a) Financial performance and cash flow information 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Revenue from the rendering of 
services   10,914   11,299    -   -  
Other course fees and charges   65   64    -   -  
Other revenue   38   19    -   -  

Total revenue   11,017   11,382    -   -  
       
Net bad and doubtful debts 
expense (income)   18   (53)    -   -  
Employee benefits expense   (6,216)   (6,534)    -   -  
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense   (117)   (189)    -   -  
Project expenses   (24)   (531)    -   -  
Administration and site expenses   (1,531)   (1,891)    -   -  
Marketing expenses   (2,681)   (2,625)    -   -  
Other expenses   (360)   (379)    -   -  

   (10,911)   (12,202)    -   -  
Profit (loss) after income tax of 
discontinued operations   106   (820)    -   -  
Attributable income tax expense   (70)   239    -   -  
Operating result from discontinued 
operations   36   (581)    -   -  

Cash flow from discontinued operations 
       

 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 
Net cash inflow from operating 
activities   89   (401)    -   -  
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from 
investing activities   (151)   (515)    -   -  
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from 
financing activities   20   667    -   -  
Net increase in cash generated by 
the division   (42)   (249)    -   -  
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Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations 
 Consolidated Company 

  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$  

2012 
000's 

$ 

2011 
000's 

$ 

Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents   -   42    -   -  
Trade and other receivables   5   30    -   -  
Property, plant and equipment   -   117    -   -  
Intangible Assets   -   385    -   -  
Deferred tax assets   -   36    -   -  
Non-current assets classified as 
available for sale   525   335    -   -  

Total Assets   530   945    -   -  

Trade and other payables   (95)   (283)    -   -  
Provisions   (969)   (1,011)    (969)   (946)  
Other current liabilities   (127)   (227)    -   -  

Total liabilities   (1,191)   (1,521)    (969)   (946)  

Net Liabilities   (661)   (576)    (969)   (946)  

 

35 Subsequent events 

Other than matters discussed above, there has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the 
financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years. 

36 Contingencies 

There were no contingent liabilities for the Group and the Company at 31 December 2012 (2011: nil). 

End of audited financial statements 
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Wollongong	UniCentre	is	the	social	hub	of	the	University	of	Wollongong.		UniCentre	is	a	non-profit	
organisation	receiving	income	from	its	trading	operations,	and	using	these	funds	to	build	new	
facilities,	provide	services	for	the	benefit	and	welfare	of	its	members,	and	provide	recreation,	artistic,	
cultural	and	developmental	events	for	the	University	and	the	wider	community.

The	UniCentre	mission	is	to	create	services,	spaces,	and	activities	that	enhance	the	University	
experience,	funded	by	maximising	the	commercial	returns	of	our	business	operations.





Year In reVIeW
The Management and Board of UniCentre developed a new five year Strategic Plan in 2012, designed to support the UOW 
2013–2018 Strategic Plan. This plan was adopted by the UniCentre Board in October 2012, and was subsequently noted by the 
Wollongong University Council in February 2013. 

The Customer Service Index Survey was conducted for all UniCentre service outlets and tenanted operations on the Wollongong 
campus in 2012. An overall satisfaction rate of 83% was recorded, the highest result ever achieved in the 12 years of undertaking 
the customer satisfaction review. All UniCentre outlets achieved ratings above the 77% satisfaction benchmark, with a combined 
score of 85% satisfaction, which is again the highest score achieved in the history of the survey. 

UniCentre’s student engagement and social activity entity, the Centre for Student Engagement (CSE), continued to increase its 
reach across the campus community and beyond. The Clubs & Societies programs facilitated a high level of student engagement, 
with some 92 clubs or societies affiliated through CSE (an increase of 25% against 2011). Attendance at events held through the 
year totalled 41,906.

Significant student engagement was also achieved through the Good Life Series of Seminars, and the Students 4 Students 
Leadership conference, which engaged students from 12 Universities across Australia.

The Board oversaw decisions that ensure that the financial results continue to provide sustainability for Wollongong UniCentre, 
which recorded a modest operating surplus in the reporting period. These decisions include:

•	 The approval of the significant refurbishment of the UniShop, commencing in the fourth quarter of 2012, for 2013 operation

•	 The acquisition of an owner operated Boost Juice Franchise on the Wollongong campus, commencing operation in 2013.
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Our Vision
UniCentre to be a deciding factor in experiencing UOW.

Our Mission
Our mission is to create services, spaces and activities that 
enhance the University experience, funded by maximising the 
commercial returns of our business operations.

Goals to Deliver Strategies 

Aim 
UniCentre will strive
for increased campus 
engagement and 
support of UOW’s goal 
toward the top 1% of 
world Universities.

Goal 1. Student Experience and Engagement

Build strong networks of student engagement resulting in 7% year on year growth in Clubs and Societies 
with establishment of satellite campus clubs to a sustainable level for each campus.
 
Goal 2. Retail and Service Growth

UniCentre delivered retail and service provision on UOW campuses will be  exemplary leaders across
the Australian and International tertiary landscapes measured through local, national and international 
benchmarks (CSI, SEQ, ISB).

Goal 3. Business Transformation

Ensure UniCentre leverages and delivers against UOW strategy and �agship development opportunities.

Goal 4. Digital Innovation

Align ourselves with digital partners to embed  the latest digital technology to our UniCentre student 
spaces and services on campus.

Goal 5. People and Culture

Attract and retain quality people to support UniCentre in delivering its strategic outcomes.

Goal 6. Sustaining UniCentre 

Manage our operations, accreditation activity and business risk to ensure an ongoing and sustainable 
service provision is delivered to campus community.
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COMPANY STRUCTURE 

UniCentre Board of Directors

Work Health &
Safety Committee

General Manager

Children’s Services 
Consultative Committee

UniCentre Student
Engagment 

Advisory Group

Audit and Risk 
Managment Committee Services Committee
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Through 2012 UniCentre continued to provide high levels of services and support to the Campus 
Community.

Our vision: UniCentre to be a deciding factor in experiencing University of Wollongong (UOW).

Our mission: To create services, spaces and activities that enhance the University experience, funded by 
maximising the commercial returns of our business operations.

Through 2012 the Management and Board of UniCentre developed a new five year Strategic 
Plan supporting the UOW Strategic Plan.  This plan was adopted by the Board in October 
2012, and was subsequently noted by the UOW Council in February 2013. The UniCentre 
Strategic Plan is publicly available on the UniCentre website: www.unicentre.uow.edu.au.  

Achievements 

•	 A Customer Service Index Survey was conducted on all UniCentre service outlets and all 
tenanted operations on the Wollongong campus with an overall satisfaction of 83% - this is the 
highest result achieved through the 12 years of undertaking the customer satisfaction review.    
All UniCentre outlets achieved ratings above the 77% satisfaction benchmark with a combined 
average result of 85% satisfaction measured through the index – again a highest score record 
achieved. UniCentre managed Rush and Rush 2 topped the individual unit scores through 2012. 

•	 The financial results for Wollongong UniCentre continue to provide sustainability for UniCentre, 
recording a modest operating surplus.  

•	 UniCentre’s student engagement and social activity function - Centre for Student Engagement 
(CSE) again increased its reach across the campus community.  Not only increasing the number 
of people engaged in its activity on the Wollongong Campus, but spreading its reach and effect to 
the local community through programs it delivers. 

•	 UniCentre facilitated a high level of student engagement through its Clubs & Societies programs.  
There was a total of 92 Clubs and/or Societies affiliated through CSE – an increase of 25% against 
2011.  These clubs had 41,906 attendances at events held through the year.

•	 UniCentre facilitated significant student engagement to the campus community through: the 
‘Good Life Series’ of Seminars; facilitation of the ‘Students 4 Students’ Leadership conference 
engaging students from 12 universities across the country and high UOW attendances. 

•	 Children’s Services experienced consistent customer/children use measured through  
average utilisation. 

•	 The UniCentre Board approved the significant refurbishment of UniShop to commence at the end 
of 2012 for 2013 operation.

•	 The UniCentre Board approved the acquisition of an owner operated Boost Juice Franchise.  
Agreements and designs were signed off in 2012 for February 2013 delivery.

•	 UniBar had a number of well patronised band nights through the year – well supported by our 
student community.

•	 UniCentre worked through the creation and building of a Clubs & Societies Website and 
Database to take record keeping, communication and promotion to the campus community to an  
on-line platform.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chris Grange 
BA MCom
Executive Chair
Director since January 2005
Since 2005, Chris has been the Vice-Principal (Administration) of the 
University of Wollongong and Secretary to the University Council. Within 
the University, Chris is responsible for the Academic Registrar’s Division, 
Accommodation Services, Facilities Management, Financial Services, 
Personnel Services and the Innovation Campus. He has worked at the 
University since 1988 and was previously Director of Personnel and Financial 
Services.

Brian Ward
BBus, CPA, MBA, GAICD
Non Executive Director
Director since August 2002
Brian has extensive experience in both the private and public sector in a 
range of senior management roles.  As the principal of B Ward & Associates, 
Brian specialises in consulting services in the areas of corporate governance, 
organisational restructures, change management, performance audits, 
financial analysis and process, and business improvement. Brian is also an 
independent member of the Audit Committees of Wollongong City Council, 
Leichhardt Municipal Council, and Rockdale City Council.  Additionally Brian 
is the Chair of Rockdale City Council Audit Committee. Prior to this Brian 
held senior management positions with Parliament of NSW and Port Kembla 
Port Corporation. Brian is a University of Wollongong appointed Director to 
UniCentre. Brian is the Chair of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.    

Mike Gillmore
Executive Director, Company Secretary,
General Manager
Director since January 2009
As Executive Director and General Manager of Wollongong UniCentre 
Ltd, Michael’s responsibility is across the direction and accountability 
for UniCentre as a complete entity. Prior to this role Michael was General 
Manager for the UOW Accommodation Services Division for 4 years and 
before that worked in the Facilities Management Division since 1997. 
Michael’s experience before coming to the University of Wollongong was 
in the Hospitality and Support Services sectors providing hospitality based 
services to commercial organisations, major sporting/leisure venues as well 
as 4 and 5 star Hotels in Sydney and the ACT.
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Walter Immoos
Non Executive Director
Director since August 2010
Walter commenced his career in 1969 as an apprentice chef. He worked in 
various hotels through Europe in the kitchen until 1978. Walter attended 
hotel school in Lausanne, Switzerland & completed his hotel management 
diploma.  Walter has worked for nearly all major hotel brands including the 
Hilton, Westin, Sun International and Holiday Inn. He came to Australia in 
1989 to open Peppers on Sea Terrigal. Walter then converted this property 
to the very first Crown Plaza brand in Australia. In 1994 he then transferred 
to the Holiday Inn Menzies, which he converted to All Seasons Premier 
Menzies in 1996. In 2000 ACCOR bought the All Seasons group and hence, 
Walter commenced his career with ACCOR.   During that year the Menzies 
was the official family hotel for the Olympic Games.  At the end of 2005 
Walter transferred to the Novotel Wollongong Northbeach where he is today 
as General Manager. Walter’s interests include art, history, tennis and golf. 
Walter is the Chair of the Services Committee.

Ian Murray
Non Executive Director
Director since October 2010
Ian is an undergraduate student currently studying a combined Law and 
Commerce degrees. Since commencing his studies at the University of 
Wollongong in 2009, Ian has been an active member on university campus 
engaged as a member of several student societies and UniCentre clubs. 
Outside the University, he maintains a connection to wider community 
through his sporting interests and his involvement in numerous community 
groups. Ian brings to the board an enthusiasm for corporate governance and 
will ensure that UniCentre will continue to enhance the student experience 
at the University of Wollongong. Ian is a member of the Services Committee 
and Audit & Risk Management Committee.   

Theresa Hoynes
Non Executive Director
Director since October 2011
Theresa’s substantive role at the University is Faculty of Commerce 
Executive Manager and she has been on secondment recently as Senior 
Manager, Client Service in the Academic Registrar’s Division.  In the 
Executive Manager role  Theresa is responsible for Faculty services to 
students in five education centres across NSW and off-shore locations,  
ensuring administrative support for all core Faculty functions including 
student services, marketing, recruitment, teaching and learning support, 
research administration, policy, governance, strategic planning and 
performance. Theresa first joined the University as Senior Manager Policy 
and Governance in 2005. Theresa has been on the Board of UniCentre as the 
staff elected member since October 2011.  She has served on various boards 
for children’s services and not- for- profit organisations and numerous 
committees at the University. Prior to joining the University, Theresa worked 
in the health sector for 15 years commencing as a Social Worker and  moving 
into management then senior planning positions. Theresa completed her 
Masters in 2010. Theresa is a member of the Services Committee. 
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James Parrish
GAICD
Non Executive Director
Director Since October 2010
James is an undergraduate student in his fifth year of a combined Arts-
Law degree. James has lived in Wollongong all his life, graduating from the 
Illawarra Grammar School in 2008. James currently serves on the University 
Council, as well as also serving in previous years on the Academic Senate 
and Academic Senate Standing Committee. He is a graduate member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. James is a passionate member 
of the University community and continues to hold executive positions 
in a number of UniCentre clubs on campus. In addition to his university 
commitments, James is an articled clerk at one of Wollongong’s largest 
law firms, as well as also training as an Officer Cadet in the Australian Army 
Reserves. James is a member of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.   

Dean Young
Non Executive Director
Director since December 2010
Dean started his career working as a Trainee Accountant for a local council 
in the UK. He qualified as an Accountant in 1997, shortly after joining 
an Investment Bank in London as a Management Accountant. In 2002, 
Dean commenced his career in Property working for CB Richard Ellis as 
a Financial Controller responsible for the Europe, Middle East and Asia 
regions.  Having migrated to Australia in 2005, he joined AMP as a Divisional 
Finance Manager responsible for various Shopping Centres within Australia 
and New Zealand.  In 2006, Dean became the Centre Manager of a Shopping 
Centre in Sydney, before transferring to the Illawarra responsible for Dapto 
Mall.  At the start of 2010, Dean moved to Wollongong Central where he 
is today the Centre Manager for the GPT Group. Dean is also a Director for 
Destination Wollongong. His interests include all sports, primarily football, 
golf and tennis.
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Mary Youssif
B.Com, M.Stud.Accy, FCPA, ACIS, RTA 
Non Executive Director
Director Since August 2004
Mary has held various senior and executive positions within the Coal 
Mining and Chemical Manufacturing Industries for 15 years. She also 
worked for the University of Wollongong between 1993 and 2001 in Chief 
Accountant and Project Management positions. During that time she was 
the Vice-Chancellor’s representative on the UniCentre’s Children’s Services 
Management Committee. Currently she operates her own accounting 
practice locally. Mary has been a director on the Board of Community 
Alliance Credit Union (The Illawarra Credit Union) for the past 22 years and 
is in her fifth term as serving as Chairman of the Board.  During her time she 
formed and Chaired their Audit Committee, was on their Strategic Planning 
Committee for 4 years (Chair for one year). During 2010 and 2011 she was 
Chair of the Governance Committee and currently continues to serve on this 
committee. Mary is a member of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.  

Jo-Ann Fisher
Non Executive Director
Director since August 2007
Jo is the General Book Buyer for the UniShop.  She has been employed 
with the UniCentre since 1993. Jo has previously studied in Welfare and 
Librarianship. She has written articles for the Bookseller and Publisher 
magazine as well as submitting her short stories for various literary awards.  
Jo also has five children, four of whom have attended Kids’ Uni. Jo is also on 
the University of Wollongong Cares committee as well as being a member 
of Women on Boards. Jo is a member of Services Committee and Children’s 
Services Committee.

Matthew Greiss
Non Executive Director
Director since August 2010
Matt is a final year Law/Commerce student majoring in finance.  During 
his time at the University of Wollongong Matt has held a number of 
representative positions including as the serving Honorary Treasurer of the 
Wollongong Undergraduate Students’ Association and as a member of the 
UOW Law Faculty Committee for a number of years.  Outside of university, 
Matt has worked in Local Government for some time and currently holds a 
position within the Information + Governance division of Wollongong City 
Council where he provides support and advice in the area of city planning. 
Matt is a member of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
This statement outlines the Wollongong 
UniCentre Corporate Governance Practices 
that were in place throughout the financial year. 

The Board of Directors consists of six elected 
and six appointed directors, as provided for 
in the Articles of Association.  The elected 
directors are drawn from the staff and students 
of the University, and the staff of UniCentre. 
The directors appointed by the University are 
selected with regard to the Government’s 
guidelines for governance in controlled 
entities. The General Manager is the only  
Executive Director.

There were six meetings of the Board during 
2012. The number of Board meetings attended 
by directors is detailed below.

The Board is responsible for the overall 
Corporate Governance of Wollongong 
UniCentre including strategic direction, 
establishing goals for management, monitoring 
organisational performance and ensuring 
that stewardship frameworks are in place. 

The Board has approved a Corporate 
Governance Manual.  The document outlines 
in detail the Rights and Responsibilities of 
Directors, and requires that directors uphold 
the Australian Institute of Directors Code of 
Conduct.  It also states the requirements for 
ethical conduct within the organisation, and 
establishes a process for review of Board and 
Director effectiveness.  Directors are required 
to submit disclosure of pecuniary interests on 
appointment and annually.  Directors are offered 
external training and development activities, 
primarily through Australian Institute of  
Company Directors.

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.

 
 

 
Board 

 
Audit & Risk 

M'gmt 

 
Services 

 
 

Children's 
Services 

A B A B A B A B 
Chris Grange 6 6 - - - - - - 

Jo-Ann Fisher 5 6 - - 5 6 2 2 
Michael Gillmore 6 6 4 4 6 6 2 2 
Brian Ward 6 6 4 4 - - - - 
Mary Youssif 5 6 3 4 - - - - 
Matt Greiss 6 6 2 4 5 5 - - 
Ian Murray 5 6 4 4 5 6 - - 
James Parrish 6 6 2 4 - - - - 
Walter Immoos 3 6 - - 4 6 - - 
Dean Young 5 6 - - - - - - 
Theresa Hoynes 5 6 - - 4 6 - - 
Eloise Young 5 6 - - 5 6 - - 

 

DIRECTORS MEETING ATTENDANCE
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After the December 2012 Board Meeting, Ms Eloise Young resigned as an Elected Student Director, 
due to her completion of studies and subsequent graduating from the University.  The Board came to 
a decision to hold the vacancy open until coming elections in 2013, in accordance with the UniCentre 
governing articles. 

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
During the financial year a premium to insure directors and officers of the company was paid by the 
University of Wollongong, to the amount of $35,000 per S300 (1)g, 300(8) and 300(9).  The liabilities 
insured include costs and expenses that may be brought against the directors and officers in their 
capacity as directors and officers of the company.

	   Consolidated Parent 
	   2012 2011 2012 2011 
	   $ $ $ $ 
Revenue 17,704,616  18,333,082   17,704,616 18,333,082 
Operating Result for the Year 56,978     177,383          56,978 177,385 
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 9,593,824  9,416,441     9,593,824 9,416,439 
Retained profits at the end of the financial year 9,650,802  9,593,824     9,650,802 9,593,824 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The  Company’s principal  activities  are  
the operation of commercial activities on 
The University of Wollongong Campuses 
including Food & Coffee Services, Functions 
& Events, UniBar, UniShop, Child Care, 
Post Office and Student Engagement. 
 
AUDIT PROCESS
As a controlled entity of the University of 
Wollongong, the external auditors are The Audit 
Office of NSW and their agents. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee advises the Board 
on the external audit program and outcomes. 
As a part of its process the committee requires: 

•	 The attendance of The Audit Office of NSW 
representatives at meetings where their 
reports are considered.

•	 A formal sign-off from management to the 
Board, on the accuracy of financial position 
and performance statements.

•	 A procedure of absenting senior managers 
during Audit meetings.

INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK
To assist in the discharge of its responsibilities 
for the internal control framework the Board 
uses Internal Auditors KPMG to ensure 
compliance with internal controls. The 
current Internal Audit Plan provides for a 

schedule of reviews of the following topics:  

•	 Capital Works - Procurement and Financial 
Management

•	 Events & Venues Booking System and 
Micros Post Implementation Control

•	 Cost Allocation and Management Reporting
•	 Fixed Asset Management
•	 Human Resource Processes and 

Management 

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY
The Board has, under section 198D of the 
Corporations Act, defined delegations of 
authority to individuals and committees.  
These delegations are recorded in 
the Governance Manual and cover: 

•	 Property, Plant and Equipment
•	 Authority to Enter Contracts
•	 Staff and Organisation
•	 Operating Expenditure
•	 Financial Administration
•	 Sponsorship and Donation 

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Chief Executive Officer oversees a range of 
risk management strategies on behalf of the 
Board of Directors.  A Risk Assessment Program 
was conducted in 2012 and key areas of risk 
are embedded in quarterly reporting processes.  
Other specific arrangements include:
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•	 Review by the Board of the annual budget 
and quarterly financial performance 
reviews. 

•	 A comprehensive Insurance Program.
•	 Policies to ensure that capital expenditure 

commitments above a certain limit are 
authorised by the Board.

•	 Occupational Health and Safety  reviews 
of the workplace in accordance with the 
relevant legislation.   

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has the following advisory  
committees: 

•	 Services Committee
•	 Audit and Risk Management Committee
•	 Children’s Services Consultative Committee 

DIVIDENDS
Dividends are not payable by companies limited 
by guarantee, such as the Wollongong UniCentre 
Ltd as a company limited by guarantee.  Dividends 
have been payable by the UniCentre Conferences 
and Functions Pty Ltd to Wollongong UniCentre 
Ltd, but will cease with the winding up of this 
organisation and merging into the parent entity. 

STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes to the 
scope of operating activities of the UniCentre 
during 2012.  A range of service initiatives 
is discussed in the Review of Operations. 
 
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
There were no events subsequent to the  
balance date.
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
Currently no likely developments to report.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENT DECLARATION
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
as required under Section 307c of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 18.
 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
Subway Franchise Operation
Through the 2012 year, the UniCentre Board 
approved for management to explore selling 
the UniCentre operated Subway Franchise. 

Discussions have been held with the Franchisor 
representatives and lease arrangements are 
being negotiated with the franchisor. Formal 
marketing of the property has yet to commence 
and management expect this transaction might 
occur through 2013. UniCentre would revert to 
landlord of the space to the Subway Franchisor, 
with a licensed franchisee operating the business. 

Retail Services
UniShop achieved 98% text availability 
across Autumn and Spring sessions ensuring 
students had the right resources at the right 
time.   There were a number of significant 
achievements during 2012 with the approval and 
commencement of the UniShop refurbishment 
and good growth in the annual customer service 
feedback. It was a challenging year for our Post 
Office with declining need for postal items being 
replaced by online products. Diversification of 
product remains key to continued sustainability 
of this area.   Eleven clothing underwent 
a significant merchandise review closely 
aligning its product with UOW branding and 
sought a greater cross section of product to 
suit every customer.   Eleven’s (Clothing and 
Memorabilia) sales growth (up 24%) for 2012 
was attributed to new ranges of clothing and 
memorabilia being introduced into the store. 

Student Engagement 
UniCentre Centre for Student Engagement 
(CSE) witnessed unprecedented success with 
a 30% growth in Clubs and Societies with 
club member attendance across the year at 
41,906 over many programs. CSE volunteers 
tirelessly contributed a total of 1660 hours in 
2012. 76,995 people were recorded as making 
direct contact with the CSE Team. The Good 
Life Series pilot attracted 1503 students while 
the Annual Student 4 Student Conference 
raised $1,500 for its designated charity.    

Sponsorship and advertising through corporate 
stalls and involvement at O-Week in both 
Autumn and Spring session has continued 
to grow, as has on campus corporate 
promotions throughout the year.   This support 
continues to enhance the festival atmosphere. 
 
Employee Relations
The organisation also participated in three sets 
of enterprise bargaining group consultations 
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to reach agreement on workplace conditions 
across our business operations. Two of the three 
consultations were concluded and resulted 
in ‘Certified’ agreements with the third on 
track for early lodgement in 2013.   The WHS 
Committee continued to perform strongly 
throughout the year by conducting a full review 
of the Work Health and Safety Information 
Management System and maintaining positive 
jury and hazard management performance 
against previous years and against ABS data. 
As developed from previous Staff Satisfaction 
Surveys, 2012 was a strong year for employee 
consultation with a number of key projects 
influence across all levels of the organisation. 
 
Children’s Services
All services have progressed through the 
year to implement the new national Early 
Years Learning Framework. This framework 
is designed to assist staff with focusing on 
learning outcomes for the children who attend 
our services. The centre’s philosophy is that 
we have done our job if every child leaves our 
care with a sense of identity; with a sense of 
connection to their community; with a strong 
feeling of wellbeing; as a confident and involved 
learner; and as an effective communicator. 
 
2012 saw the implementation of the new 
Education and Care Services National 
Regulations. These regulations govern how 
child care services are to operate. For the first 
time ever our OOSH service (After School Care 
and Vacation Care) is included under these 
regulations.  During the past year each of our 
child care services were inspected by the NSW 
Department of Education and Communities. 
No breaches were found to have occurred. 
 
During 2012 UniCentre Children’s Services 
chose to a undertake review of menus, meal 
service and allergy management. This review 
was Conducted by UOW Smart Foods Centre. A 
range of recommendations have been and are 
continuing to be implemented. These changes 
to practise are to ensure that all children 
continue to receive nutritious meals that also 
meet NSW Department of Health standards. 
 
2012 saw the introduction of smart technology in 
UniCentre Children’s Services. Smart boards are 
in use by the children and staff in all preschool 
rooms and OOSH operations.  Smart interactive 

tables are in use with the toddler rooms and 
iPads are being used in the baby and toddler 
rooms. This technology has ensured that 
UniCentre Children’s Services remains at the 
cutting edge of education for young children. 
The parent survey achieved a 93% satisfaction 
rate for our Children’s Services. An International 
Student Parent Playgroup was established. This 
joint project between the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Division of UOW and UniCentre 
Children’s Services has seen a wide variety of 
families attend the playgroup which operates at 
the OOSH facility at Innovation Campus. UOW 
mature age parents accessed occasional care 
at the Kids Uni Centre’s during O Week 2012 for 
the first time. It is hoped that this partnership 
will continue to develop. UniCentre Children’s 
Services has been strengthening its partnership 
with the Faculty of Education through bi-monthly 
meetings regarding the Early Start Program. 

Events & Venues and Production Kitchen
The Micros Opera System implemented 
late 2011, underwent further refinement 
through the year to assist with accurate 
forecasting. As a result robust data can 
ascertain high versus low yielding food and 
beverage revenue areas and viable packages.   

Customer service and consistent delivery 
of events continues to be an area of focus. 
There is focus on ensuring the correct staff 
members are engaged with UniCentre, 
providing them with appropriate training and 
operational guidelines. Driving improvement 
through procedures and the initial development 
of services agreements in consultation 
with stakeholders is also a priority. The 
comprehensive implementation of procedures 
will see significant improvement in this unit. 

Quality Assurance
Through 2012 UniCentre retail Units (including 
Events and Venues and Production Kitchen) 
implemented an ISO 9001 Externally 
Accredited Quality System – accredited by NCS 
International (NCSI). Late in 2012 NCSI advised 
UniCentre that this first phase of certification 
was successful and through 2013 the balance 
of operational and management systems 
will undertake the certification process. This 
provides UniCentre operations with transparent 
and robust operating procedures – leading 



14

to more consistent operational outcomes 
for our businesses and our customers.    
 
Food & Beverage Units
2012 saw a mixed result for UniCentre’s Food 
& Beverage units. Our coffee brand “Rush” 
performed extremely well on campus with 
both sites performing stronger than budget 
than previous year while Rush at Marketview 
did not match the success on campus and 
as such, ceased trading in September. 
 
The Fuel concept continues to be popular 
with the campus community trading above 
2011 levels in its new location, further 
increasing revenue against the previous year. 
 
UniBar & Subway both returned slightly 
lesser net results compared with 2011. UniBar 
struggled to attract the performance line-up of 
2011, but in the end performed reasonably well. 
This combined with a slight downturn in daily 
operations resulted in a shortfall of revenue.  
Subway had a disappointing first half before 
building good momentum in the second half 
of the year thanks to an increase in catering 
business on top of solid day to day trade.    Both 
outlets managed their expenses well to ensure 
the net contribution margin percentage was 
not adversely affected by the softer revenue.  
 
Tenancy Operations
A number of new tenants commenced operations 
at the UOW Campus through the 2012 year. 
Okuma Sushi, Little Curry House and Roman 
Cave all commenced for the Autumn Session and 
performed well through the year. From a service 
perspective there was some improvement in the 
tenant group Customer Service Index and many  
increased their trading performance.

FINANCIAL OUTCOMES 
The financial surplus for Wollongong UniCentre  
Limited for the 2012 year at $56,978 ensures 
that the organisation remains a going concern.  
The operating surplus result was less than 
the 2011 results due to higher employee 
benefits and increased depreciation and 
interest costs, but also due to losses in the 
Rush CBD operation that provided services 
at the Marketview Accommodation operation 
in the Wollongong CBD.  UniCentre ceased 
trading this business unit in September 2012. 

Revenue from operations of $17,704,616 is below 
2011 due to reduced text sales from UniShop 
and the less than expected Rush CBD operation. 
The organisation’s balance sheet continues 
to grow moderately through assets (outlet 
fit-out type) which provide the business with 
the operating assets to continue to build 
operating returns in future years.  Combined 
current and long term liabilities are now 
reducing through down paying of the five 
year loan with UOW for the Building 11 
refurbishment, the ongoing costs of servicing 
this loan has been factored into future year 
budgets while the business continues to build.  
 
UniCentre’s food & beverage services 
experienced a good year however, our 
organisation’s retail cornerstone the UniShop 
continued to experience declining sales 
(predominantly through text adoptions from 
faculties). Our staff teams in that area work 
closely to ensure that all text adoptions and 
reference materials are available for the student 
community. It is expected that the refurbished 
new look UniShop will bring interest and sales 
activity.

UniCentre’s overhead costs for the 2012 
year were reasonably well controlled, with 
the exception of significant range of tenant 
expenses, additional furniture costs and 
leased computing requirements increasing. 
 
The Centre for Student Engagement, UniCentre’s 
significant link to the campus community, 
provided an improved level of services and 
activities while controlling their operating costs.
Children’s Services units did not perform to 
recent year’s levels with continued investment 
in staff/team building support through the year. 

The end of year financial performance for 
UniCentre, while not at budgeted levels lays a 
good platform for the organisation to continue to 
grow in coming years.
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Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 16th April, 2013.

David Rome  Michael Gillmore

Chairman  Executive Director

2012 Income Dissection

2012 Expenditure Dissection
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

In the opinion of the directors of Wollongong UniCentre Limited (“the Company”): 

 

1. The financial statements and notes, set out on pages 20 to 48 are in accordance 
with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance 
and Audit Regulation 2010 and Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
a. Giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the 

Consolidated entity as at 31 December 2012 and of their performance for the 
year ended on that date; and 

 
b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; 
 
and 
 

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 

We are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in 
the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 

Dated at Wollongong April 16, 2012. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

SIGNATURES 

 

 

David Rome        Michael Gillmore 
Executive Chair       Executive Director 
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012  

3

Consolidated Parent 

 Note
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
Revenue from continuing operations 3  17,704,616  18,333,082  17,704,616   18,333,082 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 4  (19,480)  11,151  (19,480)   11,151 
Raw materials and consumables used   (6,169,585)  (6,410,949)  (6,169,585)   (6,410,949) 
Employee benefits expense 5(a)  (8,358,216)  (8,261,174)  (8,358,216)   (8,261,174) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5(b)  (897,000)  (765,687)  (897,000)   (765,687) 
Other expenses 5(c)  (2,102,252)  (2,641,140)  (2,102,252)   (2,641,138) 
Finance costs   (101,105)  (87,900)  (101,105)   (87,900) 

Operating Result before income tax  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 
Income tax expense 1(e)  -  -  -   - 

Operating Result for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax  -  -  -   - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012  

3

Consolidated Parent 

 Note
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
Revenue from continuing operations 3  17,704,616  18,333,082  17,704,616   18,333,082 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 4  (19,480)  11,151  (19,480)   11,151 
Raw materials and consumables used   (6,169,585)  (6,410,949)  (6,169,585)   (6,410,949) 
Employee benefits expense 5(a)  (8,358,216)  (8,261,174)  (8,358,216)   (8,261,174) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5(b)  (897,000)  (765,687)  (897,000)   (765,687) 
Other expenses 5(c)  (2,102,252)  (2,641,140)  (2,102,252)   (2,641,138) 
Finance costs   (101,105)  (87,900)  (101,105)   (87,900) 

Operating Result before income tax  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 
Income tax expense 1(e)  -  -  -   - 

Operating Result for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax  -  -  -   - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2012 

4

Consolidated Parent 

Note
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

ASSETS        

Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 6  3,463,592  3,369,350  3,463,592   3,369,350 
Trade and other receivables 7  932,337  786,065  932,337   786,065 
Inventories 8  1,669,652  2,290,730  1,669,652   2,290,730 
Total current assets  6,065,581  6,446,145  6,065,581   6,446,145 

Non current assets        
Investment in subsidiary   -  -  1   1 
Property, plant and equipment 9  9,109,596  8,959,312  9,109,596   8,959,312 
Intangible assets 10  67,810  35,111  67,810   35,111 
Total non current assets  9,177,406  8,994,423  9,177,407   8,994,424 
Total assets  15,242,987  15,440,568  15,242,988   15,440,569 

LIABILITIES        

Current liabilities        
Trade and other payables 11  2,809,638  2,655,977  2,809,639   2,655,978 
Borrowings 12  440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 
Provision 13  905,860  776,885  905,860   776,885 
Other liabilities 14  209,614  183,773  209,614   183,773 
Total current liabilities  4,365,112  4,056,636  4,365,113   4,056,637 

Non current liabilities        
Borrowings 12  1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672   1,446,667 
Provisions 13  114,100  223,661  114,100   223,661 
Other liabilities 14  106,301  119,780  106,301   119,780 
Total non current liabilities  1,227,073  1,790,108  1,227,073   1,790,108 
Total liabilities  5,592,185  5,846,744  5,592,186   5,846,745 
Net assets  9,650,802  9,593,824  9,650,802   9,593,824 

EQUITY        
Retained earnings 15  9,650,802  9,593,824  9,650,802   9,593,824 
Total equity  9,650,802  9,593,824  9,650,802   9,593,824 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

5

2011 Parent 

Note

Retained
Earnings 

$
Total 

$
Balance at 1 January 2011  9,416,439  9,416,439 
Total comprehensive income for the year 15  177,385  177,385 

Balance at 31 December 2011  9,593,824  9,593,824 

2012 Parent 

Note

Retained
Earnings 

$
Total 

$
Balance at 1 January 2012  9,593,824  9,593,824 
Total comprehensive income for the year 15  56,978  56,978 

Balance at 31 December 2012  9,650,802  9,650,802 

2011 Consolidated 

Note

Retained
Earnings 

$
Total 

$

Balance at 1 January 2011  9,416,441  9,416,441 
Total comprehensive income for the year 15  177,383  177,383 

Balance at 31 December 2011  9,593,824  9,593,824 

2012 Consolidated 

Note

Retained
Earnings 

$
Total 

$
Balance at 1 January 2012  9,593,824  9,593,824 
Total comprehensive income for the year 15  56,978  56,978 

Balance at 31 December 2012  9,650,802  9,650,802 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

6

Consolidated Parent 

Note
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES:        
Receipts from customers   19,165,166  19,786,847  19,165,166   19,786,847 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (17,595,273)  (17,842,734)  (17,595,273)   (17,842,734) 
Interest received   183,544  194,772  183,544   194,772 
Interest paid   (101,105)  (87,900)  (101,105)   (87,900) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 23  1,652,332  2,050,985  1,652,332   2,050,985 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES:        
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment   -  455  -   455 
Payments for property, plant and equipment   (1,047,807)  (738,676)  (1,047,807)   (738,676) 
Payments for intangibles   (51,742)  (15,008)  (51,742)   (15,008) 
Net cash used by investing activities  (1,099,549)  (753,229)  (1,099,549)   (753,229) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES:        
Repayment of borrowings   (458,541)  (331,332)  (458,541)   (331,332) 
Net cash used by financing activities  (458,541)  (331,332)  (458,541)   (331,332) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash  and cash 
equivalents held  94,242  966,424  94,242   966,424 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year  3,369,350  2,402,926  3,369,350   2,402,926 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year  3,463,592  3,369,350  3,463,592   3,369,350 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

8

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Wollongong UniCentre Limited (the "Company") is a company limited by guarantee incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
If the Company is wound up, each 'member' is liable to contribute a maximum of $1.00 towards the costs, charges and 
expenses of winding up the Company and payment of debts and liabilities of the Company.  The address of the Company's 
registered office is Northfields Avenue, North Wollongong NSW 2500.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited (together known as the Consolidated entity). Wollongong 
UniCentre Limited has continued the operations previously performed by the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences & Functions 
Pty Limited. The subsidiary still exists at 31 December 2012. UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited has been 
dormant for the year with no activity.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Consolidated entity are providing services to students including 
childcare, entertainment, student engagement activities, retail and food services. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

These statements were authorised for issue on the 16th of April, 2013. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

Compliance with IFRS                                                                                                                   
The financial statements of the Consolidated entity and the Company do not comply with IFRS because the Consolidated 
entity and the Company have adopted the not for profit requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards which are 
inconsistent with IFRS requirements. 

Historical cost convention                                                                                                               
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except that the liability for long service 
leave is adjusted to net present value. 

Critical accounting estimates                                                                                                             
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated 
entity's accounting policies. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

8

(b) Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  The Company and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the Consolidated entity. The Company has one subsidiary only, known as UniCentre Conferences 
and Functions Pty Limited, whose financial statements are included in the Consolidated financial statements. 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited has continued the operations previously performed by the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences 
& Functions Pty Limited. The subsidiary still exists at 31 December 2012. 

Inter entity balances and any income or expenses arising from inter entity transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Consolidated entity.   

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated entity.  They are de 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the Company. 

(c) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

The Consolidated entity recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Consolidated 
entity’s activities as described below. The Consolidated entity bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i) Sale of goods and rendering of services                                                                                              
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Consolidated entity.  Revenue from rendering services is recognised when 
that service has been fully provided.

(ii) Lease income                                                                                                                       
Lease income from operating leases is recognised as income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(iii) Interest income                                                                                                                     
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues. 

(iv) Dividends                                                                                                                           
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) Interest costs 

Interest costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, which is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it 
accrues. 
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Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

8

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Wollongong UniCentre Limited (the "Company") is a company limited by guarantee incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
If the Company is wound up, each 'member' is liable to contribute a maximum of $1.00 towards the costs, charges and 
expenses of winding up the Company and payment of debts and liabilities of the Company.  The address of the Company's 
registered office is Northfields Avenue, North Wollongong NSW 2500.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited (together known as the Consolidated entity). Wollongong 
UniCentre Limited has continued the operations previously performed by the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences & Functions 
Pty Limited. The subsidiary still exists at 31 December 2012. UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited has been 
dormant for the year with no activity.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Consolidated entity are providing services to students including 
childcare, entertainment, student engagement activities, retail and food services. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

These statements were authorised for issue on the 16th of April, 2013. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

Compliance with IFRS                                                                                                                   
The financial statements of the Consolidated entity and the Company do not comply with IFRS because the Consolidated 
entity and the Company have adopted the not for profit requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards which are 
inconsistent with IFRS requirements. 

Historical cost convention                                                                                                               
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except that the liability for long service 
leave is adjusted to net present value. 

Critical accounting estimates                                                                                                             
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated 
entity's accounting policies. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

8

(b) Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  The Company and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the Consolidated entity. The Company has one subsidiary only, known as UniCentre Conferences 
and Functions Pty Limited, whose financial statements are included in the Consolidated financial statements. 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited has continued the operations previously performed by the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences 
& Functions Pty Limited. The subsidiary still exists at 31 December 2012. 

Inter entity balances and any income or expenses arising from inter entity transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Consolidated entity.   

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated entity.  They are de 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the Company. 

(c) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

The Consolidated entity recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Consolidated 
entity’s activities as described below. The Consolidated entity bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i) Sale of goods and rendering of services                                                                                              
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Consolidated entity.  Revenue from rendering services is recognised when 
that service has been fully provided.

(ii) Lease income                                                                                                                       
Lease income from operating leases is recognised as income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(iii) Interest income                                                                                                                     
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues. 

(iv) Dividends                                                                                                                           
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) Interest costs 

Interest costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, which is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it 
accrues. 
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(e) Income tax 

The operations of the Consolidated Entity are exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act (1997). 

The operations of the Consolidated Entity are exempt from payroll tax under Sections 10.1(k) and 10.2 of the Payroll Tax Act 
1971. 

(f) Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Consolidated entity, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance leases (note 9).  Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.  

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there
is no reasonable certainty that the Consolidated entity will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Consolidated entity as 
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 18).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal.  The interest components of the lease payments are expensed.  
Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred. 

(g) Impairment of assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other assets are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within interest bearing loans and borrowings in 
current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

(i) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount as this is not materially different to amortised cost,
given the short term nature of these receivables. Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts 
which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Debt forgiveness is recognised as the amount receivable as at the time the debt is forgiven. 
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(j) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to inventory on hand by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average cost basis. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all estimated selling costs. 

(k) Investments and other financial assets

Classification                                                                                                                
Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, 
or available for sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Designation is re evaluated at each reporting date, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss                                                                                    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in 
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 

(ii) Loans and receivables                                                                                                                
Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after reporting 
date which are classified as non current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the statement of 
financial position. 

(iii) Held to maturity investments                                                                                                        
Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that 
the Consolidated entity’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

(iv) Available for sale financial assets                                                                                                   
Available for sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of reporting date. 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date -the date on which the Consolidated entity 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Consolidated 
entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

When securities classified as available for sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the statement of comprehensive income as gains and losses from investment 
securities.

Subsequent measurement                                                                                                             
Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair
value.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' 
category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within other income or other expenses in the period in 
which they arise.  Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income as part of revenue from continuing operations when the Consolidated entity's right to receive 
payment is established. 
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(e) Income tax 

The operations of the Consolidated Entity are exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act (1997). 

The operations of the Consolidated Entity are exempt from payroll tax under Sections 10.1(k) and 10.2 of the Payroll Tax Act 
1971. 

(f) Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Consolidated entity, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance leases (note 9).  Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.  

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there
is no reasonable certainty that the Consolidated entity will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Consolidated entity as 
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 18).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal.  The interest components of the lease payments are expensed.  
Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred. 

(g) Impairment of assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other assets are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within interest bearing loans and borrowings in 
current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

(i) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount as this is not materially different to amortised cost,
given the short term nature of these receivables. Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts 
which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Debt forgiveness is recognised as the amount receivable as at the time the debt is forgiven. 
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(j) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to inventory on hand by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average cost basis. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all estimated selling costs. 

(k) Investments and other financial assets

Classification                                                                                                                
Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, 
or available for sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Designation is re evaluated at each reporting date, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss                                                                                    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in 
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 

(ii) Loans and receivables                                                                                                                
Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after reporting 
date which are classified as non current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the statement of 
financial position. 

(iii) Held to maturity investments                                                                                                        
Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that 
the Consolidated entity’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

(iv) Available for sale financial assets                                                                                                   
Available for sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of reporting date. 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date -the date on which the Consolidated entity 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Consolidated 
entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

When securities classified as available for sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the statement of comprehensive income as gains and losses from investment 
securities.

Subsequent measurement                                                                                                             
Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair
value.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' 
category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within other income or other expenses in the period in 
which they arise.  Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income as part of revenue from continuing operations when the Consolidated entity's right to receive 
payment is established. 
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Fair value                                                                                                                               
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the Consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use 
of recent arm's length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity specific 
inputs.

Impairment                                                                                                                             
The Consolidated entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss   measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and
loss -  is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through the statement of comprehensive 
income in a subsequent period. 

(l) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Owned Assets                                                                                                               
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Consolidated entity and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Generally property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a greater value than $5,000 are capitalised except for 
computer equipment which is normally capitalised irrespective of the $5,000 threshold where it is considered to be part of a 
network of assets. Other property, plant and equipment items will be capitalised if they are individually less than $5,000 in 
value only if they collectively with other items exceed $5,000 combined and form one asset item. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows: 

                                                2012                                2011 

Building improvements                      5 - 10 years                       5 -10 years                                              
Plant and equipment                        3 - 10 years                       3 - 10 years                                              
Occupancy contribution                    30 - 40 years    30 - 40 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
further future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

 (ii) Occupancy Contribution                                                                                                             
The Consolidated entity from time to time contributes to the cost of construction of buildings, their improvements and 
landscaping on land over which it has no security or tenure.  These amounts are accounted for in the statement of financial 
position as Occupancy Contribution, pursuant to an agreement reached with the University of Wollongong.  Occupancy 
Contribution is amortised over 30 - 40 years.   The Consolidated entity has the right to occupy these buildings for the life of
the asset.   
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(m) Intangible assets 

(i)  Goodwill                                                                                                                             
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Consolidated entity's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 
impaired.  

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.   

(ii)  Establishment costs                                                                                                                 
Establishment costs are those costs for the formation of the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited.  
Establishment costs are amortised over a period of 5 years.   

(iii)  Software                                                                                                                            
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to 
future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems. 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years. 

(n) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which is considered to approximate amortised cost due to their short term 
nature and are recognised when the Consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the 
purchase of goods and services. 

(o) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual draw down of the 
facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the facility. 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in other income or other expenses. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Consolidated entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date and does not expect to settle the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Consolidated entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date.  The pre tax discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision resulting
from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. 
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Fair value                                                                                                                               
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the Consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use 
of recent arm's length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity specific 
inputs.

Impairment                                                                                                                             
The Consolidated entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss   measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and
loss -  is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through the statement of comprehensive 
income in a subsequent period. 

(l) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Owned Assets                                                                                                               
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Consolidated entity and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Generally property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a greater value than $5,000 are capitalised except for 
computer equipment which is normally capitalised irrespective of the $5,000 threshold where it is considered to be part of a 
network of assets. Other property, plant and equipment items will be capitalised if they are individually less than $5,000 in 
value only if they collectively with other items exceed $5,000 combined and form one asset item. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows: 

                                                2012                                2011 

Building improvements                      5 - 10 years                       5 -10 years                                              
Plant and equipment                        3 - 10 years                       3 - 10 years                                              
Occupancy contribution                    30 - 40 years    30 - 40 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
further future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

 (ii) Occupancy Contribution                                                                                                             
The Consolidated entity from time to time contributes to the cost of construction of buildings, their improvements and 
landscaping on land over which it has no security or tenure.  These amounts are accounted for in the statement of financial 
position as Occupancy Contribution, pursuant to an agreement reached with the University of Wollongong.  Occupancy 
Contribution is amortised over 30 - 40 years.   The Consolidated entity has the right to occupy these buildings for the life of
the asset.   
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(m) Intangible assets 

(i)  Goodwill                                                                                                                             
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Consolidated entity's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 
impaired.  

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.   

(ii)  Establishment costs                                                                                                                 
Establishment costs are those costs for the formation of the subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited.  
Establishment costs are amortised over a period of 5 years.   

(iii)  Software                                                                                                                            
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to 
future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems. 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years. 

(n) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which is considered to approximate amortised cost due to their short term 
nature and are recognised when the Consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the 
purchase of goods and services. 

(o) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual draw down of the 
facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the facility. 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in other income or other expenses. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Consolidated entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date and does not expect to settle the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Consolidated entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date.  The pre tax discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision resulting
from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. 
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(q) Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave                                                                                                    
Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non monetary benefits) and annual leave that are due to be settled within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are 
classified as a current liability, unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting date, in which case it would be classified as a non current liability. 

Long term annual leave that is not expected to be taken within twelve months is measured at present value in accordance 
with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

(ii) Long service leave                                                                                                                   
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and 
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attached to national government 
securities at reporting date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.  Leave is charged to the
provision at the time leave is taken. 

(iii) Superannuation entitlements                                                                                                        
Contributions to employee superannuation funds are charged against income as incurred. The Consolidated entity is under 
no legal obligation to make up any shortfall in the funds' assets to meet payments due to employees. 

(r) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position.  

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

(s) New accounting standards and interpretations 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2012 
reporting periods and have not yet been applied to the financial statements. The Consolidated entity's assessment of the 
impact of these new standards and interpretations is that they will not materially affect any of the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements or significantly impact the disclosures in the financial statement or significantly impact the disclosures in 
relation to the consolidated entity. 
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2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Consolidated entity's principal financial instruments comprise cash, investments, receivables and payables. 

The Consolidated entity manages its exposure to the following financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk relating to interest rate and equity risk in accordance with the Consolidated entity's financial risk management policy. 
The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Consolidated entity's financial targets whilst protecting future 
financial security.  

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  The Board has 
established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk 
management policies.  The Committee reports to the Board on its activities.   

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that indebted counter parties will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss 
to the consolidated entity. Credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  The majority of the consolidated entity's business is
conducted by cash or EFTPOS, and consequently the level of credit risk is low.  In addition, the majority of trade and other 
debtors are with related entities.  The consolidated entity does not require collateral in respect of financial assets. Trade and
other receivables that are neither past due or impaired are considered to be of high credit quality. Aggregates of such 
amounts are as detailed in Note 7. 

Investments are allowed only in liquid securities.  All funds invested are invested with the National Australia Bank and Man 
Investments Australia   Man OM IP fund.  The Man OM IP funds are designed to provide a high degree of independence 
from the performance of traditional asset classes in rising and falling markets, while providing the security of a capital 
guarantee and rising guarantee provided by either Westpac, National Australia Bank or Commonwealth Bank of Australia.  

The weighted average interest rate on interest earned by the Consolidated entity is 3.67% (2011: 4.66%). 

At reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of 
recognised financial assets is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net of any 
provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. Details with respect to credit risk of trade and other 
receivables are provided in Note 7.   
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(c) Market risk

i. Foreign currency risk                                                                                                                  
The Consolidated entity's only exposure to foreign currency risk is in relation to purchases of UniShop stock from overseas.  
These purchases are normally each less than $1,000 and in total are not material to the operations of UniShop as an 
individual business unit or to the Consolidated Entity.  Sale price of these goods is set after the goods are paid for, thus the
Australian Dollar amount is known, effectively passing on any foreign exchange cost or benefit to the customer.

ii. Price risk                                                                                                                             
The Consolidated entity and the parent entity maybe exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises from investments 
that may be held by the Consolidated entity and classified on the statement of financial position as fair value through profit or
loss.   At reporting date, the value of the securities was nil (2011: $nil).  Neither the Consolidated entity nor the parent 
entity are exposed to commodity price risk.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, investments held by the Consolidated entity are 
diversified. 

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk                                                                                            
Interest Rate Risk is limited to interest on the balance of the National Australia Bank accounts, shown as cash and cash 
equivalents in Note 6.  The forecast at the end of 2012 is an increase or decrease of 1% based on the current Reserve 
Bank of Australia cash rate of 3.00%. The Consolidated entity's trade and other receivables are non interest bearing and all 
related party loans and receivables are interest free.  Interest rates on Commercial Hire Purchase finance are fixed at the 
time of drawdown of each individual loan within the umbrella facility.  The Consolidated entity's trade and other payables are 
non interest bearing.

(iv) Summarised sensitivity analysis                                                                                                      
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Consolidated entity’s financial assets and financial liabilities to interest
rate risk and price risk. 

31 December 2012 Interest rate risk Price risk 
-1% +1% -1.304% +1.304% 

Carrying 
amount 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity

$

Financial assets          
Cash and Cash Equivalents  3,463,592  (34,636)  (34,636)  34,636  34,636  -   -   -  - 
Accounts receivable  932,337  -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 

Financial liabilities          
Trade payables  2,809,638  -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Current borrowings  440,000  -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Non-current borrowings  1,006,672  -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Other financial liabilities  91,442  -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Total increase/(decrease)  (34,636)  (34,636)  34,636  34,636  -   -   -  - 
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(b) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The Consolidated 
entity manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities.  

Maturities of financial liabilities                                                                                                     
The tables below analyse the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual 
maturities for all non derivative financial liabilities. 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.  For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been 
estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of each reporting period.  
 

Parent and Consolidated - 31 December 2012 
         

 

Average 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Variable 
Interest Rate

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate 

$ 

Less than 
1 Year  

$ 

1 to 5 
Years  

$ 

5+ 
Years 

$ 

Non 
Interest  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Financial assets         
Cash and cash equivalents  3.67%   3,463,592  -  3,463,592  -   -   -  3,463,592 
Receivables  -   -  -  903,131  -   -   -  903,131 

Total financial assets  3.67%   3,463,592  -  4,366,723  -   -   -  4,366,723 

Financial liabilities         
Payables  -   -  -  2,804,512  -   -   -  2,804,512 
Borrowings- Uni of Wollongong  6%   -  1,446,672  440,000  1,006,672   -   -  1,446,672 
Borrowings- Dep of Health and 
Ageing  -   -  -  18,000  61,500   -   79,500  79,500 

Total financial liabilities  6%   -  1,446,672  3,262,512  1,068,172   -   79,500  4,330,684 

 

Parent and Consolidated - 31 December 2011 
         

 

Average 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Variable 
Interest Rate

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate 

$ 

Less than 
1 Year  

$ 

1 to 5 
Years  

$ 

5+ 
Years 

$ 

Non 
Interest  

$ 
Total  

$ 

Financial assets         
Cash and cash equivalents  4.66%   3,369,350  -  3,369,350  -   -   -  3,369,350 
Receivables  -   -  -  740,719  -   -   -  740,719 

Total financial assets  4.66%   3,369,350  -  4,110,069  -   -   -  4,155,415 

Financial liabilities         
Payables  -   -  -  2,655,977  -   -   -  2,655,977 
Borrowings- Uni of Wollongong  6%   -  1,886,668  440,001  1,446,667   -   -  1,886,668 
Borrowings- Dep of Health and 
Ageing  -   -  -  18,000  80,045   -   98,045  98,045 

Total financial liabilities  6%   -  1,886,668  3,113,978  1,526,712   -   98,045  4,640,690 
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The Consolidated entity and the parent entity maybe exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises from investments 
that may be held by the Consolidated entity and classified on the statement of financial position as fair value through profit or
loss.   At reporting date, the value of the securities was nil (2011: $nil).  Neither the Consolidated entity nor the parent 
entity are exposed to commodity price risk.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, investments held by the Consolidated entity are 
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Interest Rate Risk is limited to interest on the balance of the National Australia Bank accounts, shown as cash and cash 
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-1% +1% -1.304% +1.304% 

Carrying 
amount 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity

$
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Interest 

Rate 
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Variable 
Interest Rate
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Fixed Interest 
Rate 
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1 Year  
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1 to 5 
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Years 
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Non 
Interest  

$ 
Total 
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Average 
Interest 

Rate 
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Variable 
Interest Rate
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1 Year  
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Total  
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31 December 2011 Interest rate risk Price risk 
-1% +1% -1.304% +1.304% 

Carrying 
amount 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$

Financial assets          
Cash and Cash Equivalents  3,369,350   (33,693)  (33,693)  33,693  33,693  -   -   -  - 
Accounts receivable  752,820   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 

Financial liabilities          
Trade payables  2,655,977   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Current borrowings  440,001   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Non-current borrowings  1,446,667   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Other financial liabilities  123,884   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
Total increase/(decrease)  (33,693)  (33,693)  33,693  33,693  -   -   -  - 

3 Revenue

From continuing operations 

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

Sales revenue       
- sale of goods   12,217,582  12,835,280  12,217,582   12,835,280 
- provision of services   4,314,453  4,343,032  4,314,453   4,343,032 

 16,532,035  17,178,312  16,532,035   17,178,312 

Other revenue       
- interest   183,544  194,772  183,544   194,772 
- Rental income   804,037  724,997  804,037   724,997 
- Grants received  - related parties   185,000  235,001  185,000   235,001 

 1,172,581  1,154,770  1,172,581   1,154,770 

 17,704,616  18,333,082  17,704,616   18,333,082 

4 Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets
      

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets  (19,566)  455  (19,566)   455 
Other income 86 10,696 86  10,696 

(19,480) 11,151 (19,480)  11,151 
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5 Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Wages and salaries  7,040,439  6,965,338  7,040,439   6,965,338 
Annual leave expense  576,479  387,028  576,479   387,028 
Long service leave expense  (6,372)  127,558  (6,372)   127,558 
Superannuation contributions  602,459  579,159  602,459   579,159 
Workers compensation expense  83,201  140,571  83,201   140,571 
Other employee benefits  62,010  61,520  62,010   61,520 

 8,358,216  8,261,174  8,358,216   8,261,174 

(b) Depreciation and Amortisation 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Building improvements  335,898  280,191  335,898   280,191 
Plant and equipment  231,872  191,565  231,872   191,565 
Computer equipment  1,192  1,192  1,192   1,192 

Total Depreciation  568,962  472,948  568,962   472,948 

Amortisation       
      Occupancy contribution  308,995  292,739  308,995   292,739 
      Goodwill  2,681  -  2,681   - 
      Computer software  16,362  -  16,362   - 

Total amortisation  328,038  292,739  328,038   292,739 

Total depreciation and amortisation 897,000 765,687 897,000  765,687 

(c) Other expenses 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Consultant fees  251,593  242,925  251,593   242,925 
Maintenance  187,150  279,042  187,150   279,042 
Advertising & Promotional  72,908  117,309  72,908   117,309 
Computer Rental  105,283  100,813  105,283   100,813 
Room hire discount  182  79,052  182   79,052 
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Profit

$
Equity 
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Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
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$
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$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
Profit

$
Equity 

$
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Accounts receivable  752,820   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
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Non-current borrowings  1,446,667   -  -  -  -  -   -   -  - 
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2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

Sales revenue       
- sale of goods   12,217,582  12,835,280  12,217,582   12,835,280 
- provision of services   4,314,453  4,343,032  4,314,453   4,343,032 

 16,532,035  17,178,312  16,532,035   17,178,312 

Other revenue       
- interest   183,544  194,772  183,544   194,772 
- Rental income   804,037  724,997  804,037   724,997 
- Grants received  - related parties   185,000  235,001  185,000   235,001 

 1,172,581  1,154,770  1,172,581   1,154,770 

 17,704,616  18,333,082  17,704,616   18,333,082 

4 Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets
      

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets  (19,566)  455  (19,566)   455 
Other income 86 10,696 86  10,696 

(19,480) 11,151 (19,480)  11,151 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
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5 Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Wages and salaries  7,040,439  6,965,338  7,040,439   6,965,338 
Annual leave expense  576,479  387,028  576,479   387,028 
Long service leave expense  (6,372)  127,558  (6,372)   127,558 
Superannuation contributions  602,459  579,159  602,459   579,159 
Workers compensation expense  83,201  140,571  83,201   140,571 
Other employee benefits  62,010  61,520  62,010   61,520 

 8,358,216  8,261,174  8,358,216   8,261,174 

(b) Depreciation and Amortisation 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Building improvements  335,898  280,191  335,898   280,191 
Plant and equipment  231,872  191,565  231,872   191,565 
Computer equipment  1,192  1,192  1,192   1,192 

Total Depreciation  568,962  472,948  568,962   472,948 

Amortisation       
      Occupancy contribution  308,995  292,739  308,995   292,739 
      Goodwill  2,681  -  2,681   - 
      Computer software  16,362  -  16,362   - 

Total amortisation  328,038  292,739  328,038   292,739 

Total depreciation and amortisation 897,000 765,687 897,000  765,687 

(c) Other expenses 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Consultant fees  251,593  242,925  251,593   242,925 
Maintenance  187,150  279,042  187,150   279,042 
Advertising & Promotional  72,908  117,309  72,908   117,309 
Computer Rental  105,283  100,813  105,283   100,813 
Room hire discount  182  79,052  182   79,052 
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auditing or reviewing the financial report  72,200  59,700  72,200   59,700 
Security  55,902  85,369  55,902   85,369 
Other  1,357,034  1,676,930  1,357,034   1,676,928 

 2,102,252  2,641,140  2,102,252   2,641,138 

6 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Cash at bank and in hand  3,463,592  3,369,350  3,463,592   3,369,350 

7 Current assets - Trade and other receivables
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Trade receivables   926,957  752,820  926,957   752,820 
Provision for impairment (a)  (23,826)  (12,101)  (23,826)   (12,101) 

Sub - Total  903,131  740,719  903,131   740,719 
Prepayments   29,206  35,837  29,206   35,837 
GST receivable   -  9,509  -   9,509 

Total current trade and other 
receivables  932,337  786,065  932,337   786,065 

(a) Impaired trade receivables

As at 31 December 2012 current trade receivables of the Consolidated entity with a nominal value of  $342,839 (2011: 
$187,076) were past due.  Of this past due amount, $23,826 (2011: $12,101) was considered impaired and provided for. 
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to wholesalers, which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations. 

The ageing of these receivables is as follows: 
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Over 6 months  23,826  12,101  23,826   12,101 
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As of 31 December 2012, trade receivables of $319,013 (2011: $174,975) were past due but not impaired.  These relate to 
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.  The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows. 

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
1 to 3 months  142,969  87,637  142,969   87,637 
3 to 6 months  135,805  55,400  135,805   55,400 
Over 6 months  40,239  31,938  40,239   31,938 

 319,013  174,975  319,013   174,975 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
       

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
At 1 January  (12,101)  (4,322)  (12,101)   (4,322) 
Provision for impairment recognised 
during the year  (11,725)  (7,779)  (11,725)   (7,779) 

At 31 December  (23,826)  (12,101)  (23,826)   (12,101) 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation 
of recovering additional cash. 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  Based on the 
credit history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.  

Information about the Consolidated entity’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency and interest rate risk 
is provided in Note 2. 

8 Current assets - Inventories
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Inventories - at cost   1,669,652  2,290,730  1,669,652   2,290,730 

 1,669,652  2,290,730  1,669,652   2,290,730 
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Write downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2012 
amounted to $25,219 (2011: $33,976). The expense has been included in ‘raw materials and consumables used’ in profit or 
loss.

9 Non current assets  - Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Building improvements       
Cost or fair value  5,089,692  4,431,855  5,089,692   4,431,855 
Accumulated depreciation  (2,791,374)  (2,674,059)  (2,791,374)   (2,674,059) 

Total building improvements  2,298,318  1,757,796  2,298,318   1,757,796 

Plant and equipment       
Cost or fair value  1,871,229  1,776,529  1,871,229   1,776,529 
Accumulated depreciation  (1,192,550)  (1,017,799)  (1,192,550)   (1,017,799) 

Total plant and equipment  678,679  758,730  678,679   758,730 

Computer equipment       
Cost or fair value  26,486  26,486  26,486   26,486 
Accumulated depreciation  (26,303)  (25,111)  (26,303)   (25,111) 

Total computer equipment  183  1,375  183   1,375 

Occupancy contribution       
Cost or fair value  9,821,137  9,821,137  9,821,137   9,821,137 
Accumulated depreciation  (3,688,721)  (3,379,726)  (3,688,721)   (3,379,726) 

Total Occupancy contribution  6,132,416  6,441,411  6,132,416   6,441,411 

Total property, plant and equipment  9,109,596  8,959,312  9,109,596   8,959,312 
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22 

Parent and Consolidated 
Building 

improvements
$

Plant and 
equipment 

$

Computer 
Equipment 

$

Occupancy 
contribution 

$
Total 

$

Balance at 31 December 
2012       
Balance at the beginning of 
year  1,757,796  758,730  1,375  6,441,411   8,959,312 
Additions  878,937  168,870  -  -   1,047,807 
Disposals - written down 
value  (2,517)  (17,049)  -  -   (19,566) 
Depreciation expense  (335,898)  (231,872)  (1,192)  (308,995)   (877,957) 

Balance at 31 December 
2012  2,298,318  678,679  183  6,132,416   9,109,596 

Balance at 31 December 
2011      
Balance at the beginning of 
year  1,615,849  633,757  2,567  4,534,150   6,786,323 
Additions  422,138  300,145  -  2,249,248   2,971,531 
Disposals - written down 
value  -  (32,855)  -  -   (32,855) 
Depreciation expense  (280,191)  (142,317)  (1,192)  (341,987)   (765,687) 

Balance at 31 December 
2011 1,757,796  758,730  1,375  6,441,411   8,959,312 
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Write downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2012 
amounted to $25,219 (2011: $33,976). The expense has been included in ‘raw materials and consumables used’ in profit or 
loss.

9 Non current assets  - Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Building improvements       
Cost or fair value  5,089,692  4,431,855  5,089,692   4,431,855 
Accumulated depreciation  (2,791,374)  (2,674,059)  (2,791,374)   (2,674,059) 

Total building improvements  2,298,318  1,757,796  2,298,318   1,757,796 

Plant and equipment       
Cost or fair value  1,871,229  1,776,529  1,871,229   1,776,529 
Accumulated depreciation  (1,192,550)  (1,017,799)  (1,192,550)   (1,017,799) 

Total plant and equipment  678,679  758,730  678,679   758,730 

Computer equipment       
Cost or fair value  26,486  26,486  26,486   26,486 
Accumulated depreciation  (26,303)  (25,111)  (26,303)   (25,111) 

Total computer equipment  183  1,375  183   1,375 

Occupancy contribution       
Cost or fair value  9,821,137  9,821,137  9,821,137   9,821,137 
Accumulated depreciation  (3,688,721)  (3,379,726)  (3,688,721)   (3,379,726) 

Total Occupancy contribution  6,132,416  6,441,411  6,132,416   6,441,411 

Total property, plant and equipment  9,109,596  8,959,312  9,109,596   8,959,312 
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(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end  of 
the current financial period: 
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Parent and Consolidated 
Building 

improvements
$

Plant and 
equipment 

$

Computer 
Equipment 

$

Occupancy 
contribution 

$
Total 

$

Balance at 31 December 
2012       
Balance at the beginning of 
year  1,757,796  758,730  1,375  6,441,411   8,959,312 
Additions  878,937  168,870  -  -   1,047,807 
Disposals - written down 
value  (2,517)  (17,049)  -  -   (19,566) 
Depreciation expense  (335,898)  (231,872)  (1,192)  (308,995)   (877,957) 

Balance at 31 December 
2012  2,298,318  678,679  183  6,132,416   9,109,596 

Balance at 31 December 
2011      
Balance at the beginning of 
year  1,615,849  633,757  2,567  4,534,150   6,786,323 
Additions  422,138  300,145  -  2,249,248   2,971,531 
Disposals - written down 
value  -  (32,855)  -  -   (32,855) 
Depreciation expense  (280,191)  (142,317)  (1,192)  (341,987)   (765,687) 

Balance at 31 December 
2011 1,757,796  758,730  1,375  6,441,411   8,959,312 
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10 Non current assets - Intangible Assets
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Computer software       
Cost  66,750  15,008  66,750   15,008 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (16,362)  -  (16,362)   - 

Net carrying value  50,388  15,008  50,388   15,008 

Goodwill       
Cost  123,103  123,103  123,103   123,103 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (105,681)  (103,000)  (105,681)   (103,000) 

Net carrying value  17,422  20,103  17,422   20,103 
       
       

Total Intangibles  67,810  35,111  67,810   35,111 

Parent and Consolidated 
Computer 
software 

$
Goodwill 

$
Total 

$

Year ended 31 December 2012    
Opening net book amount  15,008  20,103   35,111 
Additions  51,742  -   51,742 
Amortisation  (16,362)  (2,681)   (19,043) 

Closing value at 31 December 2012  50,388  17,422   67,810 

Year ended 31 December 2011    
Opening net book amount  -  20,103   20,103 
Additions  15,008  -   15,008 
Amortisation  -  -   - 

Closing value at 31 December 2011  15,008  20,103   35,111 
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ABN: 28 915 832 337 
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11 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Sundry creditors   157,535  859,121  157,535   859,122 
GST payable   5,126  -  5,126   - 
Accrued expenses   2,646,977  1,796,856  2,646,978   1,796,856 

 2,809,638  2,655,977  2,809,639   2,655,978 

Information about the Consolidated entity’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in Note 2. 

12 Borrowings

(a) Current liabilities 
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Unsecured       
Loans from related parties   440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 

Total current borrowings  440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 

(b) Non-current liabilities 

Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Unsecured        
Loans from related parties   1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672   1,446,667 

Total non-current borrowings  1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672  1,446,667

Total borrowings  1,446,672  1,886,668  1,446,672   1,886,668 

13 Provisions

Current liabilities  
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Employee benefits -  long service leave  407,459  379,835  407,459   379,835 
Employee benefits -  annual leave  498,401  397,050  498,401   397,050 

 905,860  776,885  905,860   776,885 



41

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 
ABN: 28 915 832 337 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

23 

10 Non current assets - Intangible Assets
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Computer software       
Cost  66,750  15,008  66,750   15,008 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (16,362)  -  (16,362)   - 

Net carrying value  50,388  15,008  50,388   15,008 

Goodwill       
Cost  123,103  123,103  123,103   123,103 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (105,681)  (103,000)  (105,681)   (103,000) 

Net carrying value  17,422  20,103  17,422   20,103 
       
       

Total Intangibles  67,810  35,111  67,810   35,111 

Parent and Consolidated 
Computer 
software 

$
Goodwill 

$
Total 

$

Year ended 31 December 2012    
Opening net book amount  15,008  20,103   35,111 
Additions  51,742  -   51,742 
Amortisation  (16,362)  (2,681)   (19,043) 

Closing value at 31 December 2012  50,388  17,422   67,810 

Year ended 31 December 2011    
Opening net book amount  -  20,103   20,103 
Additions  15,008  -   15,008 
Amortisation  -  -   - 

Closing value at 31 December 2011  15,008  20,103   35,111 
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11 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Sundry creditors   157,535  859,121  157,535   859,122 
GST payable   5,126  -  5,126   - 
Accrued expenses   2,646,977  1,796,856  2,646,978   1,796,856 

 2,809,638  2,655,977  2,809,639   2,655,978 

Information about the Consolidated entity’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in Note 2. 

12 Borrowings

(a) Current liabilities 
Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Unsecured       
Loans from related parties   440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 

Total current borrowings  440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 

(b) Non-current liabilities 

Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Unsecured        
Loans from related parties   1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672   1,446,667 

Total non-current borrowings  1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672  1,446,667

Total borrowings  1,446,672  1,886,668  1,446,672   1,886,668 

13 Provisions

Current liabilities  
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Employee benefits -  long service leave  407,459  379,835  407,459   379,835 
Employee benefits -  annual leave  498,401  397,050  498,401   397,050 

 905,860  776,885  905,860   776,885 
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 Non current liabilities  
Employee benefits -  long service leave  114,100  223,661  114,100   223,661 

 114,100  223,661  114,100   223,661 

Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 

The current provision for long service leave and annual leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have 
completed the required period of service. The entire amount is presented as current.  Based on past experience, the 
Consolidated and Parent entities do not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued long service leave and 
annual leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be 
taken or paid within the next 12 months. 

       
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Long service leave obligation expected to be 
settled after 12 months  443,727  309,066  443,727   309,066 
Annual leave obligation expected to be settled 
after 12 months  104,404  10,423  104,404   10,423 

Expense recognised in the profit or loss 

Movements in provisions for annual leave and long service leave are included in the profit or loss as employee benefits 
expense, as outlined in Note 5a. 

Superannuation 

The Consolidated entity makes contributions to various third party defined contribution superannuation funds.  Contributions 
are included in the income statement as employee benefit expense, as outlined in Note 5a.  The consolidated entity does 
not contribute to, or have any connection with, any defined benefit superannuation funds. 

14 Other liabilities
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

CURRENT       
Commonwealth Department of Health 
and Ageing Loan   18,000  18,000  18,000   18,000 
Deposits held  11,942  25,839  11,942   25,839 
Income in advance  179,672  139,934  179,672   139,934 

 209,614  183,773  209,614   183,773 
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 Non current liabilities  
Employee benefits -  long service leave  114,100  223,661  114,100   223,661 

 114,100  223,661  114,100   223,661 

Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 

The current provision for long service leave and annual leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have 
completed the required period of service. The entire amount is presented as current.  Based on past experience, the 
Consolidated and Parent entities do not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued long service leave and 
annual leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be 
taken or paid within the next 12 months. 

       
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Long service leave obligation expected to be 
settled after 12 months  443,727  309,066  443,727   309,066 
Annual leave obligation expected to be settled 
after 12 months  104,404  10,423  104,404   10,423 

Expense recognised in the profit or loss 

Movements in provisions for annual leave and long service leave are included in the profit or loss as employee benefits 
expense, as outlined in Note 5a. 

Superannuation 

The Consolidated entity makes contributions to various third party defined contribution superannuation funds.  Contributions 
are included in the income statement as employee benefit expense, as outlined in Note 5a.  The consolidated entity does 
not contribute to, or have any connection with, any defined benefit superannuation funds. 

14 Other liabilities
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

CURRENT       
Commonwealth Department of Health 
and Ageing Loan   18,000  18,000  18,000   18,000 
Deposits held  11,942  25,839  11,942   25,839 
Income in advance  179,672  139,934  179,672   139,934 

 209,614  183,773  209,614   183,773 
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Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

NON-CURRENT       
Commonwealth Department of Health and 
Ageing Loan  61,500  80,045  61,500   80,045 
Income in advance  44,801  39,735  44,801   39,735 

 106,301  119,780  106,301   119,780 

The Company has responsibility for repayment of a loan, made by the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing to 
the University of Wollongong, to finance, in part, extensions to the Children's Services Centre. 

15 Retained Earnings
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Balance 1 January  9,593,824  9,416,441  9,593,824   9,416,439 
Operating Result for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 

Retained earnings at 31 December  9,650,802  9,593,824  9,650,802   9,593,824 

16 Key Management Personnel Disclosures

(a) Directors

The following persons were directors of Wollongong Unicentre Limited during the financial year: 

(i)     Executive Chairman                                                                                                             
Chris Grange 

(ii)    Executive Director                                                                                                                
Michael Gillmore  

(iii)    Non executive Directors                                                                                                           
Jo Ann Fisher 
Brian Ward 
Mary Youssif 
Theresa Hoynes 
Eloise Young (Concluded: 04/12/2012) 
James Parrish 
Ian Murray 
Matt Greiss 
Dean Young 
Walter Immoos 

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with UniCentre or UniCentre 
Conferences and Functions Pty Limited since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts 
involving directors' interests existing at year end. 
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(b) Remuneration of Executive Officers

       
Consolidated Parent 

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Remuneration payments made to Executive 
Officers       

Short term employee benefits  194,117  203,093  194,117   203,093 
Post employment benefits  28,140  27,254  28,140   27,254 

 222,257  230,347  222,257   230,347 

17 Remuneration of Auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent and consolidated 
entities: 

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$

- Audit Office of NSW          
        Audit of financial statements  72,200  59,700  72,200   59,700 

-  Total remuneration for audit and 
other services  72,200  59,700  72,200   59,700 

18 Commitments

(a)  Lease commitments 

(i) Operating lease commitments - Consolidated entity as lessee

Future Non Cancellable Operating Lease Rentals of Plant and Equipment 

The Consolidated entity has entered into a commercial lease for computer equipment.  The lease is for   three years.  
There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. 

Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Commitments for minimum lease 
payments in relation to non 
cancellable operating leases are 
payable as follows:        

       
Within one year   23,271  90,744  23,271   90,744 
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18 Commitments continued 

(a) Lease commitments continued 
  Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Commitments for minimum lease 
payments in relation to non 
cancellable operating leases are 
payable as follows:        

        
Within one year    23,271  90,744   23,271   90,744 
Later than one year but not later 
than five years    16,218  28,844   16,218   28,844 
    39,489  119,588   39,489   119,588 

 

(ii)     Operating lease commitments receivable - Consolidated entity as lessor 

The Consolidated entity has entered into commercial property leases for office space and food outlets. 

These non cancellable leases have remaining terms of between one and five years. Leases are based on net sales or fixed 
amounts with a clause included to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing 
market conditions.   

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for each of the 
following periods are: 

 
  Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Receivable - minimum lease payments:        

        
Within one year    547,987  493,451   547,987   493,451 
Later than one year but not later than five 
years    315,048  711,294   315,048   711,294 

    863,035  1,204,745   863,035   1,204,745 

Several tenants annual rent is based on a percentage of their turnover for the year.  Contingent rent of $235,335.29 (2011: 
$234,230) was received by the Company 

(iii) Hire purchase commitments - Consolidated entity as lessee 

The Commercial Hire Purchase Liability is an umbrella facility of up to $500,000 that the Company can draw on for the 
purchase of equipment. It is renewable every 12 months.  Interest is payable on each drawdown within the facility at the 
market rate prevailing at the time of the drawdown.  As at 31 December 2012 the unused portion of the facility was 
$500,000 (2011: $500,000) and the portion of the facility in use was nil (2011: nil). 
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Later than one year but not later 
than five years  16,218  28,844  16,218   28,844 

 39,489  119,588  39,489   119,588 

(ii)     Operating lease commitments receivable - Consolidated entity as lessor

The Consolidated entity has entered into commercial property leases for office space and food outlets. 

These non cancellable leases have remaining terms of between one and five years. Leases are based on net sales or fixed 
amounts with a clause included to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing 
market conditions.   

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for each of the 
following periods are: 

Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Receivable - minimum lease payments:        

       
Within one year   547,987  493,451  547,987   493,451 
Later than one year but not later than five 
years   315,048  711,294  315,048   711,294 

 863,035  1,204,745  863,035   1,204,745 

Several tenants annual rent is based on a percentage of their turnover for the year.  Contingent rent of $235,335.29 (2011: 
$234,230) was received by the Company 

(iii) Hire purchase commitments - Consolidated entity as lessee 

The Commercial Hire Purchase Liability is an umbrella facility of up to $500,000 that the Company can draw on for the 
purchase of equipment. It is renewable every 12 months.  Interest is payable on each drawdown within the facility at the 
market rate prevailing at the time of the drawdown.  As at 31 December 2012 the unused portion of the facility was 
$500,000 (2011: $500,000) and the portion of the facility in use was nil (2011: nil). 
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From time to time Directors of related parties or their Director related entities may purchase goods or services from the 
Consolidated entity. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the Company's 
employees or customers. 

(c) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services
Consolidated Parent 

   2012 2011 2012 2011 

 Current receivables (sales of goods 
and services)        
       Trade receivables   172,958  405,044  172,958   405,044 

Current payables (purchases of 
goods)        
       Trade creditors   35,607  16,229  35,607   16,229 

Payables (loans)        
       Current portion  loan from 
University of Wollongong  440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 
        Non current portion  loan from 
University of Wollongong  1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672   1,446,667 

 1,446,672  1,886,668  1,446,672   1,886,668 

The loan from University of Wollongong accrues interest on the outstanding balance at 6% per annum, is  unsecured and 
due to be repaid in full by August 2016.

20 Economic dependency

The Consolidated entity's trading activities do not depend on a major customer or supplier.  However, the Consolidated 
entity is economically dependent on the continued existence of the University of Wollongong.  The Company has also 
guaranteed the financial support of its subsidiary, UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited. 

21      Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any other item, 
transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity or company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity or company, in subsequent financial years. 

22 Contingencies

There were no known contingent assets or liabilities existing at reporting date (nil at 31/12/2011). 
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(b) Capital commitments 

The Consolidated entity has a contractual obligation to purchase within the next 12 months, $284,444 of plant and 
equipment at reporting date (2011: $194,275). 

19 Related Parties 

(a) Directors' Transactions with UniCentre and its Subsidiary 

From time to time Directors of related parties or their Director related entities may purchase goods or services from 
UniCentre or its Subsidiary. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the employees 
of UniCentre and its subsidiary, or customers and are trivial or domestic in nature. 

(b) Transactions with related parties 

UniCentre has a related party relationship with its subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited.  It also has 
related party relationships with the following entities: 

The University of Wollongong (Ultimate Controlling Entity) 
ITC Ltd                                                                                                                                 
University of Wollongong Recreation and Aquatic Centre 

Transactions with the controlling entity The University of Wollongong were as follows: 

 
  Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

 Sales of goods and services        
 Sales    1,618,842  1,231,272   1,618,842   1,231,272 
 Rent received    134,505  134,505   134,505   134,505 
 Commissions    73,062  83,554   73,062   83,554 
 Grants for specific purposes    185,000  235,000   185,000   235,000 

     2,011,409  1,684,331   2,011,409   1,684,331 

 
  Consolidated Parent 
   2012 2011  2012 2011 

 Purchases of goods        
- Goods and services    880,031  968,362   880,031   968,362 
- Contribution to General Manager's     
salary    104,095  106,154   104,095   106,154 

     984,126  1,074,516   984,126   1,074,516 

From time to time Related Parties of the University of Wollongong, including ITC Ltd and the University of Wollongong 
Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited (URAC) may enter into transactions with the Controlled Entity. These transactions are 
on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the Company's employees or customers. 
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From time to time Directors of related parties or their Director related entities may purchase goods or services from the 
Consolidated entity. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the Company's 
employees or customers. 

(c) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services
Consolidated Parent 

   2012 2011 2012 2011 

 Current receivables (sales of goods 
and services)        
       Trade receivables   172,958  405,044  172,958   405,044 

Current payables (purchases of 
goods)        
       Trade creditors   35,607  16,229  35,607   16,229 

Payables (loans)        
       Current portion  loan from 
University of Wollongong  440,000  440,001  440,000   440,001 
        Non current portion  loan from 
University of Wollongong  1,006,672  1,446,667  1,006,672   1,446,667 

 1,446,672  1,886,668  1,446,672   1,886,668 

The loan from University of Wollongong accrues interest on the outstanding balance at 6% per annum, is  unsecured and 
due to be repaid in full by August 2016.

20 Economic dependency

The Consolidated entity's trading activities do not depend on a major customer or supplier.  However, the Consolidated 
entity is economically dependent on the continued existence of the University of Wollongong.  The Company has also 
guaranteed the financial support of its subsidiary, UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited. 

21      Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any other item, 
transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity or company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity or company, in subsequent financial years. 

22 Contingencies

There were no known contingent assets or liabilities existing at reporting date (nil at 31/12/2011). 
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(b) Capital commitments 

The Consolidated entity has a contractual obligation to purchase within the next 12 months, $284,444 of plant and 
equipment at reporting date (2011: $194,275). 

19 Related Parties 

(a) Directors' Transactions with UniCentre and its Subsidiary 

From time to time Directors of related parties or their Director related entities may purchase goods or services from 
UniCentre or its Subsidiary. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the employees 
of UniCentre and its subsidiary, or customers and are trivial or domestic in nature. 

(b) Transactions with related parties 

UniCentre has a related party relationship with its subsidiary UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited.  It also has 
related party relationships with the following entities: 

The University of Wollongong (Ultimate Controlling Entity) 
ITC Ltd                                                                                                                                 
University of Wollongong Recreation and Aquatic Centre 

Transactions with the controlling entity The University of Wollongong were as follows: 

 
  Consolidated Parent 

   

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

 Sales of goods and services        
 Sales    1,618,842  1,231,272   1,618,842   1,231,272 
 Rent received    134,505  134,505   134,505   134,505 
 Commissions    73,062  83,554   73,062   83,554 
 Grants for specific purposes    185,000  235,000   185,000   235,000 

     2,011,409  1,684,331   2,011,409   1,684,331 

 
  Consolidated Parent 
   2012 2011  2012 2011 

 Purchases of goods        
- Goods and services    880,031  968,362   880,031   968,362 
- Contribution to General Manager's     
salary    104,095  106,154   104,095   106,154 

     984,126  1,074,516   984,126   1,074,516 

From time to time Related Parties of the University of Wollongong, including ITC Ltd and the University of Wollongong 
Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited (URAC) may enter into transactions with the Controlled Entity. These transactions are 
on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the Company's employees or customers. 
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23 Reconciliation of Operating Results After Income Tax to Net Cash Flows From 
Operating Activities

Consolidated Parent 
2012 

$
2011 

$
2012 

$
2011 

$
Profit for the year  56,978  177,383  56,978   177,385 
Non-cash flows in profit:       

Amortisation of occupancy contribution  328,038  292,739  328,038   292,739 
Depreciation  568,962  472,948  568,962   472,948 
Net (gain)/loss on sale of non current 
assets  19,566  (455)  19,566   (455) 

Changes in assets and liabilities       
(Increase)/decrease in trade/term 
debtors  (174,137)  (122,371)  (174,137)   (122,371) 
Decrease/(increase) in 
prepayments/other debtors  16,140  41,965  16,140   41,965 
Decrease in inventories  621,078  33,976  621,078   33,976 
(Increase)/decrease in bad debts 
allowance   11,725  7,779  11,725   7,779 
(Decrease)/increase in income in 
advance  44,804  (33,047)  44,804   (33,047) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade 
creditors/accruals  153,661  1,072,521  153,661   1,072,519 
Increase/(decrease) in other operating 
liabilities  (13,897)  10,958  (13,897)   10,958 
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions  19,414  96,589  19,414   96,589 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
operating activities  1,652,332  2,050,985  1,652,332   2,050,985 
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24 Consolidated entities

Ultimate Parent Entity 

University of Wollongong 

Parent Entity 

Wollongong UniCentre Limited 

Subsidiary

UniCentre Conferences and Functions Pty Limited 

Country of Incorporation: Australia 

Ownership Interest: 100% (2011: 100%) 

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT. 
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The	University	of	Wollongong	Recreation	and	Aquatic	Centre	(URAC)	provides	sporting,	recreational,	
and	aquatic	facilities	and	services	to	the	University	of	Wollongong	community,	and	to	the	broader	
community of Wollongong. 

URAC’s	mission	is	to	enhance	the	quality	of	life	of	our	members	through	provision	of	an	extensive	
range	of	sporting,	leisure,	recreation	and	fitness	opportunities	for	the	university	population	and	the	
wider	community	through	access	to	quality	programs,	services	and	facilities.





Year In reVIeW
The year 2012 provided a difficult environment for URAC, due mainly to the rapid decline in students choosing to visit the campus 
for lectures, and the rapid growth of small ‘24/7’ gym franchises across the Illawarra. This was offset by the application of the 30% 
Student Services and Amenities Fee (SAF) discount, which saw a rise in the number of students purchasing Gold Passes to the 
gym and pool. Overall the positives and the negatives balanced out, as visits to most facilities and programs grew. URAC reduced 
staffing costs, with the introduction of new access technologies, and the realisation of efficiencies in new and existing programs. 

Key initiatives in 2012 included:

•	 The achievement of a small operating surplus was an 
excellent result, as capital and recurrent funding was 
particularly tight throughout the year.

•	 Member numbers grew only marginally, but visits per 
member rose sharply by 15%, demonstrating greater 
commitment as members visited more often.

•	 The major capital project for the year was the new access 
control system, which has reduced waiting lines at 
reception, and the replacement of all fitness equipment 
in both URAC and iC Health, improving customer service 
dramatically. 

•	 Major replacement of the floodlighting to the tennis courts 
and sports hall was necessary. Energy efficient systems, 
meeting all Australian standards, have now been installed.
The URAC Sports Hub hosted numerous state and national 
competitions and sports events, including the NSW Amateur 
Boxing titles, and continues to support numerous junior and 
senior sports regionally. 

•	 The third annual ‘Stumping Serious Diseases’ T20 cricket 
fundraiser was staged, and 1,700 spectators braved the 
threat of stormy weather to help raise funds for medical 
research.  

•	 A number of regional sports development and coaching 
staff continue to have offices within URAC, including NSW 
Rugby Union, NSW/ACT AFL, NSW Tennis, NSW Triathlon, 
Illawarra Academy of Sport, and the Australian Sports 
Commission.

•	 Numerous external groups have made extensive use of 
URAC facilities, many extending their programs with on 
campus and community users. This includes all local 
primary and high schools, St George-Illawarra Dragons, 
Football South Coast, Sydney Swans Junior Academy, and 
others.

•	 Casual use by visiting elite sporting teams and groups from 
the NRL, NBL, and Super 14 Rugby continued throughout 
the year.

•	 URAC conducted an extensive Customer Satisfaction 
Survey that found our customer satisfaction levels (91.2%) 
are well above industry benchmarks. 

•	 The URAC Board, as individual members, undertook a 
number of governance and financial education programs 
throughout the year. 
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Directors' report

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of University of Wollongong Recreation and Aquatic 
Centre Limited ("the Company") for the year ended 31 December 2012.  

Directors 
The following persons were directors of University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited during the whole of 
the financial year and up to the date of this report: 

Professor John Patterson 
Cheryl Battaerd 
Professor Don Iverson 
Peter Maywald 
Paul Manning 
Canio Fierravanti 
Murray Reid 
Diane Harland 
Dr Paul Webb 
Michael Kelly 

Cheryl Battaerd resigned from the Board on 16th May, 2012. 

Information on Directors 

Professor John Patterson Appointed Director in June 1998  
MSc Oregon, MEd Syd, EdD N Colorado, FAICD, FACHPER 
Experience and Expertise 
Executive Chair, URAC, since November 1998. 
Senior Deputy Vice Chancellor, University of Wollongong 

Cheryl Battaerd Appointed Director in June 1998 
B Ed. 
Experience and Expertise  
NSW/ACT State Manager, Australian Sports Commission, Active After-School Communities. 

Professor Don Iverson Appointed Director in October 2001  
B.Sc Nth Dak, M.Sc Ph.D Oregon 
Experience and Expertise 
Pro Vice-Chancellor (Health) University of Wollongong 

Peter Maywald Appointed Director in November 2001 
B.A.  
Experience and Expertise 
Faculty Executive Officer, Faculty of Health & Behavioural Sciences at University of Wollongong 

Paul Manning Appointed Director in June 1998 
B.E.D (Syd), M.Mgmt FAICD. 
Expertise and Expertise 
Executive Director and Company Secretary, University of Wollongong Recreation and Aquatic Centre Limited.  

Canio Fierravanti Appointed Director in October 2001
B Comm 

Experience and Expertise 
Director, External Relations at University of Wollongong 
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Murray Reid Appointed Director in June 1998 
FAC, B. Comm 
Experience and Expertise 
Principal of RM Chartered Accountants, Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
Other Current Directorships 
Director Wollongong Golf Club 

Diane Harland Appointed Director in June 1998 
B.Ed (TSIT) M.Sc (Hons), Ph.D 
Experience and Expertise 
Lecturer, Health & Behavioural Sciences at University of Wollongong 

Dr Paul Webb Appointed Director in June 1998 
DipPhysEd GradDipSpEd, BEd, Tas CAE, MH Kinetics Windsor, MSc Ph.D Oregon 
Experience and Expertise 
Deputy Chair, URAC, since November 1998 
Senior lecturer, Faculty of Education at University of Wollongong 

Michael Kelly Appointed Director in May 2002 
BA LLB GDLP 
Experience and Expertise 
Principal Solicitor, Building Insurers' Guarantee Corporation  

Company secretary 
The company secretary is Mr Paul Manning. Mr Manning was appointed to the position of company secretary in 1998. 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors held during the year ended 31 December 2012, and the 
number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Meetings of 
directors

A B
Professor John Patterson 3 5 
Cheryl Battaerd 1 1 
Professor Don Iverson 2 5 
Peter Maywald 4 5 
Paul Manning 5 5 
Canio Fierravanti 5 5 
Murray Reid 4 5 
Diane Harland 3 5 
Dr Paul Webb 5 5 
Michael Kelly 5 5 

A = Number of meetings attended. 
B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year.  

Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Company during the course of the year was the provision of aquatic and recreation facilities to 
the University, community and the general public. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the 
Company during the year. 
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Murray Reid Appointed Director in June 1998 
FAC, B. Comm 
Experience and Expertise 
Principal of RM Chartered Accountants, Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
Other Current Directorships 
Director Wollongong Golf Club 

Diane Harland Appointed Director in June 1998 
B.Ed (TSIT) M.Sc (Hons), Ph.D 
Experience and Expertise 
Lecturer, Health & Behavioural Sciences at University of Wollongong 

Dr Paul Webb Appointed Director in June 1998 
DipPhysEd GradDipSpEd, BEd, Tas CAE, MH Kinetics Windsor, MSc Ph.D Oregon 
Experience and Expertise 
Deputy Chair, URAC, since November 1998 
Senior lecturer, Faculty of Education at University of Wollongong 

Michael Kelly Appointed Director in May 2002 
BA LLB GDLP 
Experience and Expertise 
Principal Solicitor, Building Insurers' Guarantee Corporation  

Company secretary 
The company secretary is Mr Paul Manning. Mr Manning was appointed to the position of company secretary in 1998. 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors held during the year ended 31 December 2012, and the 
number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Meetings of 
directors

A B
Professor John Patterson 3 5 
Cheryl Battaerd 1 1 
Professor Don Iverson 2 5 
Peter Maywald 4 5 
Paul Manning 5 5 
Canio Fierravanti 5 5 
Murray Reid 4 5 
Diane Harland 3 5 
Dr Paul Webb 5 5 
Michael Kelly 5 5 

A = Number of meetings attended. 
B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year.  

Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Company during the course of the year was the provision of aquatic and recreation facilities to 
the University, community and the general public. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the 
Company during the year. 

University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited
Directors' Report 

31 December 2012 

3

Results 
The operating deficit after income tax of the Company for the year amounted to $585,755 (2011: $751,966). 

Dividends - University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited 
Dividends are not payable by companies limited by guarantee. Therefore no dividends were declared or paid during the 
year. (2011: nil). 

Significant changes in state of affairs 
There were no changes in the state of affairs of the Company. 

Proceeding on behalf of the entity 
The Company is actively pursuing repayment of commission sales of the scuba boat from the proprietor of the Company that 
made the sale. There has been an admission of personal liability for the full amount with interest, and successful legal action
in the District Court of NSW has now secured significant repayment of the disputed balance of approximately $38,500 which, 
with interest, will now exceed $52,000 in total repayments and a payment plan is now being actioned with the debtor.  

Review of operations 
2012 continued to be a difficult trading environment due to the increase in low cost unsupervised health clubs, and an 
industry trend away from quality. URAC strategically attacked these new threats, with the introduction of new lifestyle 
programs, new access control systems and hardware, and a complete changeover of all fitness equipment at both sites. This 
resulted in a drop in wages as budgeted of 2%, no change in total income and control of other expenses, thanks in part to a 
renewed agreement with the University to maintain a proportion of their assets controlled by URAC. This contributed to a 
reduction in building maintenance costs of approximately $100,000.  

Visitor numbers across all operational areas were up significantly in 2012, despite no major increase in income. A major 
success was the introduction of the Student Amenities Fee (SAF) discount by the University, where all student Gold Passes 
were discounted by 30% across the year.  

2012 milestones in brief: 

 Further governance education was approved and undertaken by various members of the URAC Board.  

 Australian University Games, (September in Adelaide). Our smallest ever team of 66 students represented UOW and 
paid significantly from their own pockets to attend. Results were very good, with many teams gaining promotion from 
division 2 up to division 1. Behaviour was excellent, with credit due to the athletes, and UOW Team Manager, Jaime 
Hart.  

 URAC Sports Hub. The last 12 months have seen a slight drop in student competition participation, but all other 
programs are running at or near capacity. URAC continued the hosting of PE lectures and office facilities, as well as 
other external groups, including the following regional sporting groups: 

      Illawarra Academy of Sport 
      NSW ACT AFL Development 
      NSW Rugby Union Development 
      NSW Tennis, Community Tennis Coordinator  
      NSWIS Junior Triathlon 
      Australian Sports Commission 

 URAC donated facilities and staff labour for the third annual “Stumping Serious Diseases T20 charity cricket match, 
hosted by UOW Ambassador, Adam Gilchrist.  

 During the year URAC played host to a number of elite sports teams, including St George Illawarra Dragons, various 
NRL and Super 14 teams, Wollongong Wolves FC, various elite triathlete and swimming coaches and athletes, and the 
Illawarra Cutters. 

 Complete replacement of all floodlights in the Sports Hall and Tennis Courts allowed URAC to reduce energy usage by 
30%, as well as raising the lighting levels to meet or exceed Australian standards. 
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Company objective 
To enhance the quality of life of our campus and community through the provision of an extensive range of sporting, leisure, 
recreation, health and fitness opportunities through access to quality programs, services and facilities. 

How we met this objective in 2012 
 We continued to broaden the range and depth of the service we provide, both to on campus and off campus populations. 

 URAC met the targeted operational breakeven point, despite very difficult trading conditions. 

 URAC more than met its strategic financial target to maintain growth in expenses to 5% or less. Most of the reduction in 
expenses was due to payment by the University of building maintenance costs in maintaining various University fixed 
assets managed by URAC, and strict wages control by all URAC operational units.  

 Long serving Board member, Cheryl Batteard resigned in May. Otherwise, the URAC Board remained stable during the 
year and many Directors engaged in a variety of educational opportunities to enhance their skill levels.  

 URAC staff also remained stable during the year, and this assisted to the excellent results achieved.  

 We donated significant facility and labour resources to assist in the fund raising efforts associated with the third 
“Stumping Serious Diseases Day T20” cricket match, and the MS "Megaswim" 24 hrs event, as well as numerous other 
smaller charitable fundraisers. 

 URAC continued to increase the level of community engagement on behalf of the University, across a range of sporting 
and non-sporting events throughout the year.  

Environmental regulation 
The Company’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or State 

legislation. However, The Board believes that the Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its 
environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the 
Company. 

Events subsequent to balance date 
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the 
operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company, in future financial years. 

Likely developments 

It is expected very little expenditure will again be possible in 2013 and for the foreseeable future. Minor works included in 
2012 were the replacement of the pool turnstiles, and replacement of all cardio and weights equipment via a new financial 
lease. Notice was received that the University would be replacing all of the building 13 roof due to multiple structural leaks,
and this would proceed in early 2013 at no cost to URAC. 
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Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

Revenue from continuing operations 3  3,188,096   3,145,000 

Other income 3(a)  97,935   70,040 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4  (592,448)   (656,353) 
Employee expenses 5  (2,236,924)   (2,271,165) 
Repairs & maintenance   (285,438)   (306,903) 
Operating expenses   (408,018)   (392,005) 
Utilities expenses   (272,730)   (260,781) 
Other expenses   (52,507)   (32,085) 
Finance costs 4  (23,721)   (47,714) 
Surplus/(deficit) before income tax  (585,755)   (751,966) 

Income tax expense 1(c)  -   - 
Surplus/(deficit) after income tax  (585,755)   (751,966) 

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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2012 
$

2011 
$

Surplus (deficit) after income tax  (585,755)   (751,966) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (585,755)   (751,966) 

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to: 
      Owners of University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited  (585,755)   (751,966) 

 (585,755)   (751,966) 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 6  315,599   89,400 
Trade and other receivables 7  194,334   292,007 
Other 8  2,782   8,822 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  512,715   390,229 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Property, plant and equipment 9  1,478,415   1,086,910 
Occupancy contribution 10  3,576,545   3,863,844 
Intangible assets 11  -   231 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  5,054,960   4,950,985 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,567,675   5,341,214 

LIABILITIES    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 12  3,352,937   3,061,650 
Borrowings 13(a)  140,838   76,217 
Provisions 14(a)  233,371   204,945 
Income in advance 15  -   2,365 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  3,727,146   3,345,177 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Borrowings 13(b)  428,973   21,089 
Provisions 14(b)  84,224   61,861 
Other  16  3,288   3,288 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  516,485   86,238 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,243,631   3,431,415 

NET ASSETS  1,324,044   1,909,799 

EQUITY    
Retained profit 17  1,324,044   1,909,799 
TOTAL EQUITY 1,324,044   1,909,799 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Note

Retained
Earnings

2012 
$

Total  
2012 

$

Total equity at  the beginning of the financial year   1,909,799   1,909,799 
Total comprehensive income   (585,755)   (585,755) 

Other movement 17  -   - 
Total equity at 31 December 2012  1,324,044   1,324,044 

Note

Retained
Earnings

2011 
$

Total 
2011 

$

Total equity at  the beginning of the financial year   2,661,765   2,661,765 
Total comprehensive income   (751,966)   (751,966) 

Other movement 17  -   - 
Total equity at 31 December 2011  1,909,799   1,909,799 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    
Receipts from customers   3,341,809   3,600,405 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (2,975,052)   (3,397,044) 

366,757   203,361 
Interest received   9,146   7,906 
Finance costs  (23,721)   (47,714) 
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities 23  352,182   163,553 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    
Payments for property, plant and equipment and occupancy 9  (116,623)   (232,590) 
Proceeds on disposal of non current assets   97,935   169,377 
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities  (18,688)   (63,213) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Repayment of finance lease    (107,295)   (100,056) 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  (107,295)   (100,056) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  226,199   284 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   89,400   89,116 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6  315,599   89,400 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1 Significant Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a)    Basis of Preparation 

(i) Statement of compliance 

The general purpose financial statement has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (which 
includes Australian Accounting Interpretations), the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit 
Regulation 2010 and the Corporations Act 2001. The entity is a not-for-profit entity and these statements have been 
prepared on that basis. Some of the requirements for not-for-profit entities are inconsistent with the IFRS requirements. 

The financial statement of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 was authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the director's on 27 March 2013. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

(ii) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and on the historical cost basis except that the liability for 
long service leave is adjusted to net present value. 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  

Judgements made by management in the application of Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note (n). 

(b)    Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of 
returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i)    Goods and Services Rendered 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when that service has been fully 
provided.  

Revenue from memberships is accounted for on a cash basis in that it is recognised when a membership is signed up and 
income is not apportioned over the term of the membership. 

(ii)    Rental income 
Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis as it is charged to tenants in accordance with 
individual leases. 

(iii)    Interest Income 
Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues.  



University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

12 

1 Significant Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a)    Basis of Preparation 

(i) Statement of compliance 

The general purpose financial statement has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (which 
includes Australian Accounting Interpretations), the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit 
Regulation 2010 and the Corporations Act 2001. The entity is a not-for-profit entity and these statements have been 
prepared on that basis. Some of the requirements for not-for-profit entities are inconsistent with the IFRS requirements. 

The financial statement of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 was authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the director's on 27 March 2013. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

(ii) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and on the historical cost basis except that the liability for 
long service leave is adjusted to net present value. 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  

Judgements made by management in the application of Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note (n). 

(b)    Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of 
returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i)    Goods and Services Rendered 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when that service has been fully 
provided.  

Revenue from memberships is accounted for on a cash basis in that it is recognised when a membership is signed up and 
income is not apportioned over the term of the membership. 

(ii)    Rental income 
Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis as it is charged to tenants in accordance with 
individual leases. 

(iii)    Interest Income 
Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues.  

University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

13 

(c)    Income Tax 

The operations of the Company are exempt from income tax under Sections 50-45 and 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act (1997). 

The operations of the Company are exempt from payroll tax under Section 10.1(k) and 10.2 of the Payroll Tax Act 1971. 

(d)    Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases (note 13). Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value
of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding borrowings, net of 
finance charges, are included in borrowings. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Company as lessee are 
classified as operating leases (note 20). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 

(e)    Impairment of assets          

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). Non financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting 
date. 

(f)    Cash and cash equivalents 

For statement of cashflows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

(g)    Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value less allowance for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for
settlement within 30 days. Short term receivables are recognised at original invoice amount because the impact of 
discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement within ‘other expenses’. When a trade receivable 
for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off 
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses 
in the income statement. 

(h)    Property, plant and equipment 

Items of property, plant & equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of self constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant & equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant & equipment. 

From time to time the Company contributes to the cost of construction of buildings, their improvements and landscaping on 
land over which it has no security. These amounts are accounted for in the statement of financial position as Occupancy 
Contribution, pursuant to an agreement reached with the University of Wollongong. The Occupancy Contribution is 
recognised as an asset as it gives the Company the right to occupy and use the buildings, and is amortised at a rate which 
the Company believes best reflects the expected useful life of such contribution. 

The Company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of 
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such an item when the cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other costs are recognised in the income statement as 
an expense as incurred. 

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

2012 2011 
- Building Improvements 10 years 10 years 
- Occupancy Contribution 13-36 years 13-36 years 
- Computer Equipment 3 years 3 years 
- Plant & Equipment 4-10 years  4-10 years 

**Plant & equipment includes the following sub categories: general equipment, unigym/unicircuit equipment, leased 
equipment. furniture & fittings, motor vehicles, pool equipment, hockey equipment and sports hub equipment.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

All assets acquired including property, plant and equipment and intangibles other then goodwill are initially recorded at their
cost of acquisition at the date of acquisition, being the fair value of consideration provided plus incidental costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition. 

Expenditure, including that on internally generated assets other than research and development costs is only recognised as 
an asset when the entity controls future economic benefits as a result of the costs incurred, it is probable that those future 
economic benefits will eventuate, and the costs can be measured reliably. Costs attributable to feasibility and alternative 
approach assessments are expensed as incurred. 

Items of plant and equipment less than $5,000 are expensed as incurred. 

(i)    Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which is considered to approximate amortised cost due to their short term 
nature. Recognition of trade and other payables occurs when goods and services have been received and obligation to 
make future payments arises.  

Trade and other payables are due for settlement no more than 120 days from the date of recognition for related parties as 
per University of Wollongong's policy. 

(j)    Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. If 
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cashflows at a pre tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that liability. 

(k)    Employee benefits 

(i)    Short term obligations 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in 
respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled.  The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits.  All other short term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables. 

(ii)    Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
The provision for employee entitlements to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made resulting from employees’ services provided up to balance date. 

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and 
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attached to national government 
securities at balance date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.  Leave is charged to the 
provision at the time leave is taken. 

(iii)    Superannuation Entitlements 
Contributions to employee superannuation funds are charged against income as incurred. The Company is under no legal 
obligation to make up any shortfall in the funds assets to meet payments due to employees. 
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respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled.  The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits.  All other short term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables. 

(ii)    Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
The provision for employee entitlements to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made resulting from employees’ services provided up to balance date. 

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and 
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attached to national government 
securities at balance date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.  Leave is charged to the 
provision at the time leave is taken. 

(iii)    Superannuation Entitlements 
Contributions to employee superannuation funds are charged against income as incurred. The Company is under no legal 
obligation to make up any shortfall in the funds assets to meet payments due to employees. 
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(l)    Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

(m)    Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method 

(n)    New Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations            

Certain new Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2012 
reporting period. The company has not early adopted any new account Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are 
not yet effective, as there are no Accounting Standards and Interpretations that will  have a material effect on the company’s 
financial statements. 

The Company has assessed the impact of these new Accounting Standards and Interpretations and considers the impact to 
be insignificant. 
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2    Financial Risk Management 

(a)    Market risk 

(i)    Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and liabilities are denominated 
in a currency that is not in the Company's functional currency. The Company does not operate internationally and is 
therefore not exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. 

(ii)    Price risk 
The Company is not exposed to equity securities price risk and commodity price risk. 

(iii)    Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
The Company has minimal interest rate risk. Its borrowings are issued at fixed rates, and ultimate controlling entity does not 
charge interest to the Company.  

(iv)    Summarised sensitivity analysis 
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Company's financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk,
foreign exchange risk and other price risk. 

31 December 2012 Carrying Interest rate risk

Amount -1% +1%

$
Profit

$
Equity

$
Profit

$
Equity

$

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  315,599  (3,156)  (3,156)   3,156  3,156 
Trade and other receivables  194,334  -  -   -  - 
Borrowings  569,811  -  -   -  - 
Trade payables  3,352,937  -  -   -  - 
Other   3,288  -  -   -  - 
Total increase/(decrease)  (3,156)  (3,156)   3,156  3,156 

31 December 2011 Carrying Interest rate risk
Amount -1% +1%

$
Profit

$
Equity

$
Profit

$
Equity

$

Financial assets      
Cash and Cash Equivalents   89,400  (894)  (894)   894  894 
Trade and other receivables  292,007  -  -   -  - 
Borrowings  97,306  -  -   -  - 
Trade payables  3,061,650  -  -   -  - 
Other  3,288  -  -   -  - 
Total increase/(decrease)  (894)  (894)   894  894 

(b)    Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to 
wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Credit risk represent the loss 
that would be recognised if counterparts failed to perform as contracted. The credit risk on the Company's financial assets is 
the carrying amount shown on the statement of financial position.  

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the net result that the Company's' exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. All outstanding amount past 90 days are followed up on a monthly basis.  

The Company is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. 
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(c)    Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Company 
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, management aims at maintaining 
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available with a variety of counterparties and flexibility in payment 
terms provided by the University of Wollongong. 

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the Company, to set risk limits and control and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by internal 
audits on a continuous basis.  

Maturities of financial assets and liabilities 

Average 
Interest rate 

Variable 
interest rate Within 1 year 1 - 5 years 5+ years Non Interest Total 

2012
%

2011
%

2012
$

2011
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011 
$

2012
$

2011 
$

Financial Assets:               
Cash  4.75  4.00   310,399  84,600  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,200  4,800   315,599  89,400 
Receivables  -  -   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  194,334  292,007   194,334  292,007 
Total Financial Assets  310,399  84,600  -  -  -  -  -  -  199,534  296,807   509,933  381,407 

Financial Liabilities:               
Other  -  -   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,288  3,288   3,288  3,288 
Payables  -  -   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,352,937  3,061,650   3,352,937  3,061,650 
Borrowings  7.13  8.70   -  -  140,838  76,217  428,973  21,089  -  -  -  -   569,811  97,306 
Total Financial Liabilities  -  -  140,838  76,217  428,973  21,089  -  -  3,356,225  3,064,938   3,926,036  3,162,244 

3    Revenue 
2012 

$
2011 

$

From continuing operations    

Trading income - revenue from rendering of services  3,018,577   2,921,873 
Interest   9,146   7,906 
Rents  160,373   152,221 
Grants   -   63,000 

 3,188,096   3,145,000 

(a)    Other Income  

2012 
$

2011 
$

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment   97,935   70,040 
 97,935   70,040 



University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012 

18 

4    Expenses 

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 
2012 

$
2011 

$

Depreciation and amortisation 
Buildings  57,634   79,578 
Computer equipment  6,959   4,402 
Motor vehicles  35,355   34,377 
Other equipment  93,301   97,249 
Computer systems & software  231   2,768 
Occupancy contribution  287,299   280,364 
Leased equipment  111,669   157,615 

Total depreciation and amortisation  592,448   656,353 

Finance costs 
Interest expense and bank charges  10,476   11,076 
Finance charges on capitalised leases  13,245   36,638 

 23,721   47,714 

5    Employee related expenses 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Wages and salaries (including annual leave and long service leave expenses)   2,052,006   2,085,701 
Superannuation expense - defined contribution plans   184,917   185,464 

 2,236,923   2,271,165 

6    Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Cash at bank  310,399   84,600 
Cash on hand  5,200   4,800 

 315,599   89,400 
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7    Current assets - Trade and other receivables 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Net trade receivables    
Trade receivables   193,809   335,049 
Allowance for impairment   (12,395)   (59,752) 

 181,414   275,297 

Net other receivables    
Accrued income   12,920   16,710 

 12,920   16,710 

 194,334   292,007 

(a)    Impaired receivables 

As of 31 December 2012, trade receivables of $106,438 (2011: $193,426) were past due. 

1 to 6 months  80,539   137,759 
Over 6 months  25,899   55,667 

 106,438   193,426 

Movements in the provision for impaired receivables are as follows: 

At 1 January  (59,752)   (27,066) 
Provision for impairment recognised during the year  (12,200)   (32,686) 
Amounts written-off  59,557   - 

 (12,395)   (59,752) 

The creation and release of the provision for the impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in the income 
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash.  

8    Current assets - Other 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Prepayment  2,782   8,822 
Total current assets  2,782   8,822 
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9    N
on-current assets - Property, plant and equipm

ent 
U

nigym
 / 

unicircuit 
equipm

ent 
$

Pool 
equipm

ent
$

H
ockey 

equipm
ent

$

Plant and 
equipm

ent
$

fixtures 
and fittings

$

m
otor

vehicles 
$

Leased plant 
&

 equipm
ent

$

Sports hub 
equipm

ent
$

B
uilding 

im
provem

ents
$

C
om

puter 
equipm

ent
$

Total 
$

A
t 1 January 2011 

C
ost 

 
168,497   

109,088  
7,113  

454,098  
147,361  

193,909   
599,263  

457,165  
763,271  

29,386  
2,929,151  

A
ccum

ulated depreciation 
 

(136,485)   
(79,647)  

(1,067)  
(244,734)  

(100,105)  
(43,604)   

(387,024)  
(70,857)  

(416,322)  
(20,949)  (1,500,794)  

N
et book am

ount 
 

32,012   
29,441  

6,046  
209,364  

47,256  
150,305   

212,239  
386,308  

346,949  
8,437  

1,428,357  

Year ended 31 D
ecem

ber 2011 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
pening net book am

ount 
 

32,012   
29,441  

6,046  
209,364  

47,256  
150,305   

212,239  
386,308  

346,949  
8,437  

1,428,357  
A

dditions 
 

7,240   
-  

-  
14,240  

-  
139,629   

34,035  
-  

-  
-  

195,144  
D

isposals 
 

(17,018)   
-  

-  
-  

(29,111)  
(117,241)   

-  
-  

-  
-  

(163,370)  
D

epreciation charge 
 

(6,155)   
(6,250)  

(711)  
(32,974)  

(5,443)  
(34,377)   

(157,615)  
(45,717)  

(79,578)  
(4,401)  

(373,221) 
C

losing net book am
ount 

 
16,079   

23,191  
5,335  

190,630  
12,702  

138,316   
88,659  

340,591  
267,371  

4,036  
1,086,910  

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2011 

C
ost 

 
158,719   

109,088  
7,113  

468,338  
104,234  

167,891   
633,298  

457,165  
763,271  

29,386  
2,898,503  

A
ccum

ulated depreciation 
 

(142,640)   
(85,897)  

(1,778)  
(277,708)  

(91,532)  
(29,575)   

(544,639)  
(116,574)  

(495,900)  
(25,350)  (1,811,593)  

N
et book am

ount 
 

16,079   
23,191  

5,335  
190,630  

12,702  
138,316   

88,659  
340,591  

267,371  
4,036  

1,086,910  

Year ended 31 D
ecem

ber 2012 
O

pening net book am
ount 

 
16,079   

23,191  
5,335  

190,630  
12,702  

138,316   
88,659  

340,591  
267,371  

4,036  
1,086,910  

A
dditions 

 
19,799   

-  
-  

21,126  
-  

149,230   
617,090  

-  
5,329  

8,770  
821,344  

D
isposals 

 
(626)   

-  
-  

(972)  
-  

(123,323)   
-  

-  
-  

-  
(124,921)  

D
epreciation charge 

 
(5,681)   

(5,604)  
(711)  

(33,379)  
(2,209)  

(35,355)   
(111,669)  

(45,717)  
(57,634)  

(6,959)  
(304,918) 

C
losing net book am

ount 
 

29,571   
17,587  

4,624  
177,405  

10,493  
128,868   

594,080  
294,874  

215,066  
5,847  

1,478,415  

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2012 

C
ost 

 
50,488   

102,648  
7,113  

436,710  
103,837  

164,187   
757,648  

457,165  
768,600  

38,156  
2,886,552  

A
ccum

ulated depreciation 
 

(20,917)   
(85,061)  

(2,489)  
(259,305)  

(93,344)  
(35,319)   

(163,568)  
(162,291)  

(553,534)  
(32,309)  (1,408,137)  

N
et book am

ount 
 

29,571   
17,587  

4,624  
177,405  

10,493  
128,868   

594,080  
294,874  

215,066  
5,847  

1,478,415  
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10    Non-current assets - Occupancy contribution 
2012 

$
2011 

$

Occupancy contribution 
Opening balance  7,451,727   7,414,281 
Expenditure incurred  -   37,446 
Closing balance  7,451,727   7,451,727 

Accumulated amortisation 
Opening balance  (3,587,883)   (3,307,519) 
Amortisation for the year  (287,299)   (280,364) 
Closing balance  (3,875,182)   (3,587,883) 

Net book value of occupancy contribution  3,576,545   3,863,844 

11    Non-current assets - Intangible assets 
Computer
software 

$
Total 

$
At 1 January 2011  
Cost  44,904   44,904 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (41,905)   (41,905) 
Net book amount  2,999   2,999 

Year ended 31 December 2011 
Opening net book amount  2,999   2,999 
Additions  -   - 
Amortisation  (2,768)   (2,768) 
Closing net book amount  231   231 

At 31 December 2011 
Cost  44,904   44,904 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (44,673)   (44,673) 
Net book amount  231   231 

Year ended 31 December 2012 
Opening net book amount  231   231 
Additions  -   - 
Amortisation  (231)   (231) 
Closing net book amount  -   - 

At 31 December 2012 
Cost  44,904   44,904 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (44,904)   (44,904) 
Net book amount  -   - 
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12    Current Liabilities - Trade and other payables 
2012 

$
2011 

$
University of Wollongong - Intercompany payable (note 21)   3,181,964   2,813,627 
Other creditors  170,973   248,023 

 3,352,937   3,061,650 

13    Borrowings - Secured 

(a)    Current liabilities - Borrowings  
2012 

$
2011 

$
Finance lease liability   140,838   76,217 

The Company has access to the following facilities. 

As at 31 December 2012 the Company had access to Leasing facility of $770,000 (2011: $570,000) and business credit card 
facility of $50,000 (2011: $45,000). 

Facilities that were utilised at balance date were Leasing facility $574,016 (2011: $97,306). Business credit card facility             
$598 (2011: $7,963). 

Facilities that were not utilised at balance date were Leasing facility of $195,984 (2011: $472,694). Business credit card 
facility $49,402 (2011: $37,037). 

(b)    Non-current liabilities - Borrowings  
2012 

$
2011 

$
Finance lease liability   428,973   21,089 

14    Provisions 

(a)    Current-liabilities - Provisions 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Employee benefits - long service leave  99,279   82,905 
Annual Leave  134,092   122,040 

 233,371   204,945 

Amounts expected to be settled within the next 12 months: 

The current provision for long service leave and annual leave includes all unconditional entitilements where employees have 
completed the required period of service. The entire amount is represented as current. Based on past experience, the 
following amounts reflect leave that is expected to be settled within the next 12 months: 

Annual leave: $87,118 
Long service leave: $8,000 

(b)    Non-current liabilities - Provisions 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Employee benefits - long service leave  84,224   61,861 

 84,224   61,861 
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15    Current liabilities - Income in Advance 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Income in advance   -   2,365 

-  2,365 

16    Non-current liabilities - Other 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Unclaimed money  3,288   3,288 

 3,288   3,288 

17    Retained profits 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Opening retained earnings  1,909,799   2,661,765 
Net profit (loss) for the year  (585,755)   (751,966) 
Balance at 31 December  1,324,044   1,909,799 

18    Remuneration of Auditors 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Audit of financial statements 16,100   17,600 

19 Contingencies 

(a)   Contingent Liabilities 

There are no known contingent liabilities existing at balance date (nil at 31 December 2011). 

(b) Contingent Assets 

There are no known contingent assets existing at balance date (nil at 31 December 2011). 
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20    Commitments 

(a)    Capital expenditure commitments 

No Capital commitments at balance date (nil at 31 December 2011). 

(b)   Lease commitments 
2012 

$
2011 

$

(i) Finance lease commitments 

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows: 
Within one year  179,583   79,409 
Later than one year but not later than five years  475,370   23,105 
Later than five years  -   - 
Minimum lease payments  654,953   102,514 

Less: Future lease finance charges  (85,142)   (5,208) 
Recognised as a liability  569,811   97,306 

Representing lease liabilities: 
Current (note 13(a))  140,838   76,217 
Non-current (note 13(b))  428,973   21,089 

 569,811   97,306 

(ii) Operating lease commitments 

There are no operating lease commitments. 

(c)   Lease commitments: where the Company is the lessor 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

2012 
$

2011 
$

No later than 1 year  55,000   55,000 
Between 1 year and 5 years  123,750   178,750 
Total minimum lease payments  178,750   233,750 
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21    Related party transactions 

(a)    Directors 

The names of each person holding the position of director of University of Wollongong Recreation & Aquatic Centre Limited 
during the financial year are:  

Cheryl Batteard, Canio Fierravanti, Diane Harland, Prof Don Iverson, Michael Kelly, Paul Manning, Peter Maywald, Prof 
John Patterson, Murray Reid and Dr Paul Webb.  

Cheryl Batteard resigned from the Board on 16th May, 2012.  

(b)    Ultimate controlling entity 

The ultimate controlling entity of the Company is the University of Wollongong.  

(c)    Non-director related parties 

The classes of non-director related parties are: 
 controlling entity of the Company: and 
 commonly controlled entities 

(d)    Controlling entity disclosures - University of Wollongong 

Other transactions with the controlling entity:
2012 

$
2011 

$

   
 Sales  830,763   368,632 
 Grants for specific purposes   -   - 

830,763   368,632 

 Goods and services   760,526   712,017 
760,526   712,017 

Balances with the controlling entity:

 Receivables  29,094   46,365 
29,094   46,365 

 Intercompany balance  3,181,964   2,813,627 
 Payables  75,019   118,217 

 3,256,983   2,931,844 

From time to time, the Company may enter into transactions with the ultimate controlling entity. These transactions are on 
the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the Company's customers or suppliers.  

The main transactions that occur between the Company and the ultimate controlling entity are sales of memberships and 
payment for utilities and maintenance.  

(e)    Other related parties 

The Company enters into transactions with other entities controlled by the University of Wollongong: Wollongong Unicentre 
Ltd and ITC Ltd. No material transactions which were outside the company's normal operating activities were entered into for 
the year ended 31 December 2012. 
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22    Economic dependency 

The Company's trading activities do not depend upon a major customer or supplier. However, the Company is economically 
dependent upon the continued existence of the operating and financial arrangements it has with the University of 
Wollongong. These include: 
 Free use of buildings and land used for sporting facilities 
 Short term cash flow relief for payments made on the Company's behalf.  

23    Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities 
2012 

$
2011 

$
Surplus/(deficit) after income tax  (585,755)   (751,966) 
Depreciation and amortisation  592,448   656,353 
Net (gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets  (97,935)   (70,040) 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  97,673   369,260 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  6,040   (1,641) 

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  (2,365)   (1,570) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors  291,287   (102,507) 
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions  50,789   65,664 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 352,182   163,553 

24    Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transactions or
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the 
operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial 
years.  

End of audited financial statements. 
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